
    Special Called Chester County Transportation Meeting March 21st, 2022  

      SPECIAL CALLED 
 CHESTER COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE MEETING 

 Monday, March 21st, 2022 at 5:50 PM 
R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex

 1476 J A Cochran Bypass, Council Chambers 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Minutes
a. January 20th, 2022 Special Called CCTC Minutes.
b. January 4th, 2022 CCTC minutes.

3. Old Business

a. Corrections for reimbursements from the Road Department for account (100-401-5225).
1. November 15, 2021: Add $180.93 for 1 cent sales tax that was not included in the

total.

2. January 4, 2022:  Deduct $275.07 that was overcharged in error.

4. New Business

a. Request to reimburse the Road Department for County Road maintenance from
December 07, 2021 to March 2, 2022 in the amount of $19,996.53.

b. Council to consider accepting Georgetown Road in the County Road System. Attorney Winters.

5. Adjourn



 Special Called Chester County Transportation Meeting January 20th, 2022  

      SPECIAL CALLED 
 CHESTER COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE MEETING 

       Thursday, January 20th, 2022 at 2:00 PM 
R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex

 1476 J A Cochran Bypass, Council Chambers 

 MINUTES 

Present: Councilman Brad Jordan, Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilwoman Mary Guy, Councilman Pete Wilson, 
  County Attorney Joanie Winters and Clerk to Council Karen Lee.

Absent: Interim Chairman Wylie Frederick, Vice Chairman Joe Branham and Councilman William Killian with prior 
  notification. 

1. Call to Order-Attorney Winters called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm.

2. New Business

a. Approval of bid for C-Fund to Lynches River Contracting in the amount of $ 1,274,964.22 CTC 2022
Paving Program. -Susan Cok.
Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 4-0 to approve.

3. Adjourn
Councilman Vaughn motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 4-0 to adjourn.



Chester County Transportation Committee Meeting   1 

  CHESTER COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
  Tuesday, January 4th, 2022 at 5:15 PM 

R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex
 1476 J A Cochran Bypass, Council Chambers 

  MINUTES 

Present: Interim Chairman Dr. Wylie Frederick, Vice Chairman Joe Branham, Councilman William Killian. 
Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilman Pete Wilson, Clerk to Council Karen Lee and County Attorney Joanie 
Winters. Absent: Councilman Brad Jordan with prior notification.  

1. Call to Order-Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick called the meeting to order.

2. Approval of minutes

a. Approval of November 15, 2021 Special Called CTC minutes.
Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to
approve.

3. Old Business -None

4. New Business

a. Approval of bid for C-Fund to Lynches River Contracting in the amount of $ 605,742.40 to
resurface Minter Road and part of Pilgrim Road.  Bill Coleman.
Mr. Coleman stated they would resurface 2.5 miles on the eastern side of Pilgrim Road and
would resurface all of Minter Road. It should be completed by September or October.
Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 5-0 to approve.

b. Updates on 2021 CTC programs. Bill Coleman.
Mr. Coleman stated Shirley Road was complete, waiting on SCDOT to accept it.  On the county roads
there was a shortage of cement the past year.  They did not finish all the roads, currently they still
have to complete JBass, Crow’s Nest and Debruhl but should be done in the spring. The cement
crews couldn’t get the work done on those roads not only in Chester but everywhere. Caldwell,
Bernice Lane, Landfill Road, Murdock, Southpaw and Coldstream was completed. They also put in
pipe work on Chestnut and Old Richburg Road, and some emergency work on Bobcat.

c. Discussion regarding installing a sidewalk on the north side of Hwy 9 from Crenshaw Parkway to
Edgeland Road. – Fred Castles.
Mr. Castles stated the scope of this project was to construct 3200 feet long by 4-foot-wide concrete
sidewalk from Crenshaw Parkway extending east to Bojangles.  A pedestrian crossing would be across
the north bound bridge of highway nine along with some guardrail and pedestrian fencing.  He stated
the purpose for installing a new sidewalk was to provide safe passage for motel guests who walk to
restaurants and for shopping. They received permission from the County to have ICE work on a cost
estimate to what it would cost to design, engineer and build the sidewalk which came to around
$539,000. That was done in August, SCDOT has a program called Guide share which is federal money
that’s provided to the State. It can be administered through Catawba Regional which would not
charge an administrative fee to the county. If this is approved by the CTC and added to the States
project plan Chester County Transportation would not have to pay any money towards the project.
All of the fees would come from SCDOT. He had spoken to Steve Allen from Catawba Regional who
would be in charge of this if approved. The County would need to turn in the information from the



Chester County Transportation Committee Meeting   2 

packets over to him so he could start the process. The money has to be applied for which is statewide 
and must meet the states criteria. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to use the SCDOT guide share 
fund if received, second by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

d. Discussion regarding pedestrian traffic on Highway 9 at the Gayle. Councilman Wilson.
Councilman Wilson stated this area has a lot of pedestrian traffic, which could be seen on the pictures
the worn path going over the dirt on top of the bridge after the sidewalk ends.  The area has
four lanes and a lot of traffic that moves very fast, there isn’t any curbing where the pavement ends,
and the grass begins along with a guardrail. He wanted to make Council aware of this if there was
be a future opportunity to make this safer. Taken as information.

e. Discussion regarding the project development processes for SCDOT-managed “C” projects.
Mr. Coleman stated the document had not changed and nothing new in it, memorandums that
had been put out over the years encompassing all the information SCDOT decided to put it into
one document. Taken as information.

f. Discussion of bridge repair/replacement on Ross Dye and Mountain Gap Road. - Councilman
Vaughn. Councilman Vaughn stated both the bridges had been out for some time. He had
received a ton of calls from citizens. He reached out to SCDOT who told him it would be two years
from now to be repaired. Since the bridge is out on Mountain Gap, William Martin Road is being
used a detour, so the road is now turning into a dirt road because of the high volume of more traffic.
EMS told him since the bridge has been out on Ross Dye Road that was causing them to take longer
detours to reach patients. He had reached out to Senator Fanning and Representative Ligon about
this but did not get much encouragement from either of the conversations.

Attorney Winters suggested the Chairman reaching out to SCDOT on behalf of Council to send a letter 
to request a meeting with Mr. Bill Coleman in attendance. Councilman Vaughn motioned to authorize 
Dr. Frederick to communicate with SCDOT to arrange a meeting with them to discuss expediting the 
repair on the bridges, second by Councilman Wilson. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

g. Request to reimburse the Road Department for road maintenance from September 29th 2021,
to December 3rd, 2021, in the amount of $ 20,133.05 dollars. Councilman Vaughn motioned to
approve, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 5-0 to approve.

h. Election of CTC Chairman and CTC Vice Chairman.

Vice Chairman Branham nominated Dr. Frederick for CTC Chairman, second by Councilman

Vaughn.  Nomination for Vice Chairman: Councilman Vaughn nominated Joe Branham for Vice

Chair.  Vote 5-0 to approve.

5. Adjourn-Councilwoman Guy motioned to adjourn, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to
adjourn.

 Time: 6.02 pm. 



Chester County, South Carolina 
Roads Department 
Post Office Drawer 5 80 

Chester, SC 29706 

March 7, 2022 

To: Chester County Transportation Committee 

From: Chester County Road Department 

Re: Corrections to the 11/15/2021 and 01/04/2022 Reimbursements 

Dear CCTC Members, 

Please correct the reimbursements for the following account (100-401-5225) for County roads 
maintenance materials for the periods listed below: 

November 15, 2021: Total amount reimbursed was $18,093.28. Please add $180.93 for the 1 cent 
sales tax that was omitted from the total. The total reimbursement should have been $18,274.21. 

January 4, 2022: Total amount of reimbursement was $20,133.05. Please deduct $275.07 for 
error in reporting. Total amount should have been $19,857.98. 

Regards, 

1<.[ivfr:Jlf ,t-�
Roads Department Supervisor 



Chester County, South Carolina 
Roads Department 
Post Office Drawer 580 
Chester, SC 29706 

March 11, 2022 

To: Chester County Transportation Committee 

From: Chester County Road Department 

Re: Reimbursement for Road Materials for Chester County Roads 

Dear CCTC Members, 

Please reimburse the following account (100-401-5225) for County Roads maintenance materials 
purchased from December 07, 2021 to March 2, 2022 in the amount of$19,996.53 

Regards, 

Roads Department Supervisor 



CFunds Reimbursement from December 7, 2021 to March 2, 2022 

...:: 
$18,515.30 $1,296.08 $185.15 $19,996.53 

"";::, -
GRAND TOTAL 1,107.410 

� 

I i 
Ii 1 Cent Sales Ii 

District Ticket No. Road Date Tons Sub-Total 7%Tax Tax Paid to SC Invoice Amount 

4 627049218 Bottomline Dr 12/7/2021 15.790 $244.75 $17.13 $2.45 $26L88 

4 627049242 Bottomline Dr 12/7/2021 15.960 $247.38 $17.32 $2.47 $264.70 

4 627049493 Top ofThe Hill Dr 12/9/2021 16.400 $254.20 $17.79 $2.54 $271.99 

4 627049515 Turnbuckle Rd 12/9/2021 17.450 $270.48 $18.93 $2.70 $289.42 

4 627049870 Turnbuckle Rd 12/15/2021 15.770 $244.44 $17.11 $2.44 $261.55 

4 627049888 Turnbuckle Rd 12/15/2021 14.610 $226.46 $15.85 $2.26 $242.32 

4 627050098 Powell Dr 12/16/2021 15.950 $247.23 $17.31 $2.47 $264.54 

4 627050178 Powell Dr 12/17/2021 16.130 $250.02 $17.50 $2.50 $267.52 

5 627050400 Hopps Rd 12/21/2021 14.610 $226.46 $15.85 $2.26 $242.31 

5 627050444 Hopps Rd 12/21/2021 16.200 $251.10 $17.58 $2.51 $268.68 

5 627050523 Hopps Rd 12/22/2021 16.420 $254.51 $17.82 $2.55 $272.33 

5 627050551 Hopps Rd 12/22/2021 16.150 $250.33 $17.52 $2.50 $267.85 

3 627050567 landfill Rd 12/22/2021 15.700 $243.35 $17.03 $2.43 $260.38 

2 627051361 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 16.080 $273.36 $19.14 $2.73 $292.50 

2 627051362 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 15.300 $260.10 $18.21 $2.60 $278.31 

2 627051385 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 16.070 $273.19 $19.12 $2.73 $292.31 

2 627051386 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 15.800 $268.60 $18.80 $2.69 $287.40 

2 627051411 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 16.430 $279.31 $19.55 $2.79 $298.86 

2 627051412 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 14.860 $252.62 $17.68 $2.53 $270.30 

2 627051439 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 15.800 $268.60 $18.80 $2.69 $287.40 

2 627051440 Tate Rd 1/7/2022 15.100 $256.70 $17.97 $2.57 $274.67 

3 627051791 McDaniel Rd 1/12/2022 15.190 $258.23 $18.08 $2.58 $276.31 

3 627051820 McDaniel Rd 1/12/2022 16.620 $282.54 $19.78 $2.83 $302.32 

3 627051845 McDaniel Rd 1/12/2022 14.600 $248.20 $17.37 $2.48 $265.57 

3 627051883 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 13.770 $234.09 $16.39 $2.34 $250.48 

3 627051895 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 14.940 $253.98 $17.78 $2.54 $271.76 

3 627051897 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 15.640 $265.88 $18.61 $2.66 $284.49 

3 627051912 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 14.920 $253.64 $17.75 $2.54 $271.39 

3 627051913 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 16.070 $273.19 $19.12 $2.73 $292.31 

3 627051932 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 16.540 $281.18 $19.68 $2.81 $300.86 

3 627051933 McDaniel Rd 1/13/2022 13.670 $232.39 $16.27 $2.32 $248.66 

5 627052036 Sid Davis Ext. Rd 1/14/2022 14.980 $254.66 $17.83 $2.55 $272.49 

5 627052057 Sid Davis Ext. Rd 1/14/2022 15.130 $257.21 $18.00 $2.57 $275.21 

1 3/11/2022 



CFunds Reimbursement from December 7, 2021 to March 2, 2022 

-- - - - -

GRAND TOTAL 1,107.410 $18,515.30 $1,296.08 $185.15 $19,996.53 
-

: I I 1 Cent Sales 

District Ticket No. Road Date Tons Sub-Total 7%Tax Tax Paid to SC Invoice Amount 

5 627052078 Sid Davis Ext. Rd 1/14/2022 15.650 $266.05 $18.62 $2.66 $284.67 

5 627052775 Office Stock - Armory Rd 1/26/2022 14.560 $247.52 $17.33 $2.48 $264.85 

5 627052783 Office Stock - Armory Rd 1/26/2022 15.060 $256.02 $17.92 $2.56 $273.94 

5 627052795 Woods Rd 1/26/2022 15.670 $266.39 $18.65 $2.66 $285.04 

5 627052813 Woods Rd 1/26/2022 15.840 $269.28 $18.85 $2.69 $288.13 

5 627052828 Woods Rd 1/26/2022 16.730 $284.41 $19.91 $2.84 $304.32 

5 627052842 Woods Rd 1/26/2022 16.000 $272.00 $19.04 $2.72 $291.04 

5 627052853 Woods Rd 1/26/2022 15.860 $269.62 $18.87 $2.70 $288.49 

3 627052923 Cheyenne Dr 1/27/2022 15.150 $257.55 $18.03 $2.58 $275.58 

3 627052924 Cheyenne Dr 1/27/2022 15.450 $262.65 $18.39 $2.63 $281.04 

3 627052946 Cheyenne Dr 1/27/2022 15.680 $266.56 $18.66 $2.67 $285.22 

3 627052947 Cheyenne Dr 1/27/2022 15.510 $263.67 $18.46 $2.64 $282.13 

3 627052974 G&J Dr 1/27/2022 16.090 $273.53 $19.15 $2.74 $292.68 

3 627052975 G&J Dr 1/27/2022 16.520 $280.84 $19.66 $2.81 $300.50 

3 627053001 G&J Dr 1/27/2022 16.210 $275.57 $19.29 $2.76 $294.86 

3 627053002 G&J Dr 1/27/2022 15.950 $271.15 $18.98 $2.71 $290.13 

1 627053615 Raxter Rd 2/2/2022 14.480 $246.16 $17.23 $2.46 $263.39 

1 627053759 Raxter Rd 2/3/2022 14.860 $252.62 $17.68 $2.53 $270.30 

2 627054934 Bovine Rd 2/16/2022 15.240 $259.08 $18.14 $2.59 $277.22 

5 627055767 Angel Rd 2/23/2022 15.720 $267.24 $18.71 $2.67 $285.95 

5 627055771 Angel Rd 2/23/2022 15.840 $269.28 $18.85 $2.69 $288.13 

5 627055784 Angel Rd 2/23/2022 13.760 $233.92 $16.37 $2.34 $250.29 

2 627055883 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 14.750 $250.75 $17.55 $2.51 $268.30 

2 627055884 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 16.210 $275.57 $19.29 $2.76 $294.86 

2 627055913 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 15.340 $260.78 $18.25 $2.61 $279.03 

2 627055914 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 14.830 $252.11 $17.65 $2.52 $269.76 

2 627055934 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 16.390 $278.63 $19.50 $2.79 $298.13 

2 627055935 Bovine Rd 2/24/2022 16.050 $272.85 $19.10 $2.73 $291.95 

4 627055998 Duckwood Dr 2/25/2022 16.830 $286.11 $20.03 $2.86 $306.14 

4 627056025 Duckwood Or 2/25/2022 16.180 $275.06 $19.25 $2.75 $294.31 

4 627056061 Breezy Acres Rd 2/25/2022 15.840 $269.28 $18.85 $2.69 $288.13 

4 627056096 Breezy Acres Rd 2/25/2022 16.550 $281.35 $19.69 $2.81 $301.04 

5 627056115 Watson Ln 2/25/2022 16.420 $279.14 $19.54 $2.79 $298.68 

2 3/11/2022 



CFunds Reimbursement from December 7, 2021 to March 2, 2022 

- � � 

GRAND TOTAL 1,107.410 $18,515.30 $1,296.08 $185.15 $19,996.53 
,_ -

I� 
I 1 Cent Sales 

District Ticket No. Road Date Tons Sub-Total 7 %Tax Tax Paid to SC Invoice Amount 

5 627056123 Watson Ln 2/25/2022 16.680 $283.56 $19.85 $2.84 $303.41 

5 627056343 Watson Ln 3/1/2022 15.070 $256.19 $17.93 $2.56 $274.12 

5 627056350 Watson Ln 3/1/2022 13.750 $233.75 $16.36 $2.34 $250.11 

2 627056544 Cripple Creek Rd 3/2/2022 14.770 $251.09 $17.58 $2.51 $268.67 

2 627056587 Cripple Creek Rd 3/2/2022 15.270 $259.59 $18.17 $2.60 $277.76 

3 3/11/2022 



Chester County Council Meeting March 21st, 2022  1 

  CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 

R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex
 1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 

 Monday, March 21st, 2022 at 6:00 PM  

 Agenda 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation

3. Approval of Minutes
a. Council Minutes for March 7th, 2022.

4. Citizen Comments

5. Public Hearing
a. 3rd Reading of 2021-15 An ordinance to approve the execution and delivery of a development

agreement between the County and Project Cheswick/Stanton and other related matters.

b. 3rd Reading of 2021-23 An ordinance To Adopt The Utility Development Agreement Regarding

Construction, Financing And Ownership Of Wastewater Collection, Treatment And Discharge

Facilities.

6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations

a. Proclamation to Honor and Commend John Agee of Richburg’s Fire Department.

b. Proclamation to Honor and Commend ASO of the Chester County Sheriff Office.

c. Resolution to provide for the gifting of a service weapon to Shawn Campbell.

d. 3rd Reading of 2021-15 An ordinance to approve the execution and delivery of a
development agreement between the County and Project Cheswick/Stanton and other related
matters.

e. 3rd Reading of 2021-23 An Ordinance To Adopt The Utility Development Agreement
Regarding Construction, Financing And Ownership Of Wastewater Collection, Treatment And
Discharge Facilities.

f. 2nd Reading of 2022-3 Ordinance Authorizing, Pursuant To Title 12, Chapter 44, And Title
4, Chapter 1 Of The Code Of Laws Of South Carolina 1976, As Amended, The Execution
And Delivery Of A Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes And Special Source Credit Agreement By
And Between Chester County, South Carolina, And Last Step Recycling, LLC, Acting For Itself,
One Or More Current Or Future Affiliates And Other Project Companies (Collectively,
“Company”); Providing For A Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes Incentives; Modifying A Joint
County Industrial And Business Park Of Chester And York Counties So As To Enlarge The Park;
The Provision Of Special Source Revenue Credits; And Other Related Matters.



Chester County Council Meeting March 21st, 2022  2 

g. 2nd Reading of 2022-4. An Ordinance To Increase Adoption Fees for Chester County Animal Control.

h. 1st Reading in Title Only An Ordinance to end the moratorium and to amend certain sections of the
Chester County Land Development.

7. Old Business
a. Discussion to extend or remove the suspension of certain rules of procedure relating to electronic

attendance at Council meetings. - County Council.

b. FROM CCTC 3-21-2022
1. Action taken regarding County Road Department reimbursements/deductions adding $180.93

from the November 15, 2021 meeting and deducting $275.07 from the January 4, 2022
meeting.

2. Action taken to reimburse the Road Department for County Road maintenance from December 7th

2021 to March 2nd, 2022 in the amount of $19,996.53 dollars.

3. Action taken regarding accepting Georgetown Road to the County Road System.

8. New Business
a. Council to consider allowing EMA to use existing unused grant match funds in the amount of $31,000 for

other EMA projects. EMA Director Ed Darby.

b. 1st Reading of CCMA22-01 Alexander Ricks PLLC – Collin Brown for Applicant:  MacKenzie Investment
Group LLC request Tax Map #: 115-00-00-017-000 on Lancaster Highway, Chester SC to be rezoned
from General Commercial (GC) to Limited Industrial (ID-2). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

c. Discuss the Richburg Fire District Study- Councilman Jordan.

9. Boards and Commissions

a. Appointment to the Gateway Steering Committee-County Council.

10. Executive Session

a. To receive legal advice regarding project 21100. Attorney Winters.

b. To receive legal advice regarding personnel matter on Administrator. Attorney Winters.

c. To receive legal advice regarding the Library Board. Attorney Winters.

d. To receive legal advice regarding American Rescue Plan payment. Attorney Winters.

e. To receive legal advice regarding the Detention Center. Attorney Winters.

11. Council Actions Following Executive Session

a. Action taken regarding legal advice for project 21100.

b. Action taken regarding legal advice for personnel matter on Administrator.

c. Action taken regarding legal advice of the Library Board.

d. Action taken regarding legal advice of the American Rescue Plan payment.

e. Action taken regarding legal advice of the Detention Center.



Chester County Council Meeting March 21st, 2022  3 

12. Council Comments

13. Adjourn

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing 
Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester 
County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

     * * * P U B L I C  N O T I C E * * *    

Chester County Council has relaxed some of the COVID measures put into place for personal appearances at County Council meetings but continues to encourage 
social distancing while in County facilities. 

Guidelines for Addressing Council 

     Citizens Comments: Each citizen will be limited to three minutes 

Public Hearings:  Each citizen will be limited to three minutes 

When introduced: Approach the podium, state your name and address 
Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is not obstructed 
Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council 
Do not approach the Council table unless directed 

Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you: 
Use profanity 
Stray from the subject 
Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council        



   Chester County Council Minutes March 7th, 2022   1 

CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex
 1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
       Monday, March 7th, 2022 at 6:00 PM   

Present:   Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick, Vice Chairman Branham, Councilman Jordan, 
Councilwoman Guy, Councilman Killian, Councilman Vaughn, Councilman Wilson, County 
Attorney Winters, and Clerk to Council Lee.  

1. Call to Order-Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick called the meeting to order.

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation- Pledge was recited in unison; Councilwoman
Guy gave the invocation.

3. Approval of Minutes
a. 2-17-2022 Special Called Council Minutes.

Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilman Wilson. Vote 4-0 to
approve. Vice Chairman Branham and Councilman Killian was not present for the 2-
17-2022 meeting and didn’t vote.

b. 2-22-2022 Council Minutes.
Councilman Jordan motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-
0 to approve.  Councilman Wilson was not present for the 2-22-2022 meeting and
didn’t vote.

c. 2-24-2022 Special Called Council Minutes.
Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilman Wilson. Vote was 5-
0 to approve. Councilman Killian was not present for the 2-24-2022 meeting and didn’t
vote.

   Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick called for a motion to amend 6.d. on the agenda to  
  correct the title to read: An ordinance to increase adoption fees for animal control.  
  Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve the title change, second by Councilman 
 Jordan. Vote 6-0 to approve.  

4. Citizen Comments- No one signed up to speak.

5. Public Hearing
a. 2nd Reading of 2021-15 An Ordinance To Approve The Execution And Delivery Of A

Development Agreement Between The County And Project Cheswick/Stanton And
Other Related Matters.
Judson Stringfellow, 3515 Dovewood Drive, Charlotte, NC stated there were a few
updates, after consulting with L & C Land Holdings they shifted the proposed
entrance road down a few feet which would possibly allow them to align with a future
entrance to their industrial zoned properties. Also, they already have interest for
commercial property along the road. He stated they had increased the size of the
land donation they were giving to the County on Wylie’s Mill Road for future public
service and increased the amount of open space area in the single-family section.



   Chester County Council Minutes March 7th, 2022   2 

  Dan Ballou, 417 Windsor Terrace, Rock Hill stated he was the attorney for the    

  landowner, the development agreement was a product of the work with the  

 attorneys for the county. They tried to keep it as simple and straightforward as 

  possible, and the agreement was modeled after the development agreement  

  approved by council. 

6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations

a. 2nd Reading of 2021-15 An Ordinance to Approve the Execution And Delivery Of A
Development Agreement Between The County And Project Cheswick/Stanton And
Related Matters. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilman
Killian. Councilman Jordan asked if designated future commercial development
property was included. Attorney Ballou stated it was adjacent property that was not
included in the rezoning process but would be an adjunct to the development. Vote
6-0 to approve.

b. 2022-4 Resolution Providing Preliminary Approval For Certain Incentives To Induce
Last Step  Recycling, LLC, Acting For Itself, One Or More Current Or Future Affiliates
And Other project Sponsors (Collectively, “Company”), To Establish Or Expand
Certain Facilities In Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), Including (1) A
Negotiated Fee In Lieu Of Ad Valorem Tax Arrangement; (2) Certain Special Source
Credits To Be Applied Against Fees In Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes; (3) Inclusion Of The
Project Site In A Multi-County Industrial Or Business Park; And (4) Other Related
Matters. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman
Guy.  Bond Attorney Michael Kozlarek stated there was a typo in the millage rate it
should be .4884 instead of 0.4893. The inducement resolution induces a project to
locate in the county which is part of economic development process. Last Step
Recycling was a forty-two million taxable investment, there company is an
automotive shredder recycling facility.

  Councilman Wilson asked if the incentive agreement was in the same terms. 

  Attorney Kozlarek stated to his understanding it was.  

 Councilman Vaughn asked about the split fee.  

 Attorney Kozlarek stated there was nothing in the resolution or ordinance that  

 would change whatever the general split was for the county.  Councilwoman Guy  

 withdrew her second, Vice Chairman Branham withdrew his motion. Vice Chairman  

 Branham motioned to approve with the change in the millage rate to  .4884, second 

 by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 6-0 to approve.  

c. 1st Reading of 2022-3 Ordinance Authorizing, Pursuant To Title 12, Chapter 44, And
Title 4,  Chapter 1 Of The Code Of Laws Of South Carolina 1976, As Amended, The
Execution And Delivery Of A Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes And Special Source
Credit Agreement By And Between Chester County, South Carolina, And Last Step
Recycling, LLC, Acting For Itself, One Or More Current Or Future Affiliates And Other
Project Companies (Collectively, “Company”); Providing For A Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad
Valorem Taxes Incentives; Modifying A Joint County Industrial And Business Park Of
Chester And York Counties So As To Enlarge The Park; The Provision Of Special Source



   Chester County Council Minutes March 7th, 2022   3 

Revenue Credits; And Other Related Matters.  
Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 6-
0 to approve.   

d. Ordinance title changed from 1st Reading of 2022-4 An Ordinance To Amend the
Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-4 The 2021-2022 Chester County Budget
Ordinance, In Certain Limited Particulars Only. (Animal Control) to 1st Reading of
2022-4 An Ordinance to Increase Adoption Fees for Animal Control. Vice Chairman
Branham motioned to approve, second by Councilman Jordan. Councilman Wilson
asked how this would affect the adoption process, could it negatively impact it or had
that been considered. Interim Dr. Frederick stated he would check and let Council
know. Vote 6-0 to approve.

e. 2022-3 A Resolution to Authorize The County Of Chester, By Chester County

Council, To Sell Certain Vehicles Of The Sheriff’s Office & Public Works Identified

Herein Upon Such Terms And Conditions As Described. Councilman Jordan

motioned to approve with the caveat the funds go into a special account for new

vehicles, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 6-0 to approve.

7. Old Business-None

8. New Business
a. Council to authorize the approval of $2500 grant from Project Safe Pet Matching for

spay & neuter with a 50% match. -Animal Control Director Kelli Simoneau.
Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 6-0 to
approve.

b. Approval of bond for Knightsbridge development. Attorney Winters.
Attorney Winters stated the bond was for LGI homes, our ordinance requires a
performance bond for developments. These bonds protect the County should the
developer decide midstream to abandon the project. Councilman Vaughn motioned
to approve, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 6-0 to approve.

9. Boards and Commissions- None

10. Executive Session
Councilwoman Guy motioned to go into executive session, second by Vice Chairman
Branham. Vote 6-0 to approve.
a. Receive legal advice regarding project 2220. – Attorney Winters.
b. Receive legal advice regarding rebranding marketing. Attorney Winters.

c. Receive legal advice regarding the Landfill. -Attorney Winters.

d. Receive legal advice regarding changing County Government. – Attorney Winters.

e. Receive legal advice on a personnel matter regarding Administrative. –

Attorney Winters.

f. Receive legal update on existing County litigation. Councilman Wilson.

g. Receive legal update on hiring for County positions. Councilman Wilson.

11. Council Actions Following Executive Session
Vice Chairman Branham motioned to go back to regular session, second by Councilman
Killian. Vote 6-0 to approve.



   Chester County Council Minutes March 7th, 2022   4 

a. Action taken regarding legal advice for project 2220. Taken as Information only.

b. Action taken regarding legal advice for rebranding marketing.
Councilman Vaughn motioned to authorize Economic Development to use up to
$35,000 dollars in funds and to enter into a match agreement with CDA for an
additional $35,000 for the purchase of rebranding the County, second by Councilman
Killian. Vote 6-0 to approve.

c. Action taken regarding legal advice on the Landfill. Taken as Information only.

d. Action taken regarding legal advice on changing County Government.
Taken as Information only.

e. Action taken regarding legal advice on a personnel matter on Administrative.
Taken as Information only.

f. Action taken regarding a legal update on existing County litigation.
Taken as Information only.

g. Action taken regarding a legal update of the hiring of County positions.
Taken as Information only.

12. Council Comments
Vice Chairman Branham recognized John Robert Taylor for his service to the
community and a lifelong firefighter that passed.

Councilman Vaughn recognized Abby Brunson who was a tireless volunteer for
Chester County that passed also.

13. Adjourn
Councilwoman Guy motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Killian. Vote 6-0
to adjourn.

Time:    8:15 PM 

Karen Lee, Clerk to Council 

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, 
Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and 
Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester County Government 
Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 



A PROCLAMATION 
TO HONOR THE SERVICE OF CHIEF JOHN AGEE 

Chester County does hereby recognize Chief John Agee for over forty years of continuous 
service to the Chester County community.  Chief Agee has been formidable in his support and 
efforts to the Fire District.  The laurels and accomplishments of Chief Agee are long and 
distinguished, and are certainly too numerous to list in a proclamation.  County Council wishes 
to point out a few: 

Chief Agee became the Fire Chief for the Town of Richburg in 2004, continuing his 
service until his recent retirement on December 14, 2021. 

Chief Agee convinced Chester County Council to allow him to have the Eckman Study 
conducted and to implement many of these improvements recommended by the study: 

• The Fire District added a badly needed Rescue Truck

• A new Fire Station was constructed in 2012 to prepare the District for the future

• A new Sub-Station was built to help lower the ISO for more of the Fire District

• Chief Agee became the first full-time firefighter for the Fire District

• Fire Flow capabilities were expanded to the Peden Bridge Road area by acquiring
and installing a 30,000 gallon underground water tank at no cost to the
surrounding areas

Chief Agee was instrumental in lowering the ISO from a Class 9 to a Class 4 

Chief Agee led a movement to start a first responder program that has grown to full 
service 

NOW, THEREFORE Chester County Council proudly recognizes the commitment, tenacity and 
service of Chief John Agee to the Town of Richburg and to Chester County.   

DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this 21st day of March 2022. 

CHESTER COUNTY 

______________________________  
Dr. Wylie Frederick   
Chester County Interim Supervisor  

ATTEST: 
____________________________________ 
Karen Lee, Clerk to Chester County Council 



A PROCLAMATION 

TO HONOR THE SERVICE OF K-9 SHERIFF’S DEPUTY ASO  OF 
THE CHESTER COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Chester County and the Chester County Sheriff’s Office does hereby recognize K-9 Sheriff’s 
Deputy Aso for seven years of dedicated and heroic service to the Chester County community. 

Aso was born on June 18, 2013, and was brought to the Sheriff’s Office in July 2014 to work 
with Narcotics Corporal David Ford.  Corporal Ford and K-9 Sheriff’s Deputy Aso began their K-9 
training on October 27, 2014, graduating on March 27, 2015, and then began their career 
working together.   

Throughout his time with the Sheriff’s Office, K-9 Sheriff’s Deputy Aso and Corporal Ford 
worked on numerous captures of criminals.  Aso’s service record speaks for itself, showing an 
exemplary Deputy, and bonding closely with his partner, Corporal Ford.   

Officer Aso has now retired from service to the community but is enjoying being able to relax, 
spend quality family time with Corporal Ford, and be a couch dog.  He will be greatly missed by 
all who were grateful to be a part of Aso’s wolfpack, but in particular by Corporal Ford who 
claims to have simply been just the “heavy end of the lead”.    

NOW, THEREFORE Chester County Council and the Chester County Sheriff’s Office, proudly 
recognizes the bravery and heroism of K-9 Officer Aso, and honor and thank him  for his service 
and commitment to public safety and law enforcement for the citizens of Chester County. 

DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this 21st day of March 2022. 

CHESTER COUNTY CHESTER COUNTY SHERIFF 



______________________________  ______________________________ 
Dr. Wylie Frederick   Sheriff Donald “Max” Dorsey 
Chester County Interim Supervisor  Chester County Sheriff 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
Karen Lee, Clerk to Chester County Council 



Resolution 2022-5 

A RESOLUTION TO GIFT THE SERVICE WEAPON TO SHAWN CAMPBELL 

WHEREAS, Chester County is grateful for the service given by Sergeant Shawn Campbell for his 
twelve years of service to the Chester County Sheriff’s Office; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with South Carolina Code of Laws §23-1-255 and Chester County 
Ordinance 11-16-098, upon retirement, state law enforcement officers may retain their 
commissions in retired status with all rights and privileges, including the right to retain their 
service weapons issued while serving in active duty status provided certain requirements are 
met; and 

WHEREAS, for retiring officers with service of less than fifteen years, officers must contribute 
one-half of the replacement cost of the weapon; and 

WHEREAS, the service weapon used by Sergeant Shawn Campbell during his career with the 
Chester County Sheriff’s Office was a Glock 23, .40 caliber, Serial number XKK573, with a 
current replacement cost of $441.72. 

THEREFORE, the Chester County Council does hereby resolve to allow Sergeant Shawn 
Campbell to retain the weapon used by Sergeant Shawn Campbell during his career with the 
Chester County Sheriff’s Office in exchange for a payment of $220.86, and provided he 
completes the requisite documentation for the transfer of this weapon.   

DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ___ day of March___, 2022. 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF CHESTER COUNTY 

_________________________________________.
Dr. Wylie Frederick
Interim County Supervisor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council of Chester County 



CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

APPROVING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY AND 
JDSI, LLC PROJECT STANTON (FORMERLY KNOWN AS 
CHESWICK); AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, according to the provisions of the South Carolina Local Government Development 
Agreement Act, codified in South Carolina Code Annotated section 6-31-10, et seq. (collectively, “Act”), 
and Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Development Agreement Ordinance”), the Chester County 
Council (“County Council”), as the governing body of Chester County, South Carolina (“County”) is 
authorized to enter into development agreements to provide for the County’s development; 

WHEREAS, the County adopts and incorporates by reference as if fully stated herein in their entirety 
the County’s findings from the Development Agreement Ordinance; 

WHEREAS, the County Planning Director has reviewed the proposed development agreement for the 
referenced project (“Development Agreement”), the substantially final form of which is attached to this 
Ordinance as Exhibit A, and which is incorporate herein by reference as if fully stated herein in its entirety 
and has confirmed to the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Findings. The County hereby adopts and incorporates the findings 
contained in the “WHEREAS” clauses above. 

Section 2. Development Agreement Requirements. The County finds the Development Agreement 
meets the requirements of the Act and the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

Section 3. Development Agreement Approval. According to the authority provided by the Act and the 
Development Agreement Ordinance, the Development Agreement, attached as Exhibit A, which is now 
before this meeting, is approved, and all of the terms, provisions and conditions thereof are hereby 
incorporated herein by reference as if such Fee Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. 
The interim Supervisor/Chairman of the County Council and the Clerk of the County Council be, and they 
are hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the Development 
Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the Development Agreement 
to be delivered to the developer. The Development Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before 
this meeting and hereby approved, or with any changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the 
rights of the County thereunder, or otherwise constitute a major or moderate modification as provided in 
the form of the Development Agreement, and which shall be approved by the County Attorney and the 
officials of the County executing the same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their 
approval of all changes therein from the form of Development Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 4. Additional Provisions. 

(a) The interim Supervisor/Chairman and all other appropriate officials of the County are hereby
authorized to execute, deliver, and receive any other agreements and documents as may be required by the 
County to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions authorized by this Ordinance; 

(b) This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South
Carolina; 

(c) This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval following third reading by the
County Council; 

(d) The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable and if any section, phrase, or



2 

provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, that declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases, and 
provisions hereunder; and 

(e) All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict,
hereby repealed. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



3 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: 
Dr, Wylie Frederick, Interim County Supervisor 
Chester County, South Carolina 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

Karen Lee, Clerk to County Council 
Chester County, South Carolina 

First Reading:  September 7, 2021 
Public Hearing:  March 7, 2022 
Second Reading: March 7, 2022 
Public Hearing:  March 21, 2022 
Third Reading:  March 21, 2022 



4 

EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (PROJECT STANTON) 

SOUTH CAROLINA ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
) STANTON DEVELOPMENT 

CHESTER COUNTY ) (FORMERLY KNOWN AS CHESWICK) 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of March 21, 2022 (“Agreement 
Date”), by and among JDSI, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (“The Developer”), and the 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic and corporate, a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” collectively “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, the Developer owns legal title to certain real property consisting of approximately 
234.91+/- acres, located in the County and known as Stanton Development (formerly known as 
“Cheswick”) and more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the County has rezoned the Property a PD (Planned Development) District; and 

WHEREAS, the Developer and the County have determined that it is in the best interests of the County 
and the Developer to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to 
achieve a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts to the 
community and achieve predictability to the County and the Developer on the scope and terms of the 
development; and 

WHEREAS, The Developer desires to obtain from the County in connection with the development, 
and County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property is zoned a PD (Planned Development) 
District for the duration of this Agreement, (2) that at receipt of the Developer’s development and 
construction permits, the Developer may proceed with the planned development and construction, and (3) 
that the Development Rights (defined below) will be vested for the duration of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, the Developer and the County recognize 
that the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory aims of 
comprehensive, orderly planning and development in the County, thus providing benefits to the citizens of 
the County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of funds or financing 
of those public facilities and services described and identified in this Agreement: 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the parties, and 
pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, codified in South Carolina 
Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including 6-31-160, as amended (collectively, “Act”) and 
Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Ordinance No. 2021-12”), the parties to this Agreement, 
intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 



5 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the recitals 
were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are incorporated into this 
Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used in this
Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of Chester County, South Carolina.

(2) “Development Rights” means the right of the Developer to develop all or part of the
Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

(3) “Ordinance No. 2021-12” means Ordinance No. 2021-12 of County which is cited as the
Development Agreement Ordinance for Chester County, South Carolina. 

(4) “UDO” means the Land Development Ordinance, enacted June 3, 1996, as amended to be
the most current adopted version on file with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement have
the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 or the UDO. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are the County and the Developer. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to two (2) parcels of land identified as Chester 
County, South Carolina Tax Map Nos. 124-00-00-027-000 and 124-00-00-024-000, which is also referred 
to as the Property and reflected on Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference as if 
the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned PD (Planned Development) pursuant to, 
collectively, CCMA21-15 and CCMA21-16. 

Section 1.06. Development Program. 

(A) The UDO provides for the development uses on the Property, including population densities,
building intensities and height. 

(B) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in the most current version of the
UDO unless otherwise modified by this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between the standards 
contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement control. The Development Program 
for the Property is set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the 
exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety 

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached hereto and
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

(B) The County and the Developer acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The
failure of the Developer to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, constitute 
a material breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the circumstances. The 



6 

development schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. The County and the Developer acknowledge 
that actual development is likely to take place at a different pace than set forth in the development schedule 
because of future market forces. 

(C) The County agrees that if the Developer requests an adjustment to the development schedule,
including commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if the 
Developer is able to demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. “Good cause” 
includes, but is not limited to, changes in market conditions, provided, however, under no circumstances 
shall commencement of construction occur on or after a date that is 15 months after the Agreement Date, 
excepting on account of force majeure (which for purposes of this subitem (C), means any circumstance 
or event outside of the reasonable control of the Developer). 

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to this
Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, the 
Developer shall submit a proposed adjustment in writing, substantially in the form of Exhibit F attached 
hereto, to the Planning Director for the County who shall forward copies of the proposed adjustment to 
each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment shall include an explanation and justification. 
The proposed adjustment shall become effective 45 days from receipt by the Planning Director for the 
County unless County Council has disapproved the proposed adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that 
effect within the 45-day period. 

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship between the 
Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship of partnership, joint 
venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held responsible for the acts of 
any other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not create a relationship whereby any 
one of the Parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the debts or obligations of any other party, to 
any person, firm, corporation, or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or obligation arises under this 
Agreement or outside of this Agreement. 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens. 

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of this
Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the end users
and not the Developers thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not the Developers 
and who intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any purchaser or other 
successor in title is responsible for performance of the Developer’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement 
as to the portion of the Property so transferred. The Developer must give notice to County of the transfer 
of property to a Developer in the manner prescribed in section 3.05. 

(C) The Developer acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible
for the development of the Property, (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, and (iii) acknowledge agricultural activities, including, but not limited to, 
production of crops, animal husbandry, land application of animal waste, the raising, breeding, and sale of 
livestock and poultry, including confinement feeding operations, use of farm machinery, and the sale of 
farm products may be practiced and take place in the area of the Property. The Developer stipulates and 
will include such notice of agricultural activities in the homeowners’ association documents and restrictive 
covenants, and more specifically in a standalone restrictive covenant, for the Property so all subsequent 
owners are aware of such agricultural activities. The Developer shall remain fully vested with all of the 
rights, benefits, and privileges arising out of this Agreement during the Term of this Agreement except as 
may be assigned for assumed from time to time consistent with this Agreement. 



7 

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Agreement Date and 
terminate 10 years thereafter as provided herein or by the Act; provided, however that the Developer and 
the County may extend the Term of this Agreement or enter into subsequent development agreements upon 
mutual written consent to the extent permitted by the Act. 

The expiration of the Term of this Agreement shall have no effect on the validity or authority of any 
restrictive covenants except as may be specifically provided for therein. 

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. 2021-12 requires a development agreement to 
include certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies where the 
information may be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of County. 

(A) The County has found that the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with
County’s comprehensive plan and UDO. 

(B) The County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. 2021-15 in accordance with
the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. 2021-12 and any other applicable state law. 

(C) The County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. 2021-15 that at least two
public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a notice of intent 
to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of The Developer. 

(A) The Developer represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is
approximately 234.9+/- acres. 

(B) The Developer represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it owns legal title to the Property.

(C) The Developer represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the
respective individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the party has been duly authorized and 
approved by all requisite action on the part of the Developer. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop. 

(A) The County agrees that the Developer, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in
section 3.04, may proceed to develop the Property according to this Agreement and the UDO. The right of 
the Developer to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with the Developer 
for the term of this Agreement when the Developer has complied with all requirements of section 5.19 of 
this Agreement. 

(B) The County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all aspects of the 
development of the Property, according to this Agreement, for the term of this Agreement. 



8 

(C) The Developer has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance
with the zoning classification set forth in, collectively, CCMA21-15 and CCMA21-16, the UDO and the 
terms of this Agreement if and only if the Developer has complied with all the requirements of section 5.19 
of this Agreement. 

(D) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which conflict
with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development standards contained in 
the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other standards and this Agreement is 
deemed controlling. 

(E) The Developer acknowledges that the County shall not accept financial guarantees for water, sewer
and storm water infrastructure and the water, sewer and storm water infrastructure must be installed, tested 
and in acceptable condition before final plat approval. 

Section 3.02. RESERVED. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development Regulations. 

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. The County shall not, unless
consented to by Developer, enforce subsequently adopted laws and land development regulations on the 
development of the Property except in conformance with the procedures and provisions of Section 6-31-
80(B) of the Act in effect as of the Effective Date. 

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if County
imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at which development 
can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to the Development of the 
Property. No moratorium or schedule for allocation or approval of any development permits as set forth in 
Section 3.04 hereof, or any other subsequently adopted laws and land development regulations shall affect 
the rights and prerogatives of the Developer under this Agreement except in conformance with Section 5.02 
hereof. 

(C) The Developer agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, housing,
electrical, plumbing, and gas codes adopted by County after the Agreement Date and in force at the time 
plans for buildings are submitted to the County for review. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to 
supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, housing, electrical, plumbing, or 
gas code adopted by the County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits. 

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, the Developer shall obtain all local development permits for the
development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of which may 
have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval;

(2) Preliminary plan approval;

(3) Final plat approval;

(4) Zoning permits;

(5) Building permits; and

(6) Sign permits.



9 

(B) The failure of this Agreement to address a particular development permit, condition, term, or
restriction does not relieve the Developer of the necessity of complying with this Agreement, the law 
governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions, as may be applicable. The failure 
of this Agreement to address a particular development permit does not abrogate the Development Rights 
arising out of this Agreement where such development permit is customary or necessary for the 
development of the Property, and consistent with the intent and purpose of this Agreement. 

(C) With respect to the County’s review and processing of subdivision plats, development plan
applications, grading permits, building permits, certificates of occupancy and other County permits, 
applications and approvals relating to the development of the Property (including dwellings and other 
improvements thereon), the County shall approve or reject (and, in the case of a rejection, provide feedback 
necessary for the Developer to resubmit any such submittals) within the time limitations as set forth in the 
County ordinances. 

Section 3.05. Transfer of Real Property and Assignment of Development Rights. 

(A) Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or constrain the Developer’s right to legally convey, sell,
transfer, ground lease, or otherwise dedicate any portion or all of the Property or an interest therein to any 
other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Together with any conveyance or transfer of interest in a portion or all of the Property, the Developer may 
assign any portion or all of its Development Rights under this Agreement to such transferee or grantee, 
provided, however, that the County as a result of the assignment does not release any current or subsequent 
Developer from any or all of its obligations under this Agreement taking place or to have taken place as a 
Developer during its ownership of the Property. If a purchaser, lessee, or other successor in interest of any 
portion of the Property becomes a Developer under this Agreement, then each current and subsequent 
Developer remains, and the additional Developer becomes, responsible for the performance of the 
development obligations and the additional Developer is entitled to the Development Rights appurtenant to 
the portion of the Property so transferred, upon the recording with the Chester County Clerk of Court, 
together with recording of the instrument transferring an interest in the Property, an Assignment 
substantially in the form of Exhibit G attached hereto that (i) indicates the grantee’s or transferee’s 
acceptance of the development obligations, and (ii) identifies the Development Rights assigned to the 
grantee or transferee, appurtenant to the portion of the portion or all of the Property so assigned. The 
Developer may, at its sole discretion, retain those certain Development Rights and development obligations 
with respect to the portion of Property conveyed or transferred as may be more specifically set forth in the 
Assignment. 

The Developer may transfer any or all Development Rights and/or development obligations to any person, 
firm, corporation, or entity even in an absence of a transfer of portion of Property and shall be entitled to 
effect a recording of an Assignment in accordance with this Section 3.05(A). Upon completion of the 
assignment, the Property Owner agrees to notify the County of such transfer and provide information in 
connection therewith, including the name, address and contact information for the transferee. This 
notification to the County shall occur prior to notification to third parties and/or a public announcement of 
the transfer. 

Any Developer shall be entitled to legally convey real property in accordance with this Agreement and to 
legally assign its Development Rights and/or development obligations in accordance with this Section 
3.05(A) in an instrument substantially in the Form of Assignment attached hereto as Exhibit G.  

(B) The recording requirement of an Assignment shall not apply to (i) any mortgage lender either
as the result of foreclosure of any mortgage secured by any portion of the Property or any other transfer in 
lieu of foreclosure; (ii) any third-party purchaser at such a foreclosure; or (iii) any third party purchaser of 
such mortgage lender’s interest subsequent to the mortgage lender’s acquiring ownership of any portion of 
the Property as set forth above. Any such mortgage lender or subsequent purchaser shall be bound by the 



10 

development obligations and be a beneficiary of the Development Rights as the Developer successor in title 
to the Developer. 

(C) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Developer shall have the right
to manage its corporate affairs in such manner that may cause another person, firm, corporation, or entity, 
including without limitation, the Developer’s subsidiaries and affiliates, to assume some or all of the 
Developer’s Development Rights and/or development obligations pursuant to this Agreement (the 
“Assumption”). The provisions of Section 3.05(A) hereof pertaining to Assignment of Development Rights 
and development obligations to the Developers shall not apply to an Assumption. Timely following any 
Assumption, the Developer shall notify the County of the identity and address of the person, firm, 
corporation, or entity for the purpose of Section 5.01 hereof, and such person, firm, corporation, or entity 
shall be substituted and considered the Developer under this Agreement. Where an Assumption pertains 
only to a portion of the Developer’s Development Rights and/or development obligations pursuant to this 
Agreement, the Developer shall also notify the County of the extent to which the Development Rights 
and/or development obligations shall be assumed. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the Property 
imposes certain burdens and costs on the County, including those for certain services and infrastructure 
improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the Property may, but are not necessarily 
guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on the County, but certain initial costs and 
capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any increase in taxes paid by existing 
residents of the County. The purpose of this article is to identify the matters agreed upon to be provided by 
the Developer to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. Payment of Costs. In addition to any other fees for which this Agreement provides, the 
Developer shall pay the County’s legal fees incurred with the preparation of this Agreement, various 
conferences with County staff, and attendance at County meetings, and other related matters, in an amount 
not to exceed $7,500. Such amount shall be paid within 30 days of the Developer’s receipt of an invoice 
for legal fees, which shall contain a generic (non-privileged) description of the services performed but need 
not include individual time entries and descriptions. 

Section 4.03. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that are in
effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s costs of processing 
applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting inspections, or similar type 
processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional development and/or permit fees enacted 
by the County after the Agreement Date, however characterized. 

(B) All single-family detached and attached dwellings shall be subject to a $1,500 impact fee, payable
by the building permit applicant to the County at the time of issuance of the building permit. 

Section 4.04. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by the Developer, and many necessary 
infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by the Developer or other governmental or quasi-
governmental entities, and not by the County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note of and 
acknowledge the following: 

(A) Roads. The Developer is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for public
or private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and intersection 
improvements as required by the South Carolina Department of Transportation related to the development 



11 

of the Property. All roads must be constructed in accordance with the County’s road standards. The road 
improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the 
Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary to serve the development. The 
Developer is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not public roads. The Developer 
acknowledges that the County will only accept and maintain as public roads those roads constructed in full 
compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to the County road system or serving as a necessary 
component for the proper development of the County road system. The County will not accept the roads 
within the Property into the County road system for any other purpose, including, but not limited to, 
maintenance. The Developer may transfer the ownership of the roads and its obligations for the roads to a 
homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar organization. 

(B) Potable Water, Sewage Treatment, and Disposal. Potable water, sewage treatment and disposal
will all be supplied to the Property by one or more of the following: Chester Metropolitan District, Chester 
County Wastewater Recovery, and/or some other public or private entity. The Developer will construct, 
or cause to be constructed, all necessary water and sewer service infrastructure within the Property and 
the water and sewer service infrastructure will be maintained by the appropriate provider and not the 
County. The County is not responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance, or costs associated 
with water or sewer service or water and sewer service infrastructure to or within the Property. The water 
and/or sewer service infrastructure is expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the 
development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary to serve the 
development. The Developer acknowledges that the County has no authority or responsibility for 
providing potable water services or sewer services in the County and that each service provider is a 
separate apart and distinct from the County over which the County has no control. 

(C) Storm Water Management. The Developer will construct or cause to be constructed all storm water
runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the Property and 
such infrastructure will be maintained by the Developer or a homeowners’ association. The County is not 
responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm water runoff and drainage 
for the Property. Storm water management improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule 
consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary 
to serve the development. 

(D) Solid Waste Collection. The County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in the County. It is understood and acknowledged 
that the County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family or commercial 
developments. Residential units shall be served by a private waste hauling company. 

(E) Fire Service, Emergency Medical Service, and Law Enforcement. The Property is in Richburg
Fire Protection District service area and fire services will be provided by the Richburg Fire Protection 
District, or its successor entities. The Developer will dedicate one and three-quarters (1.75) acres of the 
Property along Wylies Mill Road, such location to be mutually approved by the Developer and the County, 
for use by fire services, emergency medical services, law enforcement departments, and/or other public 
service uses. 

(F) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Chester County School District.
The Developer acknowledges that the County has no authority or responsibility for providing public school 
services in the County. 

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be provided 
under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the party named below, 
(ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage



12 

prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other reputable national “next day” delivery 
service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously 
furnished in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending 
of any notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

To County: Chester County, South Carolina 
Attn: County Supervisor/Administrator 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 580 
Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

The Winters Law Firm, PA 
Attn: Joan E. Winters, Esq. 
105 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 127 
Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

King Kozlarek Law LLC 
Attn: Michael E. Kozlarek, Esq. 
201 Riverplace Suite 500 (29601) (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 565 
Greenville, South Carolina 29602-0565 

To The Developer: JDSI, LLC 
Attn: Judson Stringfellow 
2116 Crown Centre Dr, Suite 200 (mail/hand delivery/courier service) 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28227 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

Morton & Gettys, LLC 
Attn: Daniel J. Ballou 
331 E. Main St., Ste. 300 (29730, hand delivery or overnight) 
Post Office Box 707 (29731, US Mail) 
Rock Hill, South Carolina 

Section 5.02. Amendments. 

(A) This Agreement may not be amended or cancelled in whole or in part except upon mutual consent
of the County and the Developer, and in compliance with the Act. An amendment to this Agreement must 
be in writing. No statement, action or agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to 
change, amend, waive, modify, discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole 
or in part unless such statement, action or agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom 
the change, amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be 
enforced. 

(B) Any major modification of this Agreement shall constitute an amendment of this Agreement and
may occur only pursuant to the public notice and hearing requirements of the Act. Minor and moderate 
modifications to this Agreement, enumerated in Exhibit B attached hereto, may be made without a public 



13 

hearing or an amendment of this Agreement upon mutual written consent of the County and the Developer. 
A proposed modification not enumerated in Exhibit B shall be deemed a major modification. 

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any state or
federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes compliance with 
one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary to effectuate compliance 
with the state or federal law. 

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every 12 months, the Planning Director for the County, or the 
designee of the Planning Director for the County, must review compliance with this Agreement by the 
Developer. At the time of review the Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of 
the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any other time,
the Planning Director for the County, or the Planning Director’s designee, determines that the Developer 
has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Planning Director for the 
County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, on the Developer 
setting forth with reasonable particularity the nature of the breach and the information supporting the 
determination, and providing the Developer 60 days in which to cure or rectify said breach or account for 
those obligations pursuant to this Agreement that have a material effect on the ability of the Developer to 
cure such breach. 

(B) If the Developer fails to cure the breach within 60 days, or if the breach cannot be cured within
such 60 days period and the Developer does not commence to cure the breach within such 60 days period, 
and thereafter diligently pursue the same to completion, then the County may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement; provided, that prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in 
this section, County Council must first give the Developer the opportunity (i) to rebut the determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County’s concerns with respect to the determination. 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce this Agreement, if not 
cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law or in equity, including specific 
performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated with enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be enforced only 
by the Parties and their successors and assigns. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that the Developer shall record this 
Agreement with the County Clerk of Court within 14 days after the date of execution of this Agreement. 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. The County is the only local government that is a party 
to this Agreement and the County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement remains 
in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in any municipality. The Parties acknowledge that 
upon incorporation or annexation the application and duration of this Agreement is controlled by section 6-
31-110 of the Act. The County reserves the right to enter into an agreement with the newly incorporated
municipality or the annexing municipality for the administration and enforcement of this Agreement after
the date of incorporation or annexation.

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, deliver 
written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this Agreement is in full 



14 

force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so amended, identifying 
the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, the requesting party is 
in default or claimed default in the performance of its obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing 
the nature and amount, if any, of any such default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge 
of the party, without inquiry, any event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or 
the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event. 

Within 60 days of a receipt of a written request sent by the Developer to the County, the County shall 
issue an estoppel certificate in recordable form that with regard to the portion or all of the Property described 
in the request, and except as stated, to the best of the County’s knowledge, without any inquiry, there are 
no violations or breaches of this Agreement. The estoppel certificate will be binding on the County in 
accordance with the facts and statements contained therein as of its date and may be relied upon by all 
persons having notice thereof. If the County does not respond to such request within 60 days of its receipt, 
the Property described in the request shall be deemed in compliance with this Agreement. 

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all the 
agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its Development 
and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, expressed or implied, 
among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other than as set forth or as referred 
to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign other Documents. The County and the Developer acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in addition 
to this Agreement, and the County and the Developer agree to cooperate with the execution thereof. 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel have 
reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to 
be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any 
amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to the Developer are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity except 
that the assignment must conform to the requirements of Section 1.09 and Section 3.05 hereof. The County 
may assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement on or to the 
County to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue. 

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina.

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 6th 

Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in original, 
facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for recording, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or restrict 
the County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any part of this Agreement is held to be void by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected and shall be given such 
construction as to permit it to comply with the requirements of all applicable laws and the intent of the Parties 



15 

hereto. In the event that any part or all of this Agreement is held to be void by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the provisions of Ordinance 2021-15 shall remain effective until amended through such process 
as may be required for the amendment of the Ordinance 2021-15 by the County at the time of the amendment. 

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date and 
takes effect when (i) the County and the Developer have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) the 
Developer has delivered to the County Supervisor clocked-in copies, of the recorded Agreement. If the 
County Supervisor has not received clocked-in copies of the Agreement within 10 business days after 
recording the Agreement with the Chester County Clerk of Court, then this Agreement is automatically 
terminated without further action of either the County or the Developer. The obligation of the Developer 
pursuant to section 4.02 is effective on the date the last Party to sign this Agreement executes this 
Agreement and the obligations imposed on the Developer pursuant to section 4.02 survives the termination 
of this Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

Section 5.20. Indemnification Covenants. 

(A) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Developer shall indemnify and save the County, its
employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless against and from 
all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s 
obligations under this Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise 
by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement. 

(B) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Developer shall reimburse the County
for all its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or defense against 
such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a statement of the 
costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Developer shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt 
of the statement. The Developer may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the 
statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 
confidential to evidence the costs. 

(C) The County may request the Developer to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an
Indemnified Party. On such request, the Developer shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 
Indemnified Party, at the Developer’s expense. The Developer is entitled to use counsel of its choice, 
manage, and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the 
Developer is not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

(D) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the Developer is not
required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any 
claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the execution 
of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or the administration 
of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this 
Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or 
willful misconduct. 

(E) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs provided
in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable under the circumstances, of 
the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of any citations, orders, 
fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to afford the Developer 
notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND SEVEN EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



16 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date written 
above. 

WITNESSES: THE DEVELOPER: 
JDSI, LLC, 
a North Carolina Limited Liability Company 

Name: 

Name: By: 
Its: 

STATE OF  ) 
) ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

COUNTY OF ) 

____________________, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of 
the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her own free 
act and deed. 

Dated: 

Notary Public for the State of 

My commission expires: 
[NOTARIAL SEAL]



17 

WITNESSES: COUNTY: 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
a political subdivision of the State of South 

Carolina 
Name: 

Name: By: Dr. Wylie Frederick 
Its: Interim County Supervisor 

[COUNTY SEAL] 

Attest: 

Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
) ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

COUNTER OF CHESTER  ) 

Dr. Wylie Frederick, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of 
the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her own 
free act and deed. 

Dated: 

Notary Public for the State of South Carolina 

My commission expires: 
[NOTARIAL SEAL]



EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

Parcel # 1: TAX PARCEL 124-00-00-027-000 

That certain tract or parcel of land situated, lying, and being in Chester County, South Carolina and being 
more particularly described as follows: 

BEGINNING at an existing metal “u” post marking the southwest corner of the J.C. Alvarez, III & Billie 
Jean D. Alvarez property as described in Deed Book 804, Page 66, said post also lying on the northern line 
of the Kirkpatrick Acquisitions, LLC property as described in Deed Book 923, Page 156, and runs thence 
with the Kirkpatrick Acquisitions, LLC property two (2) courses and distances as follows: (1) South 67-
04-05 West 1,531.49 feet to an existing rebar with cap; (2) North 67-00-08 West 1,200.07 feet to the base
of an existing #5 rebar marking the eastern corner of the Thomas J. Gast Family Limited Partnership as
described in Deed Book 722, Page 122, Deed Book 722, Page 117 & Deed Book 722, Page 112; thence
with the Thomas J. Gast Family Limited Partnership property South 86-25-35 West 244.23 feet to an
existing 3/4” iron pipe with elbow marking the southeast corner of the St. Katherine Properties, LLC
property as described in Deed Book 926, Page 109 & Deed Book 926, Page 112; thence with the St.
Katherine Properties, LLC property two (2) courses and distances as follows: (1) North 07-51-05 East
184.41 feet to an existing 1” aluminum pipe; (2) North 07-38-42 East 1,269.93 feet to an existing 1” iron
pipe lying on the southern line of the J.C. Alvarez, III & Billie Jean D. Alvarez property as described in
Deed Book 534, Page 61; thence with the Alvarez property four (4) courses and distances as follows: North
87-38-19 East 399.98 feet to an existing 1” iron pipe; (2) North 42-24-10 West 229.46 feet to an existing
1/2” x 1” iron rod with stones; (3) North 56-08-06 East 1,653.98 feet to an existing #5 rebar; (4) South 20-
20-45 East 1,165.58 feet to an existing metal “u” post marking the northwest corner of the J.C. Alvarez, III
& Billie Jean D. Alvarez property as described in Deed Book 804, Page 66; thence with the Alvarez property
South 22-24-07 East 1,420.13 feet to the Point or Place of BEGINNING; containing 115.96 acres of land.

AND 

Parcel # 2: TAX PARCEL 124-00-00-024-000 

That certain tract or parcel of land situated, lying, and being in Chester County, South Carolina and being 
more particularly described as follows: 

BEING all of the property shown in the “Boundary and Subdivision Survey of W.C Kirkpatrick Lands for 
Mulvaney Properties” recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Chester County South Carolina in 
Plat Cabinet D, Slide 91, Page 3, LESS AND EXCEPT Tracts A & B; containing 118.95 acres 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

1. Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan: The Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan, which is attached
hereto as Exhibit B-1, and the Stanton Anticipated Project Schedule, which is attached hereto as Exhibit B-
2, both of which are incorporated herein by reference, and made a part hereof, shall serve as the general 
guide for the location of public facilities, roads, buildings, and other development features. The Property 
shall be generally developed consistent with the approved Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan and associated 
exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with the terms of the Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property is in the PD (Planned Development) zoning district and shall be
developed consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement. 

3. Permitted Uses: The Property shall be permitted to include commercial development, including all
permitted uses in the Limited Commercial District as set forth in the Chester County Zoning Ordinance, 
enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. The Property shall also be permitted to be developed as a residential 
community to include single-family detached dwellings, single-family attached dwellings (townhomes), 
attached dwellings (apartments), and their associated accessory uses and amenities (including, but not 
limited to, clubhouses, pools, pocket parks, seating areas, landscaped areas, playgrounds, open multi-
purpose lawn spaces, dog parks, and trails), with all other uses permitted within the applicable zoning 
district(s) and not identified as being prohibited. The permitted location of said uses on the Property shall 
be identified on the approved Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan. 

4. Prohibited Uses: The following uses shall not be permitted on the Property regardless of the
provisions contained in the UDO: gas station, vape lounge, and gaming. 

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements (i.e.,
building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the UDO and noted in the table below: 

MODIFIED MINIMUM DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS* 

a. Uses and densities for the development will be limited as shown on the Stanton
Conceptual Rezoning Plan. 

b. No homes will front on the main boulevard identified as “Road A” on the Stanton
Conceptual Rezoning Plan. 

c. Maximum structure height shall be 35 feet (not applicable to church spires, belfries,
cupolas, domes, utility and communication towers, chimneys, flag poles, and antennae). 

d. Medium Density Area:

i. Minimum lot width: 50’

ii. Minimum lot size: 6,000 square feet

iii. Minimum front setback: 25’

iv. Minimum side setback: 6’

v. Minimum rear setback: 20’

e. Low Density Area:

i. Minimum lot width: 60’



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

20 

ii. Minimum lot size: 7,200 square feet

iii. Minimum front setback: 25’

iv. Minimum side setback: 6’ (12’ setback from roadway for corner lots)

v. Minimum rear setback: 20’

f. Attached Single Family (Townhome) Area

i. Minimum Lot Width:  20’

ii. Minimum front setback:  20’

iii. Minimum side setback:  5’

iv. Minimum rear setback:  20’

* All other development standards shall conform to the General Provisions, Permitted Uses and Lot
Information, Lot Standards, Transportation and Site Circulation, Environmental, Landscape, Open Space
and Signage, Architecture, Phasing, and Fire provisions as generally set forth in the Stanton Conceptual
Rezoning Plan.

6. Maximum Development Intensity: The maximum number of residential units developed at the
Property shall be limited to 1,150. 

7. Residential Section – Site Layout and Architecture:

a. General Site Layout: The site layout shall generally conform to the Stanton Conceptual
Rezoning Plan. 

b. Architecture: Architectural standards for buildings shall generally conform to the Stanton
Conceptual Rezoning Plan. 

8. Commercial Section-Site Layout and Architecture:

a. General Site Layout: The site layout shall generally conform to the Stanton Conceptual
Rezoning Plan. 

b. Architectural Design and Materials: Architectural standards for buildings shall generally
conform to the Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan. 

9. Open Space and Landscaping: A minimum of 15% of the total development acreage shall be
setaside as open space including, but not limited to, parks, green space, buffers, and water quality facilities. 
All open space will be managed by the homeowners’ association. 

10. Transportation: Offsite and onsite improvements shall conform to  the Stanton Conceptual
Rezoning Plan. 

11. Modification of Development Program: It is recognized that periodic modifications to the
Development Program may be needed to address market conditions, environmental challenges, and other 
elements. The following will outline the processes for Minor, Moderate, and Major Modifications to this 
Exhibit B. Modifications to other sections of the Agreement will be processed in accordance with those 
provisions. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

21 

a. Minor Modifications: Minor Modifications shall only be to the Stanton Conceptual Rezoning Plan.
The Planning Director for the County shall determine what shall constitute a Minor Modification and have 
the authority to administratively approve such. The following modifications, adjustment, and clarifications 
shall constitute Minor Modifications to this agreement: 

i. Correction of any typographic or scrivener’s error.

ii. Minor adjustments to the site layout caused by environmental features, adaptations to
comply with regulatory requirements, and other changes considered incidental by County
staff.

iii. Administrative determinations pursuant to a periodic review in accordance with Section
5.03 of the Agreement.

iv. Recording of any subsequent laws or regulations enforceable pursuant to the public hearing
provisions of Section 6-31-80(B) of the Act.

v. Recording of modification in the addressee provisions of Section 5.01 of the Agreement.

vi. Recording of any instruments or documentation to evidence any act permissible or regulated
pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, where the Agreement does not specifically provide
for the recording of such instruments or documentation.

vii. Dimensional adjustments that are within ten percent (10%) of the dimensional requirements
in the Agreement or other applicable County codes or ordinances, as approved by the
Planning Director for the County.

b. Moderate Modifications: Moderate Modifications are those modifications to the Stanton Conceptual
Rezoning Plan that are not caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory 
requirements, and are not considered by County staff to be incidental changes or are modifications to the text 
of Exhibit B that do not reflect the inclusion of new land use categories, increases to maximum dwelling units 
or square footage allowances. Moderate Modifications may be approved by the resolution of the County 
Council after a review and recommendation is provided by County Staff. Approved Moderate Modifications 
shall be recorded by the Developer and made an amendment to this Exhibit B.  

c. Major Modifications: Major Modifications are those that do not qualify as either a Minor or
Moderate Modification, such as a substantive change in the location of land uses or the addition of new 
external access points to the public road system. Major Modifications must be processed and considered in 
the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed development agreement. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

22 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to Section 1.07 of the Agreement. 
Within 60 days after the Agreement Date, the Developer anticipates beginning environmental 
assessments, site development studies, and/or plan development for the Property. Subject to approval 
by the County of development plans and permits, which approval the County agrees that it will not 
unreasonably withhold, the Developer anticipates beginning construction at the Property within 15 
months after the Agreement Date. Consistent with the long-term approach to planning and developing 
the Property, the County and the Developer anticipate the following interim completion dates for 
development of the Property pursuant to the Agreement, subject to force majeure (as within defined). 

Year Percentage Completed 
5 50% 
10 100% 

For the limited purpose of this Exhibit C only, the Development of any portion of the Property shall be 
deemed completed upon the approval of a final plat for such portion. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

23 

The Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 require a development agreement to include certain information. 
The following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s legal
and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of the Agreement 
Date, JDSI, LLC, is the legal and equitable owner of the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See section 1.10.

(C) a representation by the Developer of the number of acres of highland contained in the property
subject to the agreement. See section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-zoning
of the property. See section 1.05. 

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, including
population densities, building intensities, and height. See section 1.06. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who provides the
facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to assure public 
facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction timeline for those 
facilities. If the agreement provides that the County shall provide certain public facilities, the agreement 
shall provide that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to defined completion percentages 
or other defined performance standards to be met by the Developer. See article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public purposes and
any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or permitted pursuant to 
laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. The Developer shall comply with all applicable 
environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement to 
address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve the Developer of the necessity 
of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. See 
section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by the
time of execution of the agreement, with the County’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. See section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of
historic structures. The Developer shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and 
restoration of historic structures within the Property. 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at no
greater than five-year intervals. See section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating which local
government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See section 5.08. 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development of the
property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions of the 
County Code of Ordinances, or both. See section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

24 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under
which laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply to the 
property subject to the agreement. See section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions of it
that are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that the 
provisions of section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the
agreement. See section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the provisions of Exhibit A, item (Q) of
Ordinance No. 2021-12. See section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with the
provisions of Exhibit A, item (R) of Ordinance 2021-12. See section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that the Developer, within 14 days after the County executes the Agreement, will
record the Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the Agreement
shall inure to, the County and the Developer. See section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be
assigned, if applicable. See section 1.09(B), section 3.05, and section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

25 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Collectively, CCMA21-15 and CCMA21-16 zoning the Property as PD (Planned Development).

2. Ordinance No. 2021-14, approving this Development Agreement.

3. Ordinance No. 2021-12, the Development Agreement Ordinance.

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Chester County: Land Development Ordinance, enacted June
3, 1996, as amended, as of the Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes Ordinance No. 2021-12, as
amended, as of the Agreement Date and which is cited as the Land Development Regulations of Chester
County. A copy of the UDO has been signed by the Parties and is on file in the office of County Planning
Department.

5. Land Development Regulations of Chester County: See Unified Development Ordinance of
Chester County.

6. Zoning Ordinance, enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE]



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

26 

EXHIBIT F 
FORM REQUEST TO MODIFY DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
) TO 

COUNTY OF CHESTER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Chester County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and 

[insert JDSI, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, or its successor or assign] 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, JDSI, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the “Property Owner”), is a 
party to that certain Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the 
“County”), effective date of ______________, 2021, recorded on ______________, 2021 in the office of 
Chester County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ (the “Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of JDSI, LLC as a Developer pursuant to an Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real property 
situate in Chester County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real property attached 
to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes a vested 
right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and completion dates 
for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Developer] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of 
the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County shall 
approve such request within 45 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not constitute or 
require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested, and the County has approved, a modification in the 
Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically set forth herein 
below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the legal description 
attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development 
Agreement as follows: 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

27 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the submittal of 
the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the Addendum
Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning Director’s signature and insignia 
imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the Petitioner has demonstrated 
good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property. 

[insert name] Planning Director’s Dated Stamp of Approval 
Chester County Planning Director 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically modified in
this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, no other 
modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the recording of this 
Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This 
Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its successors and assigns, and shall run with 
the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within fourteen (14)
days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the Development Schedule shall 
be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this Addendum as recorded shall constitute 
conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly authorized
by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not JDSI, LLC or its 
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property: 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

28 

Witness: Property Owner: 

Print Name: By: 
Print Name: 
Its: 

Print Name: 

STATE OF  

COUNTY OF 

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and says 
that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and deed 
deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, together 
with _______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this  
day of ________________, 20____ 

Notary Public for (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of  

My Commission Expires:  

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

29 

EXHIBIT G 
FORM ASSIGNMENT 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION 
) OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
) AND OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO 

COUNTY OF CHESTER ) A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
AND OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Assignment”) is 
made effective on the 

[insert date of Assignment] 

, by 
[insert name of assignor] 

, (the “Assignor”), and 
[insert name of assignee] 

, (the “Assignee”), (collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, JDSI, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company, is a party to that certain 
Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, effective date of 
________________, 2021, recorded on ________________, 2021 in the office of Chester County Clerk of 
Court in Book _____, Page _____ (the “Development Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real property 
situate in Chester County, State of South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real property 
attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement establishes certain vested Development Rights and 
development obligations as more specifically set forth therewith; and 

WHEREAS, Section 3.05. of the Development Agreement authorizes the conveyance, sale, 
transfer, ground lease, and other dedications by JDSI, LLC and its successors and assigns of any portion or 
all of the Property, and Sections 3.05 and 5.14. of the Development Agreement authorizes the Assignment 
by JDSI, LLC and its successors and assigns, of any portion or all of its Development Rights and/or 
development obligations to such transferee or grantee; and 

[insert interim conveyances and assignments, if any] 

WHEREAS, on 

[insert date of contract to sell and purchase a portion or all of the Property] 

Assignor and Assignee entered into a contract to sell and purchase that portion of the Property as more 
specifically set forth in the legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Assignment Property”); 
and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

30 

WHEREAS, in consideration of Assignor’s agreement to convey the Assignment Property to 
Assignee, Assignee has agreed to assume those certain development obligations under the Development 
Agreement appurtenant to the Assignment Property as more specifically set forth herein below; and 

WHEREAS, in consideration of Assignee’s agreement to acquire the Assignment Property, 
Assignor has agreed to assign to Assignee those certain Development Rights under the Development 
Agreement appurtenant to the Assignment Property as more specifically set forth herein below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Assignment and Assumption of Development Rights. Assignor hereby assigns to
Assignee, and Assignee hereby assumes from Assignor, those certain Development Rights as specifically 
set forth herein: 

[insert assigned Development Rights] 

2. Retained Development Rights. Assignor retains any and all Development Rights not
specifically assigned to Assignee herein above, including without limitation: 

[insert retained Development Rights] 

3. Assignment and Assumption of Development Obligations. Assignor hereby assigns to
Assignee and Assignee hereby assumes from Assignor those certain development obligations as specifically 
set forth herein: 

[insert assigned development obligations] 

4. Retained Development Obligations. Assignor retains the following development
obligations: 

[insert retained development obligations] 

5. Release; Indemnity. Assignee hereby releases Assignor and its successors and assigns
(other than Assignee and its affiliates, successors and assigns) from any and all liability in connection with 
the performance of any of the development obligations and the exercise of any Development Rights as 
specifically set forth herein above. Assignee shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Assignor and its 
members, managers, officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, from and against all losses, fines, 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees) arising in any manner, directly or indirectly, out of or by reason 
of the development obligations and Development Rights as specifically set forth hereinabove. This 
indemnification shall survive the execution and delivery of this Assignment and the closing of the sale of 
the Assignment Property to Assignee. 

6. Severability. If any provision of this Assignment shall be held to be invalid or
unenforceable, then the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby. 

7. Notice to Chester County. Assignor covenants and agrees for the benefit of Assignee that,
to the full extent required under the Development Agreement, Assignor shall, prior to or contemporaneously 
with the making hereof, comply with all requirements of the Development Agreement regarding notice of 
Assignment to Chester County. Pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Development Agreement, Assignee shall 
have the obligation to record this executed Assignment with the Chester County Clerk of Court, together 
with the recording of the instrument transferring an interest in the Assignment Property to Assignee. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-15 

31 

8. Binding Effect. This Assignment shall be binding upon the Parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns and shall run with the title to the Property. 

9. Authority. The undersigned Parties each represent and warrant that this Assignment has
been duly authorized by all necessary company action. 

10. Counterparts. This Assignment may be signed in one or more counterparts which,
together, shall constitute one agreement. 

[Insert Signature Pages] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 



CHESTER COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 2022-3 

AUTHORIZING, PURSUANT TO TITLE 12, CHAPTER 44, AND TITLE 
4, CHAPTER 1 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, 
AS AMENDED, THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE-IN-LlEU 
OF AD V ALOREM TAXES AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH

CAROLINA, AND LAST STEP RECYCLING, LLC, ACTING FOR 
ITSELF, ONE OR MORE CURRENT OR FUTURE AFFILIATES AND 
OTHER PROJECT COMPANIES (COLLECTIVELY, "COMPANY"); 
PROVIDING FOR A FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 
INCENTIVES; MODIFYING A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND 

BUSINESS PARK OF CHESTER AND YORK COUNTJES SO AS TO 
ENLARGE THE PARK; THE PROVISION OF SPECIAL SOURCE 
REVENUE CREDITS; AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina ("County"), acting by and through its County Council 
("Council''), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof("Code"), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 thereof 
("Negotiated FILOT Act") and Title 4, Chapter I of the Code ( .. Multi-County Park Act" or, as to Section 
4-1-175 thereof, and, by incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code. "Special Source Act") (collectively,
''Act''), and by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter into agreements with

certain investors to establish projects through which the economic development of the State of South
Carolina ("State") will be promoted and trade developed, thus utilizing and employing the manpower,
agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain
fee in lieu of ad valorem tax ("'FILOr·) payments, including, but not limited to, negotiated FILOT
("Negotiated FILOT') payments, with respect to a project; (iii) to permit investors to claim special source
revenue or infrastructure credits against their FILOT payments ("'Special Source Credits") to reimburse
such investors for expenditures in connection with certain infrastructure and other qualifying property
related to a project; and (iv) to create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-county
industrial or business park to allow certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors and to facilitate
the grant of Special Source Credits;

WHEREAS. pursuant to the Title 4, Section 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(''Park Act''), the County and York County entered into that certain Master Agreemen1 Governing the York
Chester Industrial Park between Chester County, South Carolina, and York County, South Carolina. 
effective December 31, 2012, (as amended, modified, and supplemented, collectively, "Park Agreement") 
whereby the County and York County agreed to develop a joint county industrial or business park eligible 
to include property located in either the County or York County ("Park"); 

WHEREAS, Section 1.0 I of the Park Agreement establishes the procedure for enlargement of the 
boundaries of the Park to include additional property; 

WHEREAS, Last Step Recycling. LLC, a Georgia limited liability company authorized ro transact 
business in the State, acting for itself. one or more current or future affiliates and other project sponsors 
(collectively, "Company''), proposes to invest in, or cause others to invest in, the establishment or 
expansion of an automotive shredder residue recycling facility in the County (''Project"). which the 
Company expects will result in the investment of approximately $42,000,000 in taxable property; 

WHEREAS, the County, having determined that an enlargement of the boundaries of the Park would 



promote economic development and thus provide additional employment and investment opportunities 
within said the County and York County, desires to enlarge the boundaries of the Park to include therein 
certain prope1ty, as described in greater detail on the attached Exhibit A and located in Chester County 
("Project Property"); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Inducement Resolution dated as of March 7, 2022, the County idenNfied 
the Project as a "project'' as provided in the Act; 

WHEREAS, the Company has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the fonn of the Fee 
and Special Source Credit Agreement, attached as Exhibit B, by and between the County and the Company 
(''Fee Agreement"), which provides for FILOT payments utilizing a 6% assessment ratio for a period of30 
years for the Project or each component thereof placed in service during the investment period, and which 
provides for Special Source Credits of fifty percent to be applied to reduce the first five FILOT payments 
required to be made with respect to property comprising the Project; and 

WHEREAS, it appears that the Fee Agreement, which is now before this meeting, is in appropriate 
fonn and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered 1;,y the CoUJlty for tbe purposes intended. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council, as follows: 

Section 1. StatutQry Findings. Based solely on information provided to the County by the Company, 
it is hereby found. detennined, and declared by the County Council, as folfows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a "project" as that term is referred to and defined in the
Act, .and the County's actions herein will subserve tl1e purposes and in all respects conform 
to the provisions and requirements of the Act; 

{b) The Project and the payments in lieu of taxes set forth herein are benef
i

cial to the 
County, and the County has evaluated the Project based on all criteria prescribed by law, 
including the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment to be made and the 
anticipated costs and benefits to the County; 

( c) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by
providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise 
adequately provided locally; 

(d) The Project gives rise1o no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(e) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development,
creation of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and 
public purposes; 

(f) The inducement of the location or expansion of the Project within the County and
State 1s of paramount importance; and 

(g) The anticipated benefits of the Project to the public will be greater than the costs.

Section 2. Authorizatio11 of Fee Agreement. To promote industry, develop trade, and utilize and 
employ the manpower, products, and natural resources of the State by assisting the Company to expand or 
locate a commercial facility in the State, the Fee Agreement is authorized, ratified, and approved. 

Section 3. Approval of Form of Fee Agreeme1il The form of the Fee Agreement presented at this 



meeting, as attached as Exhibit B, is approved, and all of the terms are incorporated in this Ordinance by 
reference as if the Fee Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Interim Chairman of 
the County Council/County Supervisor, and the Clerk to County Council are each authorized, empowered, 
and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the 
County, and to cause the executed Fee Agreement to be delivered to the Company. The Fee Agreement is 
to be in substantially the form now before this meeting, with such changes therein as shaH not be materially 
adverse to the County and as shall be approved by the officials of the County executing the same, on the 
advice of Counsel to the County, such official's execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of such 
official's approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form of the Fee Agreement now 
before this meeting. 

Section 4. E11largement of the Park. The enlargement of the boundaries of the Park, and the granting 
of an extended pe,·iod of time for inclusion of the Project Property in the Park, is authorized and approved. 

Section 5. Authorization/or County Officials to Execute Documents. The Interim Chairman of the 
County Council/County Supervisor, and the Clerk to County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are 
each authorized and directed to do any and all things reasonably necessary and prudent to effect the 
execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the perfonnance of all obligations of the County under 
and pursuant to the Fee Agreement. 

Section 6. Genertll Repealer. All orders, resolutions, ordinances, and patts thereof in conflict 
herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, repealed, and this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force 
from and after its passage and approval. 

ISit;rv, TllRE p,_ce ""''!l 'fWQ El(HIOITS FOLLOW] 
jRllMi'INllF.R OF Pi'CK INTENTIONi'LLY 8(.AN�I 



(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 

Clerk to Council 

First Reading: 
Second Reading: 
Public Hearing: 
Third Reading: 

March 7, 2022 
March 21, 2022 
April 4, 2022 
April 4, 2022 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

Chairman/Interim Supervisor 
Chester County Council 



EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT PROPERTY 

Tax Map No. [to c:ome] 

Also known as: [physical address to come] 



EXIDBITB 

FORM OF FEE AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 



MEK Comments 2/9/22 

FEE AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

Between 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

and 

LAST STEP RECYCLING, LLC 

Effective: AprH 4, 2022 



MEK Comments 2/9/22 

RECAPlTULA TION OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § l2-44-55(A) 

The parties have agreed to waive this requirement pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-44-SS(B) 



FEE AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT ("Fee Agreement'') is made and 
entered into effective April 4, 2022, by and between CHESTER COU

N

TY, SOUTH CAROUNA 
("County''), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (''State"). 
acting by and through the Chester County Council ("County Couhcil") as the governing body of the County, 
-and LAST STEP RECYCLING, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company ("Company"). 

RECITALS 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended ("Act''), authorizes
the County (i) to induce industries to locate in tbe State; (ii) to encourage industries now located in the State 
to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, products, and other resources of 
the State; and (iii) to enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the requirements of such Act, which 
identifies certain property of such entities as economic development property and provides for the payment 
of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such economic development property. 

2. Sections 4-1-175 and 12-44-70 of the Code (as such term is defined below) authorize the
County to provide special source revenue credits ("Special Source Credits") financing secured by and payable 
solely from revenues of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Sectfon 
4-29-68 of the Code, namely: the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or
expanding the infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal
property, including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing
facility or commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively,
"Infrastructure").

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the Act) desires to provide for the
acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute an automotive shredder residue 
recycling facility in the County for the manufacture and distribution of various metal and recycled products. 

4. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(1)( 1) of the Act, based on the representations of the
Company, the County finds that: (a) the Project (as defined herein) is anticipated to benefit the general 
public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not 
otherwise adequately provided locally; (b) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or 
any incorporated municipality and to oo charge against the general credit or taxing power of either the 
County or any incorporated municipality; (c) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper 
governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

5. Based on the representations of the Company, tl1e County Council has evaluated the Project
based on all relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 
the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, the number of jobs created, and the antjcipated 
costs and benefits to the County. 

6. The County identified the Project as a "project" for purposes of the Act by resolution,
adopted March 7. 2022. 

7. An Ordinance that the County Council adopted contemporaneously with the effective date
of this Fee Agreement ("Fee Ordinance") authorizes the County and the Company to enter into a fee 
agreement that classifies the Project as Economic Development Property under the Act, provides for the 
payment of fees in lieu of taxes, and provides for application of Speciaf Source Credits to reduce the fees 
in lieu of taxes otherwise payable with respect to tbe Project with respect to certain property tax years, all 
as further described herein. 

8. The Project is located, or, if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement, the County
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project in the Industrial Development Park (as defined herein) 

1 



or another jofot county industrial or business park created with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to 
agreement entered into in pursuant to Section 4- l - l 70, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, 
and Article Vlfl, Section 13(0) of the South Carolina Constitution (collectively, "Park Act"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFIN
I

TIONS 

Section J.I The terms that this section defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement 
have the meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

"Act" shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, and all future acts successor or supplemental 
thereto or amendatory of this Fee Agreement. 

·'Act Minimum lnvestment Requirement" shall mean an investment of at feast $2,500,000 by the
each of the Company and any Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates of property eligible as economic 
development property under the Act or a collective investment, amohg the Company and all other Sponsors 
and Sponsor Affiliates, of at least $5,000,000. 

"Code'' shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

"Commencement Date" shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase of this Fee Agreement is placed in service, which date must not be later than the last day 
of the property tax year which is 3 years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into 
this Fee Agreement. 

"Company" shall mean Last Step Recycling, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, and any 
surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other 
person or entity which may succeed to the rights and duties of the Company. 

"County" shall mean Chester County. South Carolina, a body politlc and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 
governing body of the County. 

''County Council'' shall mean tne Chester County Council the governing body of the County. 

"Department'' or "SCDOR" shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

"Diminution in Value" in respect of the Project or any Phase of the Project shall mean any reduction 
in the value using the original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step l of 
Section 4.l(b) of this Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project or such Phase and 
which are subject to FILOT Payments which may be caused by (1) the Company's or any Sponsor Affiliate's 
removal and/or disposal of equipment pursuant to Section 4.6 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a casualty to the 
Project or any Phase or portion of the Project described in Section 4.7 of this Fee Agt'eemeot; or (iijJ a 
condemnation of the Project or any Phase or portion of the Project described in Section 4.8 of this Fee 
Agreement. 

"Economic Development Property" shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the Act, selected 
and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300S or 
comparable fonn with the Department (as such filing may be amended from time to time) for each year 
within the Investment Period. 

2 



''Equipment" shall mean all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures, 
together with any and afl additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor used or 
to be used in the County by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate for the purposes described in Section 
2.2(b) of this Fee Agreement. 

·"Event of Default" shall mean any event of default specified in Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement.

"Exemption Period" shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year after
the prope1fy tax year in which an applicable piece of Economic Development Property is placed in service 
and ending on the Termination Date. In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption Period applies 
to each year's investment made during the Investment Period. 

"'Fee," "Fee in Lieu of Taxes," "Fl LOT," ·'FILOT Payments," or "Payments in Lieu of Taxes" shall 
mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property taxes as provided herein under Section 
4.1. 

''Fee Agreement" shall mean this Fee Agreement. 

"Fee Tenn" shall mean the period from the date of this Fee Agreement until the Tennination Date. 

·'Improvements" shall mean all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building
additions, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor used or to be used in the County for the purposes 
described in Section 2.2(b) of this Fee Agreement. 

"TndustriaJ Development Park" shall mean the joint county industrial / business park governed by 
the Master Agreement Governing the York-Chester Industrial Park between Chester County, South 
Carolina, and York County, S01.1th Carolina, effective December 31, 2012, (as amended, modified, and 
supplemented). 

"Infrastructure•· shall have the meaning given such term in the Recitals to this Fee Agreement. 

"Investment Commitment" shall mean, with respect to the Project investment by the Company and 
all Sponsor Affiliates of at least $42,000,000 in Economic Development Property subject (non-exempt) to 
ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee Agreement). 

''Investment Period" shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or 
acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending 5 years after the Commencement Date. 

''Non-Qualifying Property" shall mean property that is not Economic Development Property. 

"Park Act'' shall have tbe meaning given such tenn in the Recitals to this Fee Agreement. 

"Phase'' or ·'Phases" in respect of the Project shall mean that the Equipment, Improvements, and/or 
Real Property of the Project are placed in service during more than one year in the Investment .Period, and 
the word "Phase" shall therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given 
year in the Investment Period. 

"Project" shall mean all the Equipment, lmprovemerits, and/or Real Property in the County that the 
Company dete1mines to be necessary. suitable, or useful for the purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and 
first placed in service in calendar year 2022 or thereafter. The Project shiill not include, as Economic 
Development Property, existing buildings, and improvements on the Real Property, as of the date of the 
commencement of the Project by the Company, if any, and any machinery and equipment which have 
previously been subject to South Carolina ad valorem taxation, except as expressly pennitted by Section 
12-44-1 IO of the Act. provided. however. these items are considered Non-Qualifying Property.

3 



"ReaJ Property" shall mean real property that the Company uses or will use in the County for the 
purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initia.11y consisting of the land identified on Exhibit A, together 
with all and singular the rights, members, hereditaments, and appurtenances belonging or in any way 
incident or appertaining thereto, and any improvements located thereon. 

''Removed Components'' shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.6, 4.7(c) or 4.8(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement. 

"Replacement Property" shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment, any Improvement, or any Real Property previously subject to this Fee Agreement 
regardless of whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless 
of whether more than one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment, ahy Improvement, or any Real 
Property, to the fullest ex.tent that the Act permits. 

"Special Source Credits" shall have the meaning given such tetm in the Recitals to this Fee 
Agreement 

"Special Source Credit Act" shall mean Sections 4-1-175 and 12-44-70 of the Code, and all

successor statutes. 

"Sponsor Affiliate" shall mean an entity that joins with or is an affiliate of, the Company and that 
participates in the investment in, or financing of, the Project and Which meets the requirements under the 
Act to be entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project. 

''State" shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

"Termination Date" shall mean in case the entire Project is placed in service in one year, the end 
of the fast day of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which 
the entire Project is placed in service, or in case there are Phases of the Project, the Termination Date shall 
mean with respect to each Phase of the Project the end of the last day of the property tax year which is the 
29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of the Project is placed in service, 
provided, tbat the intention of the parties is that the Company will make 30 annual PILOT Payments under 
Article IV of this Fee Agreement with respect to each Phase of the Project and provided further, that if this 
Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Fee Agreement, the Termination 
Date is the date of such termination. 

Sectio.n 1.2 Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this 
Fee Agreement shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such 
agreement or document. 

Section 1.3 The term "investment'' or ''invest'' as used herein shall include not only 
investments made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by 
Jaw, those investments made by or for the benefit of the Company or Sponsor Affiliate in connection with 
the Project through federaJ, state, or local grants. to the e1<.tent such investments are subject to ad valoretn 
taxes or FI LOT Payments by the Company. 

ARTICLE TI 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES. AND AGREEMENTS 

Section 2.1 Represehtations. Warranties, and Agreements of the County. The Cotmty hereby 
represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State
.and acts through the County Counci I as its governing body. The Act. the Park Act and the Special Source 

4 



Credit Act authorize and empower the County to enter into the transactions that this Fee Agreement 
contemplates and to c,a,1-ry out its obligations hereunder ... The C0tmty has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken aJI actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based on the representations of the Company, the Project constitutes a "project'' 
within the meaning of the Act, and the County is a County that the Act authorizes to enter into foe in lieu 
of tax agreeme.nts with companies that satisfy the Act Minimum Investment Requirement within the 
County. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of reaJ and tangible persohal property
comprising the Project which is ejjgible to be economic development property under the Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in South Carolina. 

(d) The County will not be in default in any of its obligations (contractual or
otherwise), including any violation of its statutory debt limit, as a result of entering into and pe,forming 
under this Fee Agreement and/or as a result of including the Project in an Industrial Development Park. 

(e) The County will take all reasonable action to include the Project in the Industrial
Development Park (or another joint county industrial and business park established in accordance with the 
Park Act) and ensure the Project remains in the Industrial Development Park (or such other park) until the 
Termination Date. 

(f) The millage rate set forth in Section 4.l(b) of this Fee Agreement is the millage
rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30 20[22], as pennitted under 
Section 12-44-S0(A)(l)(d) of the Act. 

Section 2.2 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company. The Company 
hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as fol lows: 

(a) The Company is in good standing under the laws of the state in which it is
incorporated or organized, js duly authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority 
prior to commencing business in the State), has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly 
authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a "'project" within the meaning of
the Act as in effect on the date of this Fee Agreement. The Company intends to operate the Project as an 
automotive shredder residue recycling facility, and for such other purposes that the Act permits as the 
Company may deem appropriate. 

(c) The Company will use commercially reasonable- efforts to ensure that its
investment (together with that of all Sponsor Affiliates) in Economic Development Property of the Project 
will exceed the Act Minimum Investment Requirement. 

(d) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to invest (together with
aJI Sponsor Affiliates) at least the Investment Commitment in the Project during the Investment Period. 

5 



ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

Section 3 .1 The Project. The Company shall invest in Equipment, Improvements, and/or Real 
Property, which together comprise the Project and which investment equals at least the Act Minimum 
Investment Requirement in eligible Economic Development Property investment subject to FILOT 
Payments in the County. 

The parties hereto agree that, to the extent that applicable law allows or is revised or construed to 
allow the benefits of the Act, in the fonn of fILOT Payments to be made under Article JV of this Fee 
Agreement, to be applicable to leased assets including, but not limited to a building and/or personal property 
to be installed in the buildings and leased to but not purchased by the Company from one or more Sponsor 
Affiliates under any fotm of lease, then such property shall, at the election of the Company, be subject to 
FTLOT Payments to the same extent as the Company's assets covered by this Fee Agreement, subject, at 
all times, to the requirement of such applicable Jaw. The parties hereto further agree that this Fee Agreement 
may be interpreted or modified as may be necessary or appropriate to give proper application of this Fee 
Agreement to such tangible property without such construction or modification constituting an amendment 
to this Fee Agreement, and thus not requiring any additional action by the County Council. The County 
Council Interim Chair/County Supervisor, after consulting with legal counsel to the County, shall be and 
hereby is authorized to make such modifications, if any, as may be necessary or appropriate in connection 
therewith. Such leased property shall constitute a part of the Project for all purposes of this Fee Agreement, 
removal, replacement, and termination, and such Sponsor Affiliate shall be deemed to be a party to this Fee 
Agreement provided, however, that no Sponsor Affiliate shall be liable for any payments pursuant to 
Section 4.1 of this Fee Agreement, which shall remain the Company's liability. 

Pursuant to the Act, the Company and the County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall identify annually those assets which are eligible for FILOT Payments and which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300S 
form (or comparable form for Economic Development Property) to be filed with the Department (as each 
may be amended from time to time) and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become 
Economic Development Property and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the 
Exemption Period. Anything contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the 
Company shall not be obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, 
together with any Sponsor Affiliates, does not maintain the Act Minimum Investment Requirement beyond 
any applicable time to cure, this Fee Agreement, the same shall be an Event of Default as provided in 
Section .5 .1 (b ). 

Section 3.2 Diligent Completion. The Company agrees to use reasooable efforts to cause the 
completion of the Project as soon as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the eud of the Investment 
Period, 

Section 3.3 Filings and Reports. 

(a) Eacb year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the
County Council Interim Chair/County Supervisor, the County Auditor, the County Assessor, and the 
County Treasurer, a copy of its most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, 
not later than 30 days following delive1y of this Fee Agreement to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor 
of the County and any partner county, when the Project is placed in an Industrial Development Park, and 
the Department within 30 days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all parties 

hereto. 

6 



Section 4.1

ARTICLE IV 

PAYMENTS IN LIEU OFT AXES 

FlLOT Payments. 

(a) the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, are required to make
Fl LOT Payments on all Economic Development Property comprising the Project and placed in service, 
with respect to each Phase of the Project,. within the Investment Period. 

(b) Payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes are to be calculated as follows:

Step 1; Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or 
Phase of tbe Economic Development Property) placed in service during the 
Exemption Period using original income tax basis for State income tax 
purposes for any Real Property and Improvements without regard to 
depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the Act 
defines such term, that the Compaoy, and any Sponsor Affiliates, obtains by 
construction or purchase in an arms-length transaction is equal to the original 
income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market value is 
by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for 
any persohal property less depreciation for each year allowable for property 
tax purposes, except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable. 
The fair market value of the Rea] Property for the first year of the Fee Term 
remains the fair market value of the Real Property for the life of the Fee Tenn. 
The detennination of these values shall take into account all applicable 
property tax exemptions that State law would allow to the Company if the 
property were taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-44-S0(A)(2) 
of the Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of 6% to the fair market value in Step 1 to establish 
the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the 

Economic Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each 
of the 29 years thereafter or such longer period of years in which the Act 
permits the Company to make annual fee payments. 

Step 3: Multiply the taxable value determined in the preceding step by the millage rate 
of [0.48931, which shall be fixed for the length of this Fee Agreement. 

(c) The FILOT Payments shall be in lieu of all ad valorem tax payments and any other
charges that would have appeared on the pr-0pe1ty tax bills otherwise generated by the County in the absence 
of this Fee Agreement. 

1n the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an agreement of the patties 
determines that the calculation of the minimum FILOT Payment applicable to this transaction is to be other 
than by the procedure herein, the payment shall be reset at the minimum pennitted level so detennined. 

Subject to Section 6.8 of this Fee Agreement, in the event that a final order of a court of competent 
jurisdiction from which no further appeal is allowable declares the Act and/or the herein-described 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express 
their intentions to reform such payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent of this Fee Agreement 
and so as to afford the Company with the benefits to be derived herefrom, the i11tention of the County being 
to offer the Company a strong inducement to locate the Project in the County. If any portion of the Project 
is deemed to be subject to ad valofem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company shall 
pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with appropriate reductions 
equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Cawpany. Any amount detennined to be due and 

7 



owing to the County from the Company, with respect to a year or years for which the Company previousJy 
remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable tax exemptions 
to which the Company would be entitled if the Economic Development Property was not and had not been 
Economic Development Property under the Act; and (ii) be reduced by the total amount ofFILOT Payments 
the Company had made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms of this Fee Agreement. 
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, neither the Company nor any successor in title 
or interest shall be required to pay FI LOT Payments and ad valorem taxes for the same property over the 
same period in question. 

Section 4.2 Special Source Credits. 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to the Special Source Credit Act, in order to
reimburse the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for costs of 
the Infrastructure during the Investment Period, the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to 
receive, and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company's and any 
Sponsor Affiliates' FlLOT Payments for a period of five consecutive years in an amount equal to fifty percent 
of that portion of FILOT Payments payable by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the 
Project (that is, with respect to investment made in the Praject during the Investment Period), calculated and 
applied prior to any payment of any amount due to York County under the agreement governing the 
Industrial Development Park (or other non-host county under a substitute park agreement, if applicable). 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for 
any portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. ln no event shall 
the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates 
exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. 

(c) Should the Investment Commitment not be met by the end of the Investment
Period, any Special Source Credits otherwise payable under this Agreement shall no longer be payable by 
the County, and the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates shall be retroactively liable to the County for the 
amount of the Special Source Credits previously received by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates, 
plus interest at the rate payable for late payment of taxes. Any amounts detennined to be owing pursuant 
to the foregoing sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the sixtieth day following the last day 
of the lnvestment Period. 

(d) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source
Credit is taken against FILOT Payments on personal property, and the personal property is removed from 
the Project at any time during the tenn of this Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement 
property), the amount of the FI LOT Payment due on the personal property for the year in which the personal 
property was removed from the Project shall be due for the two years immediately following such removal. 

(e) To claim each Special Source Credit, the Company shall file with the County
Supervisor, the County Auditor, and the County Treasurer, no later than the date on which the FJLOT 
Payment is due in each year in which the Company is entitled to claim a Special Source Credit, an Annual 
Special Source Credit Revenue Certification, the form of which is attached as Exhibit C, showing the 
amount of aggregate investment in qualifying infrastructure and the calculation of the Special Source 
Credit. The County is entitled to con.firm the infonnation (including the calculation) on the Annual Special 
Source Revenue Credit Certification prior to remitting any amount that might otherwise be due to the 
Company. If the information contained on the Annual Special Source Revenue Credit Certification is 
co1Tect, then the County shall remit any refund due no more than 30 days after receiving the Company's 
FlLOT Payment. In no event is the County required to remit any payment to the Company while any of the 
Company's taxes or FILOT Payments have been invoiced by the County but remain outstanding, including 
for any taxes or FI LOT Payments that may have been protested by the Company. 

8 



(£) THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS ARE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE FILOT

PAYMENTS, ARE NOT SECURED BY, OR IN ANY WAY ENTITLED TO, A PLEDGE OF THE FULL FAITH, 
CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY, ARE NOT AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN TUE 

MEANING OF ANY STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION OR STATUTORY LIMITATION, ARE PAYABLE 
SOLELY FROM A SPECIAL SOURCE THAT DOES NOT INCLUDE REVENUES FROM ANY TAX OR LICENSE, 

AND ARE NOT A PECUNlARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDlT 

OR TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY. 

Section 4.3 Payments in Lieu of Taxes on Replacement Property. If the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any R,emoved Components and to substitute such Removed Components 
with Replacement Property, as a part of the Economic Development Property, or the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement Property, then, pursuant and subject to Section 12-44-60 
of the Act, the Company shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard to such 
Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(a) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the Economic
Development Property it is replacing. Replacement Property is deemed to replace the oldest Economic 
Development Property subject to the Fee, whether real or personal, which is disposed of in the same 
property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service. Replacement Property qualifies 
as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the original income tax basis of Economic 
Development Property which is being disposed of in the same property tax year. More than one piece of 
property can replace a single piece of Economic Development Property. To the extent that the income tax 
basis of the Replacement Property exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development 
Property which it is replacing, the excess amount is subject to annual payments calculated as if the 
exemption for Economic Development Property were not allowable. Replacement Property is entitled to 
treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period of time remait1ing during the Exemption Period for the 
Economic Development Property which it is' replacing; and 

(b) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the Fee shall be recorded using
its income tax basis, and the calculation of the Fee shall utilize the millage rate and assessment ratio in 
effect with regard to the original property subject to the Fee. 

Section 4.4 Reductions in Payments of Taxes Upon Removal, Condemttation, or Casualty. In 
the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property or any Phase of the Economic 
Development Property, the Payment in Lieu of Tax.es with regard to the Economic Development Property 
or that Phase of the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the same proportion as the amount 
of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the Economic Development Property 
or that Phase of the Economic Development Property as dete1mined pursuant to Step l of Section 4. l(b) of 
this Fee Agreement; provided, however, that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, 
the total value of the Project based on the original income tax basis of the Equipment, Real Property, and 
Improvements contained therein, without deduction for depreciation, is less than the Act Minimum 
Investment Requirement, beginning with the first payment thereafter due hereunder and continuing until 
the end of the Fee Term, the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates shall no longer be entitled to the incentive 
provided in Section 4.1, and shall therefore commence to pay regular ad valorern truces on the Economic 
Development Property part of the Project. 

Section.4.5 Place of Payments in Lieu of Taxes. Tbe Company and all Sponsor Affiliates shall 
make the Payments in Lieu of Taxes directly to the County in accordance with applicable law. 

Section 4.6 Removal of Economic Development Property. Subject, always. to the other tenns 
and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates, in their sole discretion, shall 
be entitled to remove and dispose of components or Phases of the Project from the Project with the result 
that said components or Phases shall no longer constitute Economic Development Property, and will no 
longer be subject to the terms of this Pee Agreement to the fullest eA'tent allowed by the Act. Economic 
Development Property is disposed of only when it is scrapped or sold or it is removed from the Project. 

9 



Section 4.7 Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property. 

(a) Election to Tenninate. In the event the Economic Development Property is
damaged by fire, explosion, or any other casualty, the Company shall be entitled to tenninate this Fee 
Agreement. The Company shall only be required to make FI LOT Payments as to aJl or any part of the tax 
year in which the damage or casualty occurs to the extent property subject to ad valorem taxes would 
otherwise have been subject to such taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question. 

(b) Election to Rebuild. In the event the Economic Development Property is damaged
by fire, explosion, or any other casualty, and if the Company does not elect to tenninate this Fee Agreement, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may commence to restore the Economic Development Property 
with such reductions or enlargements in the scope of the Economic Development Property, changes, 
alterations, and modifications (including the substitution and addition of other property) as may be desired 
by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates. All such restorations and replacements shall be considered, 
to the fullest e:-..tent pennitted by law and this Fee Agreement, substitutions of the destroyed portions of the 
Economic Development Property and shall be considered part of the Economic Development Property for 
all purposes of this Fee Agreement, including, but not limited to, any amounts due by the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates to the County under Section 4.1 of this Fee Agreement. 

(c) Election to Remove. In the event the Company elects not to tenninate this Fee
Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and elects not to rebuild pursuant to subsection (b), the damaged 
portions of the Economic Development Property shall be treated as Removed Components. 

Section 4.8 Condemnation. 

(a) Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Tenn title to or temporary use of
the Economic Development Property should become vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue 
of the exercise of a taking by condem11ation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by 
voluntary transfer under threat of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic 
Development Property which renders continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property 
commercially unfeasible in the judgment of the Company, the Company shall have the option to tenninate 
this Fee Agreement by sending written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following 
such vesting. 

(b) Partial Taking. In the event of a partial ta!<ing of the Economic Development
Property or a transfer in lieu of this Fee Agreement, the Company may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee 
Agreement; (ii) subject to the Act and the tenns and provisions of this Fee Agreement, to repair and restore 
the Economic Development Property, with such reductions or enlargemehts in the scope of the Economic 
Development Property, changes, alterations, and modifications (including the substitution and addition of 
other property) as the Company may desire, and all such changes, alterations, and modifications shall be 
considered as substitutions of the taken patis of the Economic Development Property; or (iii) to treat the 
portions of the Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components. 

(c) The Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliates, shall only be required to
make PILOT Payments as to all or any part of the tax year in which the taking occurs to the extent property 
subject to ad valorem taxes would otherwise have been subject to such taxes under the same circumstances 
for the period in question. 

Section 4.9 Confidentiality/Limitation on Access to Project. The County acknowledges and 
understands that the Company utilizes confidential and proprietary processes and materials. services, 
equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (herein ''Confidential Information'') and that any disclosure of 
Confidential lnfonnation concerning the Company's operations may result in substantial hann to the 
Company and could thereby have a significant detrimental impact on the Company's employees and also 
upon the County. The Company acknowledges that the County is subject to the Freedom of Information 
Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and information on request absent an exemption. 

10 



Therefore, the County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, 
or contractor of the County shall (i) request or be entitled to receive any such Confidential Information, or 
(ii) disclose or otherwise divulge any such Confidential lnfonnation to any other person, ftnn, governmental
body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so by law; provided, however, that
the County shall have no less rights concerning infonnation relating to the Project and the Company than
concerning any other property or property taxpayer in the County, and, provided further, that the
confidentiality of such confidential or proprietary information is clearly disclosed to the County in writing
as previously described. Prior to disalosing any Confidential Information, subject to the requirements of
law, the Company may require the execution of reasonable, individual, confidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements by any officers, employees, or agents of the County or any supporting or cooperating
governmental agencies who would gather, receive, or review such infonnation. In the event that the County
is required to disclose any Confidential lnfonnation obtained from the Company to any third party, the
County agrees to provide the Company with as much advance notice as possible of such requirement before
making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Company to obtain judicial
or other relief from such disclosure requirement.

Section 4.10 Assignment. If Section 12-44-120 of the Act or any successor provision requires 
consent to an assignment, the Company may assign this Fee Agreement in whole or in part with the prior 
written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which consent or 
ratification the County will not unreasonably withhold. The Company agrees to notify the County and the 
Department of the identity of such transferee within 30 days of the transfer. In case of a transfer, the 
transferee assumes the transferor's basis in the Project for purposes of calculating the Fee. No approval is 
required for transfers to a Sponsor Affiliate or other financing related transfers, as described i11 the Act. 

Section 4. l l No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. 

(a) Notwithstanding anythjng contained herein to the contrary, and except as expressly
required by law, neither the Company nor any Sponsor Affiliate shall ever be required to make a Payment 
in Lieu of Taxes in addition to a regular property tax payment in the same year over the same -piece of 
property, nor shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be required to make a Payment in Lieu of Taxes 
on property in cases where, absent this Fee Agreement, property taxes would otherwise not be due on such 
property. 

Tn case there is any legislation enacted which provides for more favorable treatment for property to 
qualify as, or for the calculation of the fee related to, Economic Development Property under Sections 4.4, 
4.6, 4.7, 4.8, or the calculation of the Investment Period, the County agrees to give consideration to such 
legislation. 

Section 4.12 Administration Expenses. The Company shall pay the County's legal fees incurred 
with the preparation of this Agreement, various conferences with County staff, and attendance at County 
meetings, and other related matters, in an amount not to exceed $7,500. Such amount shall be paid within 
30 days of the Company's receipt of an invoice for legal fees, which shall contain a general (non-privileged) 
description of the services perfonned but need not include individual time entries and descriptions. 

Section 4.13 Addition of Sponsor Affiliates. Upon request of and at the expense of the 
Company, the County may approve any future Sponsor Affiliate that qualifies under the Act for the benefits 
offered under this Fee Agreement and which agrees to be bound by the provisions hereof to be further 
evidenced by such future Sponsor Affiliate entering into aJoinder Agreemen.t in a form substantially similar 
to that attached to this Fee Agreement, as Exhibit B, subject to any reasonable changes not materially 
adverse to the County. 

Section 4.14 Cessation of Operatio11s. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the 
County's obligation to provide the FfLOT incentive may end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated 
by the County, in the County's sole discretion, if the Cornpany ceases operatjons at the Project. For purposes 
of this Section, "ceases operations" means closure of the facility comprising the Project or the cessation of 

I1 



production and shipment of products for a continumls period of twelve months. 

12 



ARTICLEV 

DEFAULT 

Section 5.1 Events of Default. The following shall be "Events of Default�' under this fee 
Agreement, and the tenn ''Events of Default" shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee 
Agreement, any one or more of the following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company to make the Payments in Lieu of Taxes described in
Section 4.1 of this Fee Agreement, which failure shall not have been cured within 30 days following receipt 
of written notice of this Fee Agreement from the County; provided, however, that the Company shall be 
entitled to all redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; 

(b) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to maintain the Act Minimum
Investment at the Project; 

(c) A representation or warranty made by the Company which is deemed materially
incorrect when deemed made; 

(d) Failure by the Company to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or
covenants hereunder ( other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a period of30 days 
after written notice from the County to the Company specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the Company shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is 
diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be 
extended to cover such additional period during which the Company is diligently pursuing corrective action; 

(e) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially
incorrect when deemed made; or 

(f) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations. or
covenants hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after written notice from the 
Company to the County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County shall 

have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until the 
default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action, 

Section 5.2 'Remedies on Default. 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company shall have occurred aod shall be
continuing, the County may take any oue or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) te1minate the Fee Agreement; or

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable
to collect the amounts due hereunder. [n no event shaJI the Company be liable to
the County or otherwise for monetary damages resulting from the Company's
failure to meet the Act Minimum lnvestment Requi,-ement, other than as expressly
set forth herein.

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be
continuing, the Company may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement�

(ii) tenninate the Fee Agreement;

13 



(tii) withhold so much of the payment as is in dispute with the County until 
such dispute is fully and finally resolved; or 

(iv) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such
action as is appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent
al lowed by law.

Section 5.3 Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses. Upon the 
occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, should a party be required to employ attorneys or incut other 
reasonable expenses for the collection of payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance 
or observance of any obligation or agreement, the successful party shall be entitled, within 30 days of 
demand therefor, to reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attomeys and such other reasonable 
expenses so incurred. 

ARTICLEVl 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Sect-ion 6.1 Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be 
provided under this Fee Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when 
deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or 
with a reputable overnight delivery service (such as Federal Express or UPS), addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which 
case such provision shall control: 

AS TO THE SPONSOR: [To Come] 
Attention: D 
'Li 
D 

WITH COPIES TO: Burr & Fonnan LLP 
Attn: Brandon T. Norris 

AS TO THE COUNTY: 

I 04 South Main Stwet, Suite 700 
Greenville, South Carolina 2960 I

d1ester County, South Carolina 
Attn: Interim Chester County Supervisor 
Post Office Box 580 
Chester, South Carolina 29706 

WlTH COPIES TO: Joan E. Winters 
The Winters Law Finn 
1 05 Main Street 
Chester, South Carolina 

Michael E. Kozlarek 
King Kozlarek Law LLC 
Post Office Box 565 
Greenville, South Carolina 29602 

Section 6.2 Binding Effect. This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or 
related hereto shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company, the County, and their 
respective successors and assigns. In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any 
part of the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights df the County to any 

14 



other such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to tirne and any 
entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 
the County has been transferred. 

Section 6:3 Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number ofcounterparts, 
and all of the counterparts taken together shalJ be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 6.4 Governing Law. This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection 
herewith shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State, without regarding to 
any conflicts oflaw provisions that would necessitate the application of another jurisdiction's laws. 

Section 6.5 Headings. The beadings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 
inserted for cohvenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section~ 6.6 Amendments. The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or 
amended in writing by any agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 6.7 Further Assurance .. From tjme to thne, and at the expense of the Company, to the 
extent any expense is incun-ed, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company such additional 
instruments as the Company may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and reasonably within 
the purposes and scope of the Act and Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 6.8 Lnvalidity; Change in Laws. ln the eventthat the inclusion of property as Economic 
Development Property or any other issue is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses 
its intention that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest 
inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under 
the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit tenns of this Fee Agreement. ff any provision 
of this fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions 
of this Fee Agreement shall be unimpaired, and such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be 
reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent ofthis Fee Agreement and so as 
to afford the Company with the ma"imum be-nefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the 
County to offer the Company the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the Act, to locate 
the Project in the County. In case a change in the Act or South Carolina raws eliminates or reduces any of 
the restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and the Fee incentive, the parties agree that the 
County will give expedient and full consideration to reformation of this Fee Agreement, with a view toward 
providing the Company with the benefits of such change in the Act or South Carolina laws. 

The County agrees that in case the FfLOT incentive described herein is found to be invalid or otherwise 
does not !)rovide the Company with the economic benefit tt is intended to receive from the County as an 
inducement to locate in the County, the savings lost as a result of such invalidity will be considered a special 
source credjt or infrastructure improvement credit to the Company to the maximum extent permitted by 
law, and the County will provide a special source credit or infrastructure improvement credit against all 
FJLOT Payments made or to be made by the Company equal to the amount that the Company would have 
saved if the· PILOT had been valid, to the maximum extent permitted by law. 

Section 6.9 Force Majeure. The Company shall not be responsible for any delays or non-
performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fires, 
floods, inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or regulations, war or 
national emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar. beyond the Company's 
reasonable control. 

Section 6.10 Termination by Company. The Company is authorized to tenninate this Fee 
Agreement at any time with respect to all or pa11 of the Project upon providing the County with 30 days' 
notice� provided, however, that (i) any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and qwing at the 

15 



time of tennination to a party hereto; and (ii) any provisions which are intended to survive tennination, 
shall survive such termination. In the year following such termination, all property shall be subject to ad 
valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee 
Agreement. The Company's obligation to make fee in lieu of tax payments under this Fee Agreement shall 
terminate in the year following the year of such termination pursuant to this section. 

Section 6.11 Entire Understanding. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and 
all agreements of the parties hereto with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by 
any agreement or any representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement 
or in certificates delivered in connection with the execution and deJivery of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 6.12 Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 6.13 Business Day. In the event that any action, payment. or notice is, by the terms of 
this Fee Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal 
holiday in the jurisdfotion in which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice 
may be taken, made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required 
hereby, and no interest shall accrue in the interim. 

Section 6.14 Limitation of Liability. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any 
financial obligation the County may incur hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be 
deemed to constitute a pecuhiary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County; provided, however, 
that nothing herein shall prevent the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or 
specific perfonnance. 

Section 6.15 Indemnification Covenants. 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and save the County,
its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an "Indemnified Party") hrumless against and 
from all liability or claims arisiJ1g from the County's execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the 
County's obligations under this Fee Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Fee 
Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel, of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the Cm.inty
for all of its costs, including attorneys' fees, incurred in connection with the .response to or defense against 
such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a statement of the 
costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Company shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt 
of the statement. The Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the 
statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 
confidential to evidence the costs. 

(c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an
Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 
Indemnified Party, at the Company's expense. The Company is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage 
and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Company is 
not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Company
is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from 
any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Jndemnified Party, which are unrelated to the 
execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the County's obligations under this Fee Agreement, or 
the administration of its duties under this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having 
entered into this Fee Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party's own negligence, bad faith., 
fraud. deceit or willful misconduct. 

16 



(e) An Jndemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs
provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable 1mder the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 
any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 
afford the Company notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise 
respond to a claim. 

(ONE SJGNATURK l'AGI> M,i> THREE EXHIBITS FOLLOW I 

17 



IN WITN'ESS OF THIS FEE AGREEMENT, the County, acting by and through the County 
Council, has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the County Council 
Chairman/County Supervisor and to be attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has 
caused this Fee Agreement to be executed by its duly at1thorized officer, all as of the day and year first 
above written. 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

Clerk to Council 

CHESTER COUNTY, soum CAROLINA 

Interim Chairman/Supervisor 
Chester County Council 

LAST STEP RECYCLING, LLC, 
a Georgia limited liabiJity company 

Signature: ____________ _ 

Name: _____________ _ 

Title: ______________ _ 

18 



EXHJBJT A 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

All that piece, parcel or tract of land containing [TO COME] 

[TOCOME·J 

19 



EXHIBITB 

F'ORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT 

.JO IND ER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to (i) that certain Fee and Special Source Credit Agreement effective April 
4, 2022 ("Fee Agreement"), between Chester County, Sot1th Carolina ("County") and Last Step Recycling, 
LLC, a Georgia limited liability company ("Company''). 

1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. The undersigned hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to be bound
by and subject to all of the tenns and conditions of, the Fee Agreement; (b) acknowledges and agrees that 
(i) in accordance the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as a Sponsor Affiliate by the
Company for purposes of the Project and such designation has been consented to by the County in
accordance wjth the Act (as defined in the Fee Agreement); (ii) the undersigned qualifies or will qualify as 
a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Act;
and (iii) the undersigned shall have alf of the rights and obligations of a Sponsor Affiliate as set forth in the
Fee Agreement.

2. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used but not defined in this Joinder Agreement shall have
the meanings set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

3. Governing Law. This Joi11der Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of South Carolina, without regard to principles of choice of law. 

4. Notice. Notices under Section 6.1 of the fee Agreement shall be sent to:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 
the date set forth below. 

(JOINING COMP ANY) 

Signature: _____________ _ 

Name: ______________ _

Title: ______________ _ 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF. the Company consents to the addition of the above-named entity becoming 
a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above. 

LAST STEP RECYCLING, 
a Georgia limited liability company 

Signature: _____________ _ 

Name: ______________ _ 

Title: ___ _ _ _________ _ 

20 



lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County consents to the addition of the above-named entity as a Sponsor 
Affiliate under the .fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

Signature: ____________ _ 

Name: _____________ _ 

Title: ______________ _ 

21 



EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF ANNUAL SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT CERTIFICATE 

References is made to that certain Fee and Special Source Credit Agreement effective April 4, 2022 
{''Pee Agreement"), between Chester County, South Carolina ("County") and Last Step Recycling, LLC, a 
Georgia limited liability company ("C9mpany"). Each capitalized term used in this Certificate, but not 
defined in this Certificate has the meaning ascribed to that te,m in the Fee Agreement. 

According to Section 4.2 of the Fee Agreement, the undersigned authorized officer of the Company 
certifies to the County as follows: 

1. The Company is entitled to claim a Special Source Credit (·'SSC") against each FILOT Payment,
on or before the date after which ad va/orem taxes become delinquent in which a FILOT Payment is due 
with respect to the Project up to 50% of each of the FI LOT Payments for a period of five consecutive years. 

2. The invoice for the annual FI LOT Payment for tax year 20 __ -7 provided by the County Auditor,
specifies the FILOT Payment due, with respect to the Project. on Janmuy ____ , 20

-----> 
to be: 

$. ____________ _ 

3. The Company made, in aggregate,$ ____________ in qualifying investment at
the Project. 

4. The Company is entitled to an SSRC for this tax year, calculated as follows:

FILOT Payment x 50% == $ ___________ _ 

5. The total amount that the Company is entitled to have the County refund (following payment of
I 00% of the FILOT Payment due), representing all or a portion of the FILOT Payment, is: 

$ ____________ _ 

6. The SSC specified in this Certificate for the current property tax year, together with the amount of
all SSCs previously claimed pursuant to the Fee Agreement, do not, in the aggregate, exceed the total cost 
of aJ I infrastructure im prov em en ts funded by the Company for which an SSC is permitted under the Act. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certificate as of _________ _ 

LAST STEP RECYCLING, LLC, 

a Georgia Umited liability company 

Signature: _____________ _ 

Name: ______________ _ 

Title: _______________ _ 

22 



1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) Ordinance No.2022-4 
) 

COUNTY OF CHESTER  ) 

AN ORDINANCE TO INCREASE ADOPTION FEES FOR CHESTER COUNTY ANIMAL 
CONTROL 

WHEREAS, Chester County has experienced increased costs for the spaying and 

neutering of rescued animals; and 

WHEREAS, Chester County has not increased the fees imposed on adoptions for 

dogs and cats from the Animal Shelter for some time and have not kept up with the 

costs incurred by the Animal Shelter; and 

WHEREAS, Chester County must always operate in the best interest of the 

County and thus the taxpayer in expenditures; and  

WHEREAS, Chester County must recognize the need for an increase in adoption 

fees for rescued animals, specifically for dogs from $25.00 to $75.00 and for cats from 

$20.00 to $50.00. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER 

COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, DULY ASSEMBLED THAT: 

The Chester County Council does hereby authorize an increase in adoption fees 

for rescued animals, specifically for dogs from $25.00 to $75.00 and for cats from $20.00 

to $50.00. 

This Ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the Chester County Council 

on the date of the final reading approval. 



2 

Ordinance No.2022-4 

Enacted and approved this ____day of _________, 2022. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:_________________________________ 
Dr. Wylie Frederick 

Interim County Supervisor 

Attest: 

By:________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 
Chester County, South Carolina 

First Reading:  March 7th, 2022 
Second Reading: March 21st, 2022 
Public Hearing: April 4th, 2022  
Third Reading:  April 4th,  2022  



3/11 /22, 11 :49 AM Lancaster Animal shelter adoption fee - Google Search 

Go.ogle Lancaster Animal shelter adoption fee 

Q. All () Shopping lg) News (;) Maps G) Images ; More 

About 1.300,000 results (0.80 seconds) 

$200.00

X 

Tools 

Adoption Fees: Puppies: $200.00 - Includes full veterinary exam, spay/neuter, microchip, deworming and 
age-appropriate vaccines. Adult Dogs / Seniors: $200.00 - Includes veterinary exam, heartworm test, 
geriatric blood work {if needed}, spay/neuter, microchip, deworming, rabies vaccine and adult booster. 

https://www.lancasterspca.net, available-for-adoption 

Available Pets I Lancaster SC 

@ About featured snippets • D Feedback 

https://www.lancastersheltersc.com 

Lancaster County Animal Shelter I Lancaster, South Carolina 
Adoption fees cover the costs of these services. Our goal here at the shelter is to help the over
population on cats and dogs by spaying and neutering all of ... 
Animals at the Shelter · Online Dog Adoption Application · Adoption Process · About 

https://www.lancastersheltersc.com, fee-schedule 

Fee Schedule I Lancaster SC Animal Shelter 
Adoption Fees. Dogs. $100 Includes Spay/Neuter and Microchip. Cats. $80 Includes 
Spay/Neuter and Microchip. Owner Surrender. All animals - $25. 

https://www.lancasterspca.net, online-applicat1on 

Ado tion Agglicati..Q.o Lla.nc_aster.._SecA..0_f...S 0_utb Carolina.----
Adoption Process: We do not operate a shelter. All animals are placed in foster homes until a 
permanent home is found If you are interested in meeting one ... 

https://www.adoptapet.com, adopt1on_rescue, 75534- .. 

Humane Society of Lancaster SC - Adopt-a-Pet.com 
Regular adoption fee for pups/dogs Is $200 and S 1 SO for cats/kittens, which, age appropriate, 
includes spay/neuter & microchip with our vet & spay/neuter clinic ... 

https://animalcare.lacounty.gov , faqs 

FAQs - Animal Care and Control 

Why Adopt from Us?; Dog, $50 ($30 if in the animal care center for more than 1 O days), 
Spay/neuter· S50. (plus pain medication, if needed: $10). Microchip:. 

https://www.yorkcountygov.com , Animals-for-Adoption 

Animals for Adoption I York, SC 
Adopting a pet at the York County Animal Control Adoption Center is easy: The adoption fee is 
$77.00. You will need a government issued photo ID 
Missing: lcaAea&tE!f I Must include: Lancaster 

https://www.kchumanesociety.org 

Kershaw County Humane Society I Pet Adoptions I Animal ... 
Food Truck Festival at Historic Camden April 9th - 3pm - 7pm. Buy wristbands In advance at the 
shelter and/or at the event gate. 

https://www.petfinder.com , member lancaster-spca-s . 

Pets for Adoption at Lancaster SPCA - SC, in ... - Petfinder 

Lancaster Health and 
Rehabilit

·
•·on Suites 

ft Jack' 
T 9F 

Lancaster County Animal Shelter 

Website Directions Save 

3.9 27 Google reviews 

Animal shelter in Lancaster County, South Carolina 

Address: 2074 Pageland Hwy, Lancaster, SC 29720 

Hours: Opens soon • 12PM. 

Phone: {803) 286-8103 

Suggest an edit · Own this business? 

Questions & answers 
See all questions (14) 

Ask a 

Reviews Wrl1e a review Ad 

@ Th'tsl)lill:etrasa-dorabl& cats anadogs:allloo ing , 
forever home.' 

0 

0 

·so why werent the puppies held there for S days in c 
owner showed up???" 

e 'Nice people very friendly." 

View all Google reviews 

From Lancaster County Animal Shelter 

"County Animal Shelter caring for homeless animals." 

Profiles 

Facebook 

People also search for View· 

Humane Chester York Humane Je 
Society of County County Society of Pl, 
York Cou .. Animal C ... Animal C ... Union Co ... Re 
Animal Animal Animijl Pet adoption Ani 
protection shelter cQntrol service res 
organization S8ft,(1Ce ser 

About this data 

https://www.google.com/search ?q =Lancaster+ Animal +shelter+adoption+fee&rlz= 1 C 1 GCEU _ en U S979U S979&ei=M HkrY sOBM MCJwbkP8 _ -9-AM&ve 1 /2 



3/11/22, 11 :49 AM York Sc county Animal shelter adoption fee - Google Search 

Go gle York Sc county Animal shelter adoption fee 

0. All (} Shopping @ News 0 Maps � Images ; More 

About 20,000,000 results (0.87 seconds) 

https://www.yorkcountygov.com • Animals-for-Adoption 

Animals for Adoption I York, SC 

X 

Adopting a pet at the York County Animal Control Adoption Center ,s easy: The adoption fee Is 
$�7 Ol Ynu will need a government issued photo ID. 

https://www.yorkcountygov.com , Fee-Schedule 

Fee Schedule I York, SC 
Board Fee Per Day, $15.00 (dogs, cats, or fowl). $30 00 (livestock) Owner Surrender Fee, $50 per 
animal/ $75 per litter of 3 or more animals .. 

https://www.facebook.com • . • Animal Shene, 

York County Animal Shelter - Home I Facebook 
York County Animal Shelter, York, South Carolina . ... Price Range - $ .. We must decrease 
euthanasia of adoptable animals and increase adoptions of __ 

Rating: 4. 7 · 50 votes 

https://humanesocietyofyorkcounty.org , adopt , adopt. . 

Adoption Process - Humane Society of York County 
$200 for dogs; $1 00 for cats. Our adoption fee includes that each pet is spayed/neutered, 
m1crochipped, and vaccinated to their age They are also tested 

hnps://humanesocietyofyorkcounty.org 

Humane Society of York County: Home 
--�we-exrsrro-prevenn1111lffiit!rn1fering,to reduce animal overpopulation by promoting ... about 

animal welfare, and to place adoptable animals in loving homes. 

https://www.petfmder.com , member, sc , york-count. 

York County Animal Control - Petfmder 
Learn more about York County Animal Control in York, SC, and search the available pets they 
have up for adoption on Petfinder 

https:f/www.adoptapet.com • adopt,on_rescue, 1046 7. 

York County Animal Shelter in York, South Carolina - Adopt-a ... 

1. Visit the Facility and Find a Pet · 2. Meet the Pet - 3. Sign Adoption Contract • 4 Pay Fee - 5. 
Take the Pet Home. 

https://www.countyoffice.org • .. • York County , York 

Adopt-A-Pet of York County - York, SC (Address and Phone) 
Looking for Adopt-A-Pet of York County adoptions or lost pet reports? Quickly find Animal 
Shelter phone number, directions & services (York, SC) 

https://ycspca.org • adopt , available-dogs 

Adopt : Available Dogs - York County SPCA 
Meet the dogs looking for a new best friend at the York County SPCA' Submit your adoption 
application for an animal directly on their profile 
Missing: Se I Must include: Sc 

https://www.heraldonline.com, local, art1clel 54836254 

Looking for a pet? York County may have a deal for you. 
Jun 8, 2017 - The York County Animal Sheher typically charges $77 per adoption. That fee 

Tools 

',-Y 
� 

Rainbo
�

nuts 

Moss Justice Center � � "-

York County Animal Control 

Website Directions Save 

3.7 7 4 Google reviews 

Animal control service in York County, South Carolina 

Address: 713 Justice Blvd. York, SC 29745 

Hours: Open · Closes 3PM • 

Phone: (803) 628-3190 

Suggest an edit · Own this business? 

Questions & answers 
Q: Why is it that a dog cannot lay in the front yard 
without someone trying to have it taken away? 

Ask a 

A: Liberal hacks thinks they have the right to conttol everyor 
letting their own kids loot bum and destroy other peoples �liv�---, 
See all questions (39) 

Popular times @ 

MON TUE WED THU 

�. 11 AM: Usually a little busy 

I I I I I 
9a 12p 3p 

0 People typically spend 15 min here 

Reviews from the web 

4. 7 / 5 Facebook SO votes 

Reviews 

FRI SAT 

6p 

Write a review Ad 

'My husband and I adopted our dog, Jada from here 
two months ago.' 

a 

'Could use a bit of stuff to rid the odor t!iough.' 

'It's not a good place for young kids or people with s 
issues." 

View all Google reviews 

Profiles 

https ://www.google.com/search ?q= York+Sc+cou nty+ Animal+shelter+adoption +fee&rlz= 1 C 1 GCEU _ en U S979US979&ei=dX0rYo _ eMJqMwbkP2dG8iA..  1 /2 



3/11/22 , 11:50 AM fairfield Sc county Animal shelter adoption fee - Google Search 

Go gle fairfield Sc county Animal shelter adoption fee 

Q All O Shopping @ News Q Images (;) Maps ; More 

About 854,000 results (0.78 seconds) 

https://www.fairf1eldsc.com > residents , anImal-adopt1.. 

Animal Adoption Center I Fairfield County, South Carolina 

X 

We've outgrown our space' Adoption Fee. Dogs Puppies $85 JC � ats Kittens: $85 00 *All 
fees are non-refundable. 

https://www.facebook.com , , Animal Shelter 

Fairfield County Animal Control and Adoption Center - Facebook 
If your pet is missing please contact our office as soon as possible. If your pet Is at our fac1ltty, 
there Is a $25 return to owner fee (per animal) and . 

Rating: 4.6 · 78 votes 

https://www.adoptapet.com, adopt1on_rescue > 93094-. 

Fairfield County Animal Adoption in Winnsboro, South Carolina 
Fairfield County Animal Adoplion's Adoption Process. Once an application is completed and 
approved there is an adoption fee of $80 for dogs and $40 for cats. 

https://www.fairhumane.org 

Fairfield Area Humane Society - Lancaster, Ohio 43130 
The Fairfield Area Humane Society Is an independent. non-profit, no-kill* organization dedicated 
to the humane treatment of animals through protection, ... 
Adopt A Pet · How To Help· Membership/Supporters · Services 

_____ htt12s://www.co.fairfield.oh.us , dog 

Fairfield County Dog Adoption Center & Shelter 
Fairfield County Dog Adoption Center & Shelter. View Our Adoptable Dogs. DOG ADOPTION 
CENTER & SHELTER 1715 Granville Pike Lancaster, Ohio 43130. CONTACT US 

https://www.co.fairfreld.oh.us, FC·Adoptable-Dogs 

Fairfield County Dog Adoption Center & Shelter 
We believe every dog deserves and belongs in a loving home. We hold lost dogs brought in to the 
Shelter for 3 days to see if an owner is looking for them, .. 

https://animalmission.org > adoption 

Adoption I Animal Mission 

Please visit one of your area shelters below. All pets are spay/neutered ... County) 127 Humane 
Lane Columbia, SC 29209 .. Fairfield County Adoption Center 

https://www.countyoffice.org, , South Carolina 

Fairfield County Animal Control - Winnsboro, SC (Address ... 
Winnsboro pet adoption fees, Fostering cats and dogs; Kill and no-kill policies. Animal Shelters 
near Winnsboro 

http://lex-co.sc.gov , departments , animal-services , a 

Animals for Adoption I County of Lexington 
All animals at Lexington County Animal Services undergo temperament and .. All dogs have an 
adoption fee of $40.00 and the following procedures are 
Missing: faiFlieltl I Must include: fairfteld 

http://mafiapets.org 

MAFIA· Make A Friend in Animals 

Tools 

0 

Fa1rf1eld Count)IQ 
Recreation Depanment r. 

Fd,rfield Cou�!YO 
DelentiorAmter T

.... I' W,a,sbo,o Mo,o, "" 9! '
Midlands Ted 
Coll;ge Fa,rl 

0Gordo 
Y Acade 

Fairfield County Animal Control 

Website Directions Save 

3.5 2 Google reviews 

County government office in Fairfield County, South Carolina 

Address: 2065 US-321 BYP, Winnsboro, SC 29180 

Hours: Open · Closes 4PM • 

Phone: (803) 635-9944 

Suggest an edit · Own this business? 

Questions & answers 
See all questions (5) 

Reviews from the web 

4. 6/ Facebook 78 votes 

Reviews 

2 Google reviews 

Profiles 

Facebook 

People also search for 

Fairfield Fairfield Animal 
Animal County Control 
Hospital Clerk-Court Animal 

Veterinarian County control 
government service 

office 

About this data 

Ask a 

Write a review Ad 

View· 

Final Fa 
Victory co 
Animal R. .. as: 
Ani111al Ta, 
shelter de1 

https://www.google.com/search ?q =fairfield ++Sc+county+ Ani mal+shelter+adoption +fee&rlz= 1 C 1 GCE U _ enU S9 79U S979&ei=oXOrYpiaC6CNwbkPhvaa. .  . 1 /2 



3/11/22, 11:11 AM 

Flash:OFF [§:J This site is designed for use with 
Macromedia Flash Player. Click here 
to install. 

Contact Info 

Union County SC 
Union County Court House 
210 W. Main Street 
Union, SC 29379 
Phone: 864-429-1600 
Fax: 864-429-1603 
Contact Via Email 

Menu 
> Home 

Elected Officials 
Sheriff 
Supervisor & County Council 
Departments A-D 
De artments E-=Z ______ _ 
Municipalities 

> Magistrate Court 

> Veterans Affairs Office 

Online Forms and Documents 

> Election Commission 

, Procurement 

Login 

User Login 

County or Union, South Carolina - Union County Animal Control and Shelter 

Home Page COVID-19 Event Calendar Quick Links Employment Opportunities 

Union County Animal Control and Shelter 

Animal Control and Shelter 
Animal Control Officer 
1647 Jonesville Hwy 
Union. SC 29379 
(864) 429-2808 

Monday-Friday 
8:00am - 5:00pm 
Animal Control Officer on duty 

dkitchens@countyofunion.com 

The Animal Control Officer has lhe responsibility of helping to 
control the animal population in Union County by picking up 
unwanted pets and lost or stray animals.County Animal 
Control service area includes the incorporated Towns of 
Carlisle, Jonesville and Lockhart. The City of Union provides 
animal control to citizens within its municipal boundaries. All 
animals (City and County) are transported to the County 
Animal Shelte,locatecr atihe eoanty"Comple,n,it1 s47--
Jonesville Highway (beside the Jail). This shelter is operated 
by the County in partnership with the City of Union. 

LIVESTOCK LAND REGISTRY 

Frequent! ( Asked Quest,0115 

What office should be called to report barking dogs, or 
other animal complaints? 
The Animal Control Officer takes all complaints regarding 
domestic animal disturbances such as barking dogs, dogs 
running at large, etc. within the County. The Officer will 
investigale the complaint and initiate action for resolution as 
required. Contact the Animal Control Office at (864) 429-2808. 

What should be done with dead animals? 
If the dead animals it is on the road way you can call SCOOT 
at (864) 427-3575 . If the dead animal is on private property, 
the property owner is responsible for removal. 

What should be done with an injured or wounded animal? 
Notify Animal Control at (864) 429-2808 

Does Union County have a leash law? 
Union County does not have a leash law but we have a 
nuisance ordinance that states an animal who habitually 
chases or runs after persons or vehicles, or which destroys or 
damages property of another person or legal entity or which 
causes serious annoyance to a neighboring resident and 
interferes with the reasonable use and enjoyment of property. 
shall be deemed a nuisance. With this we can require you 
keep your dog on your property. 

What should be done or who should be called if you find 
or lose an animal? 
Lost or missing animals should be reported to the Union 
County Animal Control and Shelter at 864-429-2808. 

Do dogs and cats have to be vaccinated for rabies? 
South Carolina state law mandates that all dogs and cats must 
be currently vaccinated for rabies by a licensed veterinarian 
and the vaccination tag must be displayed around the animals 

The Shelter is open to the public for viewing 
animals available for adoption: 
Monday-Friday 
3:00pm - 5:00pm 
Or visit online at www.uccs.petfinder.com 

�Application for Adoption 

Adoption Cost 
All puppies and kittens under $63.00 
�our months 
Cats and dogs over four months $72.00 

Large animals over 75 pounds Slightly 
more 

The cost includes spay/neutering surgery, 
distemper shot. and adoption fee. Rabies shot for 
animals over the age of months. 

All animals must be spayed or neutered before 
adoption or leaving our Shelter. 

Union Animal Shelter welcomes volunteers. If you 
are at least 18 years old and interested in 
donating your time. please complete the 
application below. To learn more about the 
rewards of volunteering click here 

'!iJ Volunteer Application 

(All applicants subject to approval by the County) 

YOU CAN MAKE A 

DIFFERENCE I 

I , 

I, 

,� 

https://www.countyofunion.org/site/ cpage .asp ?cpage _id= 180008554&sec _id= 180003405 1/2 



3/11/22, 11 :50 AM humane society york county adoption fee - Google Search 

GoJgle humane society york county adoption fee 

O. All @ News i;J Images () Shopping () Maps : More 

About 3.370.000 results (0.71 seconds) 

$77.00 
Adoption Fee 

Item Fee 

Adoption (All Animals) $77.00 

https://www.yorkcountygov.com , Fee-Schedule 

Fee Schedule I York, SC 

X 

Tools 

O About featured snippets • ll Feedback 

https://humanesocietyofyorkcounty.org, adopt , adopt .. 

Adoption Process - Humane Society of York County 
$200 for dogs; $1 00 for cats. Our adoption fee includes that each pet is spayed/neutered, 
microchipped, and vaccinated to their age. They are also tested ... 

https://humanesocietyofyorkcounty.org , adopt , adopt. 

Adoptable Pets: Adoptable Overview - Humane Society of ... 
Think adoption first, adoption saves lives! Please view our adoptable babies by choosing Dogs or 
Cats from the menu on the left! CSC Serviceworks. 

https://humanesocietyofyorkcounty�"uu1--'-----------·------

Humane Society of York County: Home 
We exist to prevent animal suffering, to reduce animal overpopulation by promoting spaying and 
neutering, to educate the public about animal welfare, .. 

https://www.yorkcountygov.com , Antmals-for-Adopt1on 

Animals for Adoption I York, SC 
Adopting a pet at the York County Animal Control Adoption Center 1s easy: The adoption fee 1s 
$77.00 You will need a government issued photo ID 

https://ycspca.org • adopt , ava1lable-<iogs 

Adopt: Available Dogs - York County SPCA 
Meet the dogs looking for a new best friend at the York County SPCA! Submit your adoption 
application for an animal directly on their profile. 

https://ycspca.org 

York County SPCA: Home 
Hear how the changes we've implemented have increased the number of animals we save, 
simplified the adoption process, and improved the operations of our shelter 

https://www.fac!lbook.com , . , Animal Shelter 

York County Animal Shelter - Home I Facebook 
We Believe. We are part of the humane solution to animal overpopulation. We must decrease 
euthanasia of adoptable animals and increase adoptions of adoptable ... 

Rating: 4. 7 · 50 votes 

https://11'/\Vw.aqopt�pet.con,, aqoption_rescue, 81746-.. 

Humane Society of York County - Fort Mill - Adopt-a-Pet.com 
Humane Society of York County's Adoption Process. We require an application be filled out The 

Comenius Sehl 
Creative Leade 

9 9. 
The Villas at Fort Mill 

Humane Society of York County 

Website Directions Save 

4.1 415 Google reviews 

Animal protection organization in York County, South Carolir 

Address: 8177 Regent Pkwy. Fort Mill. SC 29715 

Hours: Closed • Opens 1 PM • 

Phone: (803) 802-0902 

Suggest an edit · Own this business? 

Questions & answers 
Q: How much does it cost for neutering a male dog? Ask a 

A: Hello Leslie. please find details on our website. Thank yo1 
https://humanesocietyofyorkcounty.org/pet-owners/spay-... 
See all questions (62) _.. 

Reviews Write a review Ad 

..-.;� "Good people doing good work - very close to Ballan, 
f-k-·r--�) area of Charlotte." 
"�o 

A 'I adore cats and give them a great home and tons o· 

V attention.' 

r _ 'The Humane Society of York County is a great place 

1
0 adopt a puppy or dog.' 

View all Google reviews 

From Humane Society of York County 

"The Humane Society of YQrk County (HSYC) is an independ 
non-profit organization dedicateq to ttw humane treatment 1 
animals. We are a qualified 501 (c)(3) non-profit organiz<1tior 
located in Fort Mill, South Carolina. and serve the ... More 

Profiles 

Facebook lnstagram 

People also search for View· 

https://www.google.com/search ?q =humane+society+york+county+adoption+fee&rlz= 1 C 1 GCEU _ en U S979US979&ei=yn0rYv-_ L-OJwbkP44S HyAU&v 1 /2 



EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

March 8, 2022 

Requesting permission from County Council to use budgeted EMA grant match funds designate 

for EMA generator grants and any left-over grru1t match funds from completed EMA projects. 

The generator grants are in different levels of approval, but I have been told that final approval 

from FEMA will come after the 2021-2022 budget year. 

J would like to use the budgeted grant match funds on other EMA projects such as the Mobile 

Command, a security fence around our building, vehicle storage shelter, or a combination 

of these during the current 2021-2022 budget year. 

EMA budgeted grant match items requesting to be di vetted to other EMA projects in the 

2021- 2022 budget year. 

PROJECT 

Fort Lawn Fire Depattment Emergency Generator 

Chester Airpmt Emergency Generator 

Chester County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Total 

BUDGETED MATCH 

$12,500.00 

$17,500.00 

$ 1,000.00 ( came in under budget) 

$31,000.00 

127 Saluda Street. P.O. Box 73 

Chester, SC 29706 

Phone: {803)377-4632 • Fax: (855)932-0670 



Chester County, South Carolina 
Department of Planning, Building & Zoning 

1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Chester, SC 29706 

Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) Application 
Fee: Residential SlS0.00, Non-Residential $300.00, Planned Development $1000.00 

Meeting Date: --"3� . ...,/_,__b.L...:.... �_;_;_d>__,___ Case# CCmAJ.J..O l Invoice# __ ��g'_v_\ __ 
The applicant h ereby requests that the property described to be rezoned from_ GC:_ __ .t• __ ID-2 ____ _ 

Pleas e give your reason fort.bis rezoning request; 
We request a rezoning of the property to allow for the future development of an industrial project. The rezoning request is 

consistent with surrounding parcels that are zone d 1D-2. 

Cnp11 o{plal must be presented with tlte application request 

Designatioo of Agent (complete only if owner is not applicant): I (we) hereby appoint the person named as applicant as 
my (our) agent to represent me (us) in this request for rezoning. A Corporate Resolution letter or a permission letter
must be presented at the time of application request. NAICS CODE:. _____________ _ 

Property Address Information 
Property address: _N/A'-------------------------------
Tax Map Number: _115-00-00-017-000 ____ _ Acres: 108.9 _______________ _ 

Any structures on the property: yes ____ oo __ X. ___ • If you checked yes, draw locations ofstructures
on plat or blank paper. 

PLEASE PRINT: 
Applicant (s): Alexander Ricks PLLC � Collin Brown for Applicant: MacKenzie Investment Group 
LLC 

Address_ 1420 E. 7th Street, Suite 100, Charlotte, NC 28204 
Telephone: 
E-Mail Address: 

Owncr(s) ifotber than applicant(:,); Walter R. Wbittnan and Alvin C. Thompson, Jr. 

Rd. Chester, SC 29706 __ _ 
1----____ cell 1-----------work 

E-Mail Address:-----------------------------------

resented is correct. Insufficient information ma result 

Applicant signature: -------------&---=,,-----Date: _z_...:/ __ 2?�0_:e_-z __ _ 



Rezoning Petition Joinder Agreement 

Applicant: MacKenzie Investment Group LLC 

The undersigned, as the owners of the parcel of land that is designated as Tax Parcel
#115-00-00-017-000 Chester County, South Carolina and which is the subject of the
attached Rezoning Application, hereby join in this Rezoning Application.

The undersigned property owners hereby agree to the rezoning as more
particularly depicted on the related Rezoning Site Plan and to subsequent changes
to the rezoning site plan as part of this Rezoning Application. We hereby appoint
the person named as applicant as our agent to represent us in this request for
rezoning.

Property Owners: 

WALTER R. WHITMAN 

Signature: �"RJ !f.
Date: L-� - �

ALVIN C. THOMPSON JR 

�--!/� Signature: __ �----/_�--=---=--....L...----------------

Date: _____ ;z ____ �_-_z... __ '""2,__ ________________ _ 



3/1/22, 3:32 PM Beacon - Chester County, SC - Report: 115-00-00-017-000 

OqPublic.net'M Chester County, SC 

Summary 

Parcel 10 
Property Address 
Brief Tax Description 

115-00-00·017-000 

Acres 

(Note: Not to be used on leg;,I documents) 
108.87 

Class LA;MV 

District 04 

Town Code NIA 

Owner 

WHITMAN WALTER R 
THOMPSON ALVIN C JR 

POBOX10 

RICHBURG SC 29729 

Sales History 

Sale Date 

02/16/1999 

Consideration 

$635,016 

Sales 

Sale Date 

2/16/1999 

7/23/1986 

Valuation 

Class 

Price 

$635,016 

Not Available 

Total 

Deed Book/Page 

7521 / 101 

Plat Book/Page 

I 

Total 

Deed Book 

752101 

5370172 

Total Land 

Seller Name 

KALIFF CAROLINA ASSOC 

Plat Book 

CS15 SP10 

Not Available 

Land Building 

Buyer Name 

WHITMAN WALTER R 

Granter 

KALIFF CAROLINA ASSOC 

Not Available 

Building Total 

Code lots Acres lmprov Appraisal Assessment Appraisal Assessment Assessment 

Class 1 

Class2 

Class3 

Class4 

ClassS 

Tax Value 

Market Value 

Online Taxes 

LA 0 

MV 0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Click here to view the Treasurer's website 

Map 

109.00 0 $7,000.00 280 

0.00 0 $763,000.00 0 

0.00 0 $0.00 0 

0.00 0 $0.00 0 

0.00 0 $0.00 0 

108.87 0 $0.00 0 

108.87 0 $763.000.00 

No data available for the following modules: Residential Buildings, Commercial Buildings, Ag Acreage, Ag Buildings. 

$0.00 0 280 

$0.00 0 0 

$0.00 0 0 

$0.00 0 0 

$0.00 0 0 

$0.00 0 280 

$0.00 

httpsJ/beacon .schneidercorp.com/Application.aspx? ApplD=217 &LayerlO=2943&Page Type I D=4&Page ID=1669&Q=1659362762&KeyValue=115-00-0... 1/2 



OqPublic.net
™ 

Chester County, SC 

Parcel ID 115-00-00-017-000 
Sec/Twp/Rng n/a 
Property Address 

District 04 
Brief Tax Description n/a 

Alternate ID n/a 
Class LA 
Acreage 108.866 

(Note: Not to be used on legal documents) 

Date created: 2/9/2022 

Last Data Uploaded: 2/9/2022 3:24:22AM 

Developed byL..,. Schneider 
.,_ .JI' GEOSPI\Tll\l. 

Owner Address WHITMAN WALTER R 
THOMPSON ALVINCJR 
POBOXl0 
RICHBURG SC 29729 

7 R-3 

R-4

R 10 One Family 
Residential 

R6 One and Two 
Family Residential 

R8 One Family 
Residentia I 

RG-1 

RG-2 

■ RIV 

RS-1 

0 County Boundary 

Overview 

0 � 

L 
_____ 4 

Legend 

Roads 

- Secondary Road

- SC Highway

0 Municipals

0 Parcels

Chester County Zonint

AG 

■ Bl Basic Industrial

Cl-Central 
Commercial
District

C2-General
Commercial
District

CC Core
Commercial

r EDD 

GC 

■ GR General 
Residential

HC Highway
Commercial

I-Industrial

11-Industrial Distri

■ ID-1

L ID-2 

■ ID-3

L LC 

LI Limited lndustri, 

j MF Multi-family 
Residential 

NC Neighborhood 
Commercial 

NCH Neighborhoo, 
Commercial
Historic 

PD Planned 
Development 

R-1 

1 R-2 



2/3/22, 11 :23 AM 

__ ,.. __ _ 

3f40a 1 df -f17 e-4a39-a578-94e0a004 788f. TIF 

PL.Ar OF SVRvtr FrlR 

WAL rtR D."11/ITMAN S ALVIN THOMPSON.JR. 

8£/WG A 104836 ACRE TIIAC7 
LOCATED ON S.C.S 

LEW/S,Uf TDWNS/111',CIIESrt/l t:Ot/NTY,SCUTH CARa.lNA 

FURIIARY I. lf/99 
lf/POCCT..t..,.,,,,,.,,, 

�,.,,, 

...... _ 

- , � . ._...._____ _ 
• Co$'"'· ._...._____ 

---... 

1· 
/· -

M�,:..�.,._N 

... 

--·19 
---

,� ...... "'""''"' 
"l,'O 

• I 'lU

f "'.q,. ► .. • 

. �-- .,._,_ � '·,·:o&, �-
,.0,HCJl'MftO/IM .. � .. \l\ ...... ...,.,,.'l"Wo,6jl,... 

-- .\ -- 6�:!Jr? �- ' 

----
---

https://cheslersc.a venu lnsigh ts .com/Office/chestersc/Home/getFlle? ActNumber= 180 7 57 

� 

1/1 



FARM APPRAISAL CARD
SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY ________ _ 

CAAD ____ ,OF ____ CARDS 

(r TAX MAP I - DISTRICT 1@:-1--
-- ,-- -""' 1-f DATE OF APPRAISAL ll - I� .) APPRAISER 'J / 

,

�1 
, .. 

-

115-0-0-17 1 TRANSFERRED FROM , 

Walter R Whitman & "' 

Alvin C. Thompson, Jr. - ,,. - ·"' ., �-
P.O. Box 1019 /,� '� ,. � ' ,.
Chester, SC 29706 "l .... ' µ -i-. �- r ... ' \ 

I . 
' ,., /1/. - l7 1- . 1/. ,

PROPERTY �IOR . --
- l<a t:f./.-f 11r1il,'it� �,-cJe <:

St., Rt. & No. Yr. Built Land _.,,, 
City Economic Life Imp. 
Use Condition L. H.
Subdivision Quality Total 
Legal Description Annual Rent Stamps 

Bldg. Permit I • Old Map Ref . -
Mort. \ 7 File No. 

STA NDARD CLASSIFICATION PROPERTY DATA 

NEIGHBORHOOD TRANSPORTATION LAND IMP. 
Progressive Paved Road Buildings 
Static Earth Road Pavement 
Regressive Railroad Fence 
Old water Landscaping 
New Airport Well 

1.rJlJ() LAND 

Number of Acres -,IJ1,{ _ 
Per Acre Value -� �"-JD� � .,. 

.vltue for A6;� '7nnn 
Returned Area � " , . 
Legal Area 1ra 

Nu11Jber of Lots 
'mber of Front Ft. 

Per Lot Value 
Per Front Ft, Value 
Value for Lots 

UTILITIES 
Electricity 
Water 
Gas 
Sewer 
All Utilities 

Ptanlmetered Area ...4?tr -n:11'? AC, Value for Fr. Ft. 
Total Land Value 

ESTIMATED MARKET VALUE 

Land JO,� 
Ac res or Lot , ,. 

Improvement Total 

- -Pr/ ,4-rl ft 
Number - -

Cost Approach

CLASS 

;11; . lj? C.

...!J-C..... 
)1 

-3( -I 
L/7

II-

TOTAL 

Deed 
Book 

, 

.I/() ,f 

<5'u"".i 
-

s'J'7 

'1� 
Econ. Rent 
Expenses 
Net Inc. 
Land Inc. 
Imp. Inc. 
Recap 
Int. Rate 

ACRES 

, 
1q 
• I 

�

?1 
-t�

6-- ,-

l_j/)q,-

19� 

Market Approach 
Market Value 7'1 :Lpoo 

Income Approach 
Correlated Value l Use Value 

!J,' ""� Assessed ' % _: .. 
Reviewed by Date Difference 

,,, :,,�.,.. .... , ....., 
I 

.., 'I ,. 
, LO I 

Deed Acres r t61at Plat Date .,I SALES PRICE Page or Lots Book Page of Sale 

'7 '7 ?lt:/,7J. 410 4/C //,.I" ·3J -,. 
1/- .....

,. '. 

1r2.� I /1 � l,s'. � '5"'t, �

/tt ' 
,../-/{J. I , J �- �,_ ,, 

I? 7-, 1?/ .. - ?-...... • '; 
I 

I 
, . ,--.

Joi �Y3(,,·"� 11,�, ·�it..Ji9 fl b?6,DJ/o,!J.. _!'} 

Cap. Ratel 
Income 
Cap. Rate +

Imp. Value 
Land Value 
Total Value 

LAND VALUATION 

?,.
f MARKET VALUe 7)

Remarks: 

USE VALUE 'J_otfl? 

-

�-- -
f 

Price per Acre Tota! Price per Acre Total 
-

�'-'3 J 

�{,() 

/ff3 l'H -

�/11 
i,.. 

#Bl 
I 

. 

I � '

LAND VALUATION BY YEAR 

1sf)J.
' - ' 

5(f't.5oo , 

r;/{Y)(), 

I"/ -. -

19;JJ. 

7�.nM 
I 

if .vao 
I 

lt'l-,..,., 

II( 

/33'11 
-

l

3·0't> J 
\ � 13�3. 

' ,-
ICf:tfS 1 ' . .,.. 
� 

<l,
-, 

;(;otf ..-? .... \-

• I '1lioD 
�
.51 
.:::,. ''•" -

,,....,.,,.
�-

.JAnT) --

- l.,,'WII!'"·-
19 /'?/ ,1 �-r,ur-� 'a 

�,C:� 1,3 ooo (T-

, ..: 

,4ro '1000 
, li 

"1 /<l I, -+,,.'(I:}• 6' o-
/ -

l



I 

t 

DESIGN OCCUPANCY Ref. Yr. 1st Cost Replacement fmprovecr 
No. Class or Type _____ +.:::B..:u..:.il..:.t--1--'Co..:..:.n.:;; d:c.·-1-_A;..:.:.;re:..:a:::.-.�..:.R..:a�te Add itions Cost Oep. Cost 

rR=-a-:n-:-cc-:h---,---+---+::S=--ln-"g"--1....,e=-F--'a-'c:m_i-:'ly'-----+-+---+---.,,µ.--Z'Z ... --:l�'-----=7-'-]:...-..... �------.J....---�----1-J r, :z. / �o _z / / ao �..L .,_,_4.,,_"�--'-,_' .... ..;; ...,�;u. ·.i.... < -1-.-.o;. ,_i"·'� ,-�c../c_.· ... • _·.,,_"/J:._J-: Split Level Fam. Rented -r- Y------
1-
C

�o-
lo
_

n
_

i
_

a
_

l 
---+--+-.,,

F
_
a

_m _
_
_ 

o
_
up
_

f
_

e
_

x
--+--+---+---------------�----!.---�---'----_.__ 

1-=
C

,-
a
_
p
_

e 
__ 

C
_
o

_
d
-

e
---+---1-

C
,,...-o_

n
_

d
_

o
_
m

-'
i

'"""
n
-,-
iu

_m_s
_-+--+-----t-------------· -----1-----+---- L- - -- -1----- -- · _,__ ------+-----1-------1 

C o nve ntional 
1-M=o-=d-=e :.:.rn:.__�f----;f--------+-+--+.lLLM'µ ,/;-:�'e:.._ ,t---A_f{l.!JL �;-.(. r""_· _t�L-'--- --l---1---- -Lh Ll. 1=��-- ·---=---- . .-ti 

---- ·->--· ----1---iNt...:.-\_l' __ -1--_--l----,,----l - ----+---+------ -----1--+----lf-------------------1-----1----+-
I ;::-_,., .,,,._ � ---- --,---1,---,--,-....----1---.L..�M

)
,._,_..._�,..i 

FOUNDATION • 1 FLOORS • 4 e 1 2 W PLUMBING -_s:...,..:B
::.+

-+-'2�.c;.J_ TOTAL I/ ,-
��on,y �_!!a__ _ :· r- ��n�•··- --=-,-.-7 ,--=:... 9!iiiroom __ N_o_. -+--1---f---+- ______ ...... lc...,,.;,.,_,,_,_I .,�'--· ... ··"c..i 

Earth St Sh. Bath 
-- BASl;J,IE}jT AREA. � H•rdWOOd ·-- TwoF1'--,t"".�e�.-,h--+---,f-+--+- Additions or Deduction, 

��;- - -JL _ __!�II---,_ P.£�=--==-�� �t Show•�- -1--i.....-. 1 _________ ,__ __ --l 
: J'a.!!__ _ _ __ __ �JI. SinOle Fl. Wi!le�::lo:::•e::.:l:::•--1---1-+--I- Item Area Unit 
• _f�n�� ____________ Asph1fl Tito _ -t--i-�_av_a��---1---+--f---+-

Rec. T orraz.z:o Kitch Sinks . ��t··-. _·---SQ.Fi:""-= yf W. Ca� ___ =� - _ No PlumbU'lg,_-_.,._--J--1---1-
• O.&<&ge_ -=�=�--..L _ fhun�Co�:,_-i-_ _ -f.-· ________ ·-li-+--➔-+-

EXTERIOR WALLS • 2 �-d Joist 
: S1�Q_'?r Sheathino -- 7 Aubbef-fii"o�=

.
: _�. _ �-��-• �I� Sldlno____ __ _ INT. FIN.· S .'!... !_ 2 3 TILINO�•

c,.,.;.
S
:_,..

+cC:..l_;..+-''-f� 
, WOOd Shtnqto1 ___ Hordwood Doth Fl & Ws<,_,I'--. 1--..J..-li---+-

2 

• Ast>esto, ShingJes__ -- Ory Wall Batn Fl & Walls-....--1-+--1-

or 

�" 
Qu ant. Cost 

lill◊ }DO ��,-,., 
i�e-� 

I, 

• Slucco on Fr■mo K'l_��'i..!!_no --+--·-1--l -� �att-a Fl �•,_v --+---l--+---1--

.,
. 
;p · .. \ ·.;.1 

. . . .,,, . Stucco on Tllo or c.B. '"'linl•h•d T. R,_;m:,.::.-. :..F:..l .00n,::.:,IY�1-1--1---1-+-�::..::>...::<...:.U.----I------I .J-, ,1. ?-(·.1 1 #-£' 

rt>--} _ �. . ?" :1•ce Brk Venee_r __ --� i.._! Pon S!�--=-,-= .-=�� OnlL ___ --l--+-+-
"T'":'"'�:-:-:-"":"7'°�;-;-;--t

�
-;,-:--:-1&�,.--;.£.,;::_=.;__.., ___ __,_L_...,1, t!,.•c• Brk on Tllo or C.8. _ 1-....-�s!:__2:!1 � __ , _ _ _ _ �S�owt!r _ -+--+---1--I . . [. !· . . . Com. Brk. Veneer P1lntee!J!�·---- _ ._ _ �t_.!�or__ 1------1-----+----4 

. r 
• . • Com. 8rk. on Ti!• or C 8. Panel Kit. Wsct. 

\ • 
;•

. 
• Compo Shin<itos ,_ AcousiicCo,I -�- ,_ ·-=:_,_ MISCELLANEOUS 

• • • Solid Com. Brk. Suspend. Ceil 1 -1-----•L Modem Kitchen 

----------------
1 ¥· 

: J f. .• ._________,
t �: 

,; • 
• 

Face Br. on Com. Br. 
-----+-1---i--1-1-=---6

B._
1
1_- O�n•"------

-+---1 .]!�entor'co�oc. Blk. __ 1--_ 

•v 

Reinforced Conc,eto - 8,1 Rofrlg. __ 1---1-----1------+----j 
Aluminum SldlnO a.I. Olahwae.her 
Cut Stone Facing -------f--·+- B t Ga'1>. Diop. 
Tona Cotla Faeino - ,_ e:--',hc-

c
"°
u
:::s.:..:, �Fa

..:n="------1--·1----...L----
i
.L---� 

Stone or T.C. Trim e 1. Clothe• W01h Total Addition, 
Party WIii• __ _,_ ------+--+-+-- 8.1. Dryer 
Plate Gius Front MOd'orn Bau, 

I� ---·
·
··----- ----.J.--'-----·-·- __ -x-�- ,_,!:I· Vanity REMARKS ENVIRONMENTAL 8.1. Tub Encl:;_. -----+--I 

•1 �R�FTY!°!_·_3__ Worm Au 8.t ..
. 
Voeu!!u�mc!_.·�•Yt•�-------l---f<:...:.'------------i • Hip Goble ·-$18affl·----

-- ___ .,_ _ Melaf Frame Sash _, ...,, � · Mans-atd ·--flit� "- Hot wa1e, ot Vapcr Wood Frame S1L.sh L.........--. �-+---._.e,::.._...,.......,,41.: 
• Gambrel Forcod Air . iluiiers ----

/ /J/VCI -.J J 7i7½ re 
r---------------------------------------..r,-�� RDOFING73

-
- -� HealOt$ _ -----

✓ / Asphalt Shingtoa Au Cond. 
SALE NO. Stote - •• ·- - ·- . --� �•iiii_!!g __ _ 

1----------..-------...,.-------...,.--------,-------.J �:tt:C!hing: � - _ _: � �,::'ti�cump ____ 
-
__ -_:.._-� �Weli"Fdn __ 

o_UT_B_�::ILO=INc::G:::S::....T
l
--·L------------1 

Adt. 1. 2. 3. 4. Roll Roofing __ -----=---=-====- ·-·s,noloSidlng ----+--
f----------1--------+----------1--------l--------l,!1f&cfr.Vol- - -- -- -- ·-- Ooubh3Sid1n� 

F-
1-----------·-

Sales Price Compoallion Shrnqlo w�11-; 
Stucco On. 1--....,../-----------1

1-----------t--------+------+-------t-------t======
-�=----!f---+--,FV=E�L--,.-�Unll��-eo=--<n-,-

.
4Cemon:..t�B:::lk::�-------II---

Time INSULATION • 3 Oil enc� --- __ 1---------------l 
l-iR

"'
oo

"-i'-
l-'o"-r-'C"'"':.:;·1c;ina"'---- .. I_B'Ga,,_•:,----+---+'--°""C,::o:::nc:,,r�•�l•c..:..F::•r.:_ ____ +'--�-------------l 

i----------i--------t-------t-------i-------�W�•!_llll!.__�-�---- l Stoket ear1r- Flr. 
Storm Suh & Doon l Elec. Flo. Inf, 

Location 
r----�==,=�----_.L.1-+ ___ .;;E:::L=:EC:::l.:.:RICAL • 7 - ---

r::-:-----:-------i---------;--------;--------i--------i..,. ___ ....!,C:!,O�N�O�IT.'.9,!1__ _ Armored Cobio BX 

6����:.�ristics 
r.-,n..,.t.""'F"''ln""1�,h----+--=G:..+". . I'__ ���o�d

_
u
_u ______ . --�--;;

!'.l!!E_P_U_C
ES ..:_TY-=--=-

P

-=-

E
1-=.:.:::41 ...... �------------I 

1----------1----------1-------+--------f---------1,�La�•�vou�t _____ ..__,_ _.__ Slngto I /I" 
Si:i.tt 

Adjuste d 
Sale& Price 

DATE ______ ......., 

r.-��::,ru::,
c
""'t�:a;-c:OocN---·-11---1-+---+------------ _ �• - __ .•. _ !--1-------------! 

-
---



2022-2027 
Strategic Plan 

Richburg Fire Department 

sean.nelson@emc2partners.com 

emc2partners.com 



2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

VISION, MISSION AND VALUES ___________________________________ 3 

Vision Statement _______________________________________________________________ 3  

Purpose Statement _____________________________________________________________ 3  

Shared Values _________________________________________________________________ 3  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY __________________________________________ 4 

OUR APPROACH _______________________________________________ 5 

HISTORY ______________________________________________________ 6 

Quick Facts____________________________________________________________________ 6  

Current State of Operations at the Department ___________________________________ 7  

Current Performance Based on Response Times _________________________________ 8  

Anticipated Rapid Growth ______________________________________________________ 9  

INDUSTRIES SERVED __________________________________________ 12 

INSURANCE SERVICES OFFICE (ISO) ____________________________ 14 

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT __________________________________ 16 

PERSONNEL FOCUS ___________________________________________ 18 

Main Station __________________________________________________________________ 20  

Sub Station ___________________________________________________________________ 21  

FACILITIES FOCUS ____________________________________________ 23 

Stations_______________________________________________________________________ 23  

FINANCIAL FOCUS ____________________________________________ 24 

2022 – 2023 PLANNED BUDGET _________________________________________________ 24  

Revenue _____________________________________________________________ 24 

USDA Long-Term Notes ________________________________________________ 25 

STRATEGIC GOALS ____________________________________________ 27 

CONCLUSION _________________________________________________ 29 

Action Items __________________________________________________________________ 30  

Works Cited __________________________________________________________________ 36  



3 

VISION, MISSION AND VALUES 
Vision Statement 

To securely position the Richburg Fire Department in the top tier of departments within South 

Carolina, while focusing on efficiency, development, and community. 

Purpose Statement 

Shared Values 

Integrity  Demonstrating ethical and moral character in all our actions. 

Ownership  Taking responsibility and accountability for any and everything we do. 

Compassion Display empathy and care for those we serve, and toward one another. 

Innovation  Striving to utilize the latest training, processes and technology in serving 

our community. 

We will remain fiscally responsible in our decision-making, 

treat every resident with the utmost dignity and respect, 

ensure our equipment is always in superior working order and 

ready to respond, and continue to perform our profession to 

the best of our abilities. 

“No matter how much you have 
achieved, you will always be merely 
good relative to what you can become. 
Greatness is an inherently dynamic 
process, not an end point.” 

Good to Great and the Social Sectors, Jim Collins



4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Richburg Fire Protection District (“RFPD”, or “District”) is pleased to present its 2022-2027 Strategic Plan.  

The purpose of this Strategic Plan is to clearly define the mission and goals of RFPD while developing a guide 

for continued excellent service as we prepare to meet the many challenges and opportunities in providing 

emergency services during the next five years. 

This Strategic Plan will serve as a living document and a work in progress, subject to change under evolving 

circumstances. It was developed using a Strategic Planning process that included input from representative 

groups composed of members of the Department and from the community at large; as well as ongoing 

discussions, collaborations, and input from RFPD leadership, staff, and other Chester County officials. 

The Richburg Fire Protection District Strategic Plan is designed to channel resources – people and funding – into 

serving the emerging needs of the community. The district has many assets to support these services. This 

strategic plan is intended to the development of higher goals which build upon those assets. The plan focuses 

on current needs and future needs based on the growth of the district, Chester County and the State of South 

Carolina.  Many of the items rely on the most important aspect of serving the district which is people – both paid 

and volunteer. The District Board and County leaders will need to be creative to fund this strategic plan.   

Working together with the County and other agencies, the district will continue to transform to serve the needs of 

the community.    

The growing demand for services, combined with the ever-increasing costs of service delivery, make it 

imperative that an effective Strategic Plan be put into place that will maintain the high standards expected and 

deserved by the community. This document is a culmination of Richburg Fire Protection District’s efforts to detail 

how it will meet the needs of the community, how it will prioritize those needs, and establish timelines to achieve 

those needs. RFPD is committed to maintaining public trust through the highest levels of responsibility and 

accountability.  

 

 Action Item 1.5 Implement paid firefighter coverage to three - 24/48 hr. shifts (one firefighter per shift) 
Estimated costs ~$210,000 per year 

 Action Item 4.2 Investigate reduction of USDA Loans into lower market rate to save interest long-term 
Estimated savings ~$750,000 over life of all three USDA loans 

 Action Item 4.5 Adjust fee schedule on EMS unit to match federal Medicare Reimbursement 
Estimated revenue ~$7,500 per year (based on prior year calls) 

Our assessment identified the following immediate actions to improve current response time and remain 

fiscally responsible to our community: 



5 

OUR APPROACH 

WHERE ARE WE NOW? 

WHERE DO WE WANT TO BE? 

HOW WILL WE GET THERE? 

During the Study, we looked at the current state of the department including performance metrics. We then 

evaluated where these metrics should be to meet National Fire Protection Association (“NFPA”) guidelines. We 

then layered additional constraints that could be placed on the department during the Plan period. Considering 

these variables, we projected what additional assets and resources (personnel, equipment & apparatus, 

facilities) would be needed for the department to operate at the NFPA standards over the Plan period. 



6 

HISTORY 

The Richburg Fire Protection District provides fire suppression, emergency medical services, technical rescue, 

hazardous materials mitigation, fire prevention, public education, and disaster preparedness to residents, 

businesses, and visitors to Richburg, South Carolina. 

Since its inception in 1968, the Richburg Fire Department has had a proud tradition of providing excellent 

service to the Richburg community and beyond. Originally the department had a single fire engine to respond to 

fire calls that were dispatched by a call tree initiated by the wives of the volunteer firemen. At that time the fire 

department responded to approximately two dozen calls per year. Over the years the fire department has 

evolved into a community-centric organization helping its community well beyond the needs of fire protection.   

To meet the growing demands on the department, in 2005 the Richburg Fire Protection District was established. 

The Richburg Fire Protection District is a special purpose tax district created by Chester County Council. Since 

2005 the department witnessed significant growth. The department now responds to all types of emergencies 

with the latest training, and in state-of-the-art apparatus. In 2021 alone, the department responded to over 1,200 

emergency calls of all kinds. 

Quick Facts 

 Population Protected: Estimated 5,500 (resident) and estimated 12,000 (daytime)

 Homes Protected: Estimated 1,375

 Square Miles Served: 40 square miles

 Richburg Fire Protection District Budget FY 2021-22: $455,930

 Cost per Capita by Population Protected: $83 (resident) / $38 (daytime)

 ISO Rating: 4

 Median Home Value within District: $160,000 (estimated)

 Number of Fire Stations: 2 - Main Station and on substation

 Number of Personnel: 53 (2 paid full-time and approximately 51 volunteers)



7 

Current State of Operations at the Department 
The Richburg Fire Department has evolved to meet the growing demands of the District. The Department has 

two operations: Fire operations and EMS operations.  

Fire Operations 

Currently, the fire department has two full-time paid firefighters. These full-time firefighters were added several 

years ago to provide daytime coverage Monday through Friday 8:00 to 5:00 PM.  Approximately 47% percent of 

the emergency fire calls in the District occur within these times. In addition to responding to calls during their 

shift, these full-time firefighters provide reporting, maintenance and minor repairs to equipment and apparatus.  

Approximately 26% of the calls occur Monday through Friday from 5:00 PM to 8:00 AM. The remaining 27% of 

calls occur during the weekend hours. 

During the Monday through Friday 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM shifts, the fire department’s enroute times are 

exceptionally good with apparatus typically enroute within one minute. During times when the station is 

unmanned, however, the enroute time for fire apparatus is delayed due to the distance that the firefighters must 

travel from their homes to the station. 

The two full time firefighters are also volunteers for the department during hours outside of their Monday through 

Friday day shift. There are many times and which the two full-time personnel also work many hours as 

volunteers on emergency calls during the evening or late at night. On a couple of occasions, these firefighters 

effectively worked more than 24 hours straight because of their needed service during their off hours. It should 

be noted that these two full-time firefighters are also the most active among the volunteer firefighters. The need 

for 24-hour coverage of the station is clear to meet the NFPA guidelines and the expectations of the Richburg 

community. 

Richburg Fire EMS Operations 

Currently, the fire department funds the Richburg EMS Ambulance with two full-time equivalents – consisting of 

multiple part-time EMT/Paramedics. These employees work Monday through Friday from 9am to 6pm. The EMS 

side of the Richburg fire department is managed by the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief is responsible for making sure 

that the shifts are covered each day. The Fire Chief has a pool of qualified people to work these positions and 

the Chief develops a work schedule on a weekly basis. During the hours of Monday through Friday 9:00 AM to 

6:00 PM the Richburg EMS ambulance supports the Chester County EMS system in various response efforts. 

These could include emergency calls or non-emergency transport calls. 

Emergency calls or transport calls received “after-hours” – outside of Monday through Friday 9:00 AM to 6:00 PM 

time frames are handled via the Richburg fire department volunteers. These EMS calls are in addition to the Fire 

Protection calls that these same volunteers respond to. The call volume of the Richburg fire EMS continues to 

increase at a rapid pace. This additional call volume is creating fatigue and burnout of some of the volunteers – 

particularly among those volunteers that respond to both Fire and EMS calls. 



8 

Discussions had with the leadership of the department indicate that making one of the full-time equivalents a 

permanent, full-time employee, would reduce the level of effort required by the Chief to staff the Richburg Fire 

EMS each day. This full-time request has been included in the 2022-2023 budget.  

Current Performance Based on Response Times 
An important tenet of the fire service is the ability to respond quickly, with highly trained responders. The 

external stakeholder information related to this strategic planning process indicates that our citizens expect this 

from their fire department. An expedient response time is important because a fire can double every minute. 

Changes in both residential and commercial building contents, as well as in construction materials and methods, 

have had a significant impact on fire temperature and rate of burn. A recent press release from UL (a global 

independent safety science company) stated that “shifts in modern home construction and design are 

contributing to a new reality: Fires can become uncontrollable in less than three minutes and reach flashover 

eight times faster.”1  Additionally, in a medical emergency scenario brain death typically occurs within six 

minutes of cardiac arrest, which translates to the importance of every minute during an emergency response. 

This expectation can be a daunting proposition with a majority volunteer staff in a rapidly developing community. 

Total response times are divided up into three elements: call processing time, turnout time, and travel time. Call 

processing elements are outside the control of the Richburg Fire Department and fall under the responsibility of 

the Chester County 911 System. Turnout and travel times, however, are impacted by the actions and 

established response model of the fire department. Over the course of 2021, the average turnout time (enroute) 

for the department was 1 minutes and 24 seconds where the average travel time (arrival) was 4 minutes and 32 

seconds. It can’t be overstated that this is an average, with half of the times better and half the times worse. To 

measure a complete response picture, the fire service looks at response times at the 90th percentile. In other 

words, a figure at the 90th percentile means that 90 percent of the responses are better than the figure provided. 

Considering this, over the course of 2021, the 90th percentile turnout time for the department was 1 minute and 

20 seconds where the 90th percentile travel time was 4 minutes and 00 seconds. By combining turnout time, 

travel time, and call processing time, we start to paint the picture of needed improvement. The department will 

be considering these elements as it adjusts in the years to come. However, response improvement will be of the 

highest priority in the near term and is reflected in this plan.  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025

Richburg Fire Department
Call Volume 2003-2021



9 

*1    UL Converts Exclusive Fire Research into Online Training to Help Educate and Safeguard Fire Service Personnel”; 2012; UL. 

Time 

Interval 

90th 

Percentile 

Benchmark 

90th Percentile Baseline 

Projected 

with 

funding 

Projected 

with 

funding 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Alarm Time 
1:04 

64 
0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Enroute 

Time 

01:20 

80 

1:07 

(84%) 

1:24 

(105%) 

1:08 

(85%) 

1:00 

(81%) 

Travel Time 
04:00 

240 

4:23 

(110%) 

4:32 

(113%) 

4:30 

(111%) 

4:30 

(111%) 

Total 

Response 

Time 

05:20 

320 

6:26 

(121%) 

6:10 

(116%) 

5:30 

(103%) 

5:56 

(111%) 

5:38 

(105%) 

5:30 

(103%) 

Incident Count* 624 904 835 1189 1,338 1,505 

Anticipated Rapid Growth 
Considerable changes have occurred in our community over the past few years and there are plans for future 

growth that will transform our community even more. There has been much commercial and industrial growth in 

our area which has also led to an increase in residential growth.  All of these have also led to an increase in call 

volume and additional challenges faced by the Richburg Fire Department. To effectively meet these challenges, 

we must plan appropriately. This strategic plan gives us a platform to do just that. However, just as our 

community continues to change and evolve, so must our plans. Therefore, this document is a living document 

that must be continually reviewed, assessed for accuracy and relevance, and adapted to meet the needs of the 

community. This Richburg Fire Protection District Strategic Plan is being built to capture and direct the 

transformational growth taking place. 

The Richburg area is bustling with growth. Soon, there is expected to be unprecedented significant residential 

growth within Richburg Fire Protection District. These additional homes will add to the call volume of the district. 

For example, there are three major residential developments that are in progress right now. They include a 

planned development of the following: 

Project Winchester (Lando Fire District – automatic mutual aid) 

Project Winchester which is approximately ~1,150 homes on Ernandez Rd.  which would be home to 

approximately 4,600 people. It is planned that 500 homes would be built before 2027. The remaining would be 

built out over the following 10 years. 



10 

Victorian Hills (Lando Fire District – automatic mutual aid) 

There is a current project behind the Victorian Hills subdivision that will include the buildout of approximately 380 

homes. This will house approximately 1,500 additional residents. Complete buildout of this project is forecast to 

be in 2025. 

Project Cheswick 

Project Cheswick which is approximately ~950 homes on Highway #9 (behind Trucking school) which would be 

home to some 3,800 people. It is projected that 500 homes would be built by 2030. Additionally, this project has 

additional phases which could lead to a total of 2,000 homes. There are several other significant residential 

projects planned within the Richburg Fire District but not yet disclosed to the public. During our study, we were 

assured that these undisclosed projects matched or exceeded the total homes that are currently disclosed. 

Additionally, the Richburg Fire Department covers nearly all of Interstate 77 in Chester County. Currently, 

Interstate 77 has approximately 53,000 vehicles per day travel through the district. SC Highway 9 carries 

approximately 10,000 vehicles. These numbers continue to grow every day. The men and women of the 

Richburg Fire Department must be prepared to respond to any incident on these roads not knowing what 

dangers are being carried on them. 

Impacts to Fire Service 

These among the many other developments within the district bring additional burden to the fire department.   

This additional burden which is beyond the capabilities and capacity of volunteer firefighters. It is because of this 

anticipated growth and associated need that we require paid, full-time firefighters covering 24-hour shifts.  

In reviewing the Gateway District’s Master Plan, the plan anticipates needing 43 firefighters upon full (100%) 

development of the Master Plan. Obviously, this will take some time – perhaps fifteen to twenty years – to 

achieve. However, it is prudent to growth with the needs of the Gateway District and parallel the increasing of 

firefighters serving the district. Our current proposal would have a total of five full-time firefighters or 11.6% of the 

anticipated total need. See the illustration below from the Gateway Master Plan. 

“Efforts and courage are not enough 

without purpose and direction.”

- John F. Kennedy



11 

“What you get by 
achieving your goals is 
not as important as 
what you become by 
achieving your goals.” 
Zig Ziglar 



12 

INDUSTRIES SERVED 

Major Industries currently served by Richburg Fire Protection District 

Richburg is home to a large number of heavy industrial manufacturers. The Richburg Fire Department has taken 

a number of steps to insure the safety of these facilities, their employees, the community and the firefighters of 

the fire department. 

Fires in an industrial setting can pose varying hazards for the facility, its personnel, and the surrounding 

communities and can result in an assortment of damage. Accordingly, significant effort is required on the part of 

the local fire department to evaluate and “pre-plan” for a wide range of emergencies at the industrial site. 

Depending on the operation, pre-plans can range from the simple to complex. Fire pre-plans include the 

following: 

 Building/site layout information

 Fire suppression information

 Hazards locations

 Utility information

 Exposure information

 Water supply (a huge factor in the case of Richburg Fire)

 Evacuation needs

 Occupancy information

 Special procedures for handling, storage and control of items that have been identified as major fire

hazards 

 Mutual aid resources

For certain manufacturing facilities, which face a higher fire hazard, some unique aspects should be included: 

 Chemical properties

 PPE requirements

 Potential community evacuation

Fire pre-plans help insure a coordinated, expedient and safe response in the event of a fire. But they are only 

effective if accurate and pertinent information is included. This requires the fire department to continuously 

update their pre-plans. 

Beyond the fire protection of the industrial buildings, companies can have many hazards that require a response 

from the fire department. These include chemical leaks and exposure, confined space rescue, technical rescue 

and employee injuries when working in and around dangerous equipment. 



13 

Chester County and the Chester Development Association have established many available industrial properties 

for new economic development opportunities. One third of the Gateway District Concept Plan includes industrial 

land uses. Through the implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan and the Chester County Economic 

Development Strategic Plan, new industries will be promoted that support existing industry developments and 

provide the region with expanded job opportunities. Recruiting new industries is great for economic development 

and the community. However, they can place additional burdens on an already strained fire department. As new 

industries are recruited to Chester County within the Richburg Fire District, it is imperative that fire department 

officials be kept informed of the number and types of industry on the horizon so that appropriate measures can 

be put in place.   Several of the industries listed below are outside of the Richburg Fire Protection District but are 

automatic mutual-aid response calls with neighboring fire districts.  For example, Rolled Alloys. 



14 

INSURANCE SERVICES OFFICE (ISO) 

A company called ISO (Insurance Services Office) creates ratings for fire departments and their surrounding 

communities. These ratings calculate how well-equipped fire departments are to put out fires in that community. 

ISO provides this score, often called the "ISO fire score," to homeowners insurance companies. Insurers then 

use it to help set homeowners insurance rates. The better equipped your fire department is to put out a fire, the 

less likely your house is to burn down. That makes your home less risky, and therefore less expensive, to insure. 

An ISO fire rating, also referred to as a fire score or Public Protection Classification (PPC), is a score from one to 

10 that indicates how well-protected your community is by the fire department. In the ISO rating scale, a lower 

number is better: one is the best possible rating, while a 10 means the fire department did not meet ISO's 

minimum requirements. 

According to ISO's Fire Suppression Rating Schedule (FSRS), four main criteria comprise a fire rating score: 

• 50% comes from the quality of your local fire department, including staffing levels, training
and proximity of the firehouse.

• 40% comes from availability of water supply, including the prevalence of fire hydrants and
how much water is available to put out fires.

• 10% comes from the quality of the area's emergency communications systems (911).
• An extra 5.5% comes from community outreach, including fire prevention and safety

courses.
• Any area that is more than five driving miles from the nearest fire station is automatically

rated a 10.

Any fire department that scores above 90% receives the highest ranking, however, very few fire departments 

receive that ranking — only 0.71% of all communities surveyed have the coveted “one” rating.  A rating of “five” is 

both the median and most common rating fire departments received. In general, urban areas tend to have better 

PPC scores than rural areas, as urban fire departments are closer together and often receive better funding. 

The men and women of the Richburg Fire Department have worked diligently for decades to reduce the ISO 

rating of the department from a Class 9 to a Class 4. While the work continues to take place to reduce the ISO 

rating further, even more work is needed to maintain the excellent rating they’ve already achieved. The ISO 

rating is a point of pride for the firefighters of the department but, perhaps more importantly, it creates significant 

savings to the community. The following table illustrates the savings created by the reduction of the ISO rating 

on homes within the Richburg Fire Protection District. 

NOTE:    During the preparation of this Strategic Plan, the Richburg Fire Department received their new ISO 4 

Accreditation. This ISO rating is a significant accomplishment for the men and women of the Richburg Fire 

Department given the growth of the district during the previous 3 years. The recently issued rating will be valid 

for the next five years – providing continued insurance savings for the taxpayers of the Richburg Fire District. 



15 

“The fire service isn’t 
just about fighting 

fire. It’s about 
community.” 

Richburg Fire Chief T. Melton 



16 

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT 

The following is a summary of critical issues and service gaps identified by the focus groups utilizing the SWOT 

analysis and other feedback. 

Strategic Planning Process – SWOT Analysis 

A SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats) Analysis is the foundation of any comprehensive 

strategic plan. Interviews and discussions with varying stakeholders revealed the following: 

STRENGTHS: 

 strong Board of Directors

 professional members

 diverse members

 good equipment

 good training

 good connections across Chester County

 response times are good

 great care and compassion during interactions with public

 great facilities

 quality apparatus and equipment

 relationships with other agencies

 recognized as vital asset to community

 social media campaign/presence

WEAKNESSES: 

 Inconsistent coverage – especially nights and weekends

 Act #388 limitations for funding,

 fundraising,

 heavy burden on equipment,

 FILOTs (lack of funding for new industries)

 Interstate Unknowns,

 lack of full-time employees covering 24/7,

 water supply



17 

OPPORTUNITIES: 

 Xplorer program within Chester 4H Program

 continue to improve response times

 more visible presence at large community events

 potential to cross train our law enforcement on limited operations

 teaming with the career center program

THREATS: 

 Lack of financial ability to keep up with demands

 County imminent domain of fire service

 Growth without commensurate funding

 Other fire departments lack of vision and leadership

 rising cost of apparatus and limited replacement funding

 Federal and state unfunded mandates

 recruitment and retention of quality firefighters

 maintaining or increasing training on limited funds

“If You Fail to Plan, You Are 
Planning to Fail” 

Benjamin Franklin 



18 

PERSONNEL FOCUS 
RETENTION/FATIGUE OF VOLUNTEERS 

Many volunteer fire departments across the country have experienced a decrease in the number of active 

volunteers. Without adequate levels of first responders, communities are left vulnerable and active members are 

at risk of burnout. 

In addition to limited number of firefighters, the Pareto Principle also causes exhaustion among a department’s 

most active members. The Pareto Principle, also known as the 80-20 rule, states that 80% of the work is done 

by 20% of the volunteers. Departments need to be proactive in order to reverse and avoid falling victim to this 

principle. A study conducted on volunteer firefighter burnout and organizational connectedness, indicated 

emotional demands and home life as the two leading reasons firefighters become disconnected with volunteer 

service.  

Other reasons cited by recent exiting volunteers were: 

 Lack of support and flexibility in juggling volunteer responsibilities with other life commitments

 The realities of volunteering changed or didn't meet the expectations before commitment

 Lack of clear expectations of how much time and effort will be required each day, week or month for

meetings and trainings

 Department atmosphere full of cliques and groups that exclude others

Richburg Fire Department is no exception to any of the above. The ever-increasing volume of calls and demand 

of technical training is wearing down many of the most active firefighters. Some of Richburg’s firefighters are 

hesitant to leave the district for any reason including family vacations and other trips. Many of the most active 

firefighters feel obligated to either stay within the district continuously or coordinate with other volunteers of the 

department to insure there is available coverage in the event of an emergency. This exacerbates the Pareto 

principle described above as even more work is required to arrange and coordinate coverage among other 

volunteers to simply leave the district for a dinner out of town. Some firefighters feel it is easier to simply forego 

leaving the district to enjoy time off. Ultimately, this is counterproductive to an effective volunteer department 

and can and does result in volunteers quitting. 

Numerous studies have been completed on volunteer firefighters and their desire to stop volunteering and why.  

During these studies, the study sponsors often interviewed current volunteers who considered quitting but 

ultimately did not.  For current volunteers who considered leaving but did not, their reasons for staying were less 

diffuse and generally came back to the original reasons they began volunteering – their desire to give back to the 

community and help people. They spoke of honor, not wanting to leave the community in need, a desire to help 

mentor younger firefighters, and to try to bring about departmental change from within. 

When asked what initiatives or programs could have a positive impact on retention, current volunteers cited: 

 A mentorship program that pairs new volunteers with more experienced members



19 

 Giving out awards or honors when members reach service milestones (1 year, 5 years, 10 years, etc.)

and/or superlatives at the end of the year

 Conducting stay interviews with volunteers who have lapsed attendance and may be considering

leaving the department

 Conducting exit interviews when a volunteer leaves the department

 Providing new volunteers with advice on how to fit volunteering into the rest of their life

FIREFIGHTERS 

Due to the ever-increasing workload on the men and women that volunteer with the Richburg Fire Protection 

District, we recommend a change in the way that the department operates from a personnel standpoint. First, 

the Richburg Fire Department should develop a visionary, long-term staffing model. Due to Act #388, 

incremental funding is limited. Therefore, we propose a gradual increase in personnel to cover as much time as 

possible. We propose to add paid three firefighters (one per shift) to cover 24 hours shifts beginning July 1, 

2022. To maintain financial stability and keep up with the increasing need, we believe Richburg should begin by 

placing one person on each shift and gradually increase these number per shift over the coming years as 

demand for services increase. These additional firefighters will serve multiple purposes. First, they will provide 

immediate response the station upon during these times. Secondarily, they will provide relief from the fatigue 

that the volunteers have from not being able to leave the district during those times. It is also projected that the 

proposal will reduce the “time to enroute” time 90 seconds per call on average during the shifts outside Mon-Fri 

8am-5pm. These seconds per call represent a significant step forward in reducing response times. It is possible 

that due to limited increased funding by Act #388, the District may not be able to fund these firefighters alone.   

In this case, we propose that the County provide the difference between the maximum funding increase allowed 

by the District. This can be justified by the growing number of mutual aid calls outside of the Richburg Fire 

District.  For example, Richburg Fire is currently covering a majority of the Rossville Fire District due to certain 

bridges being out in the Rossville District. Another example would be the Richburg Fire District providing 

significant mutual aid to the County and to the City of Chester via responding Richburg Fire’s Tower to certain 

fires.     

We anticipate the total cost of 3 full-time firefighters to be approximately $168,000 including fringe benefits such 

as healthcare and taxes. Here is how we determined this cost: 

The median US Salary for firefighter is 50,850 per year. The average SC Firefighter Salary is 34,730 per year.   

The entry level firefighter for the City of Chester is approximately $38,947 per year. As a result of these salaries, 

we believe the District should budget anticipate approximately $42,000 each, per year for these firefighters.  

Additionally, since there are ‘fringe’ benefits that equate to approximately 33% of salary, the District should 

anticipate an additional 14,000 per year for these costs. This would total $56,000 per year, per firefighter, for a 

combined total of $210,000, or 11.5 mills. 

AMBULANCE SERVICE (EMS) 

The Richburg Fire Protection District provides EMS services Monday through Friday from 9am – 6pm. The EMS 

unit is staffed by varying crews who are qualified as EMTs or Paramedics. Currently, these are full-time positions 



20 

but are staffed by an aggregation of part time personnel. Many of these part time employees are full-time 

employees at neighboring EMS or Fire Departments and pick up shifts at Richburg Fire Department to 

supplement their income. Since these are not full-time Richburg Fire Department employees, their first priority is 

to their full-time position elsewhere. This sometimes causes problems with staffing all of the shifts that need to 

be covered. This effort alone has become time consuming and cumbersome for the Richburg Fire Department.   

In parallel to the fire side of the department, it is anticipated that EMS call volume will also increase dramatically 

over the coming months and years. In order to provide consistency in staffing, the Richburg Fire Department is 

requesting approval to hire one full-time EMT to staff the EMS unit during the Monday through Friday day shift. 

This would reduce the scheduling effort by one half and would provide consistency from day to day on the unit. 

Since the position is already staffed and paid, the request should have minimum impact to the Richburg Fire 

Protection District’s annual budget. 

EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 

The Richburg Fire Protection District is fortunate to have had leaders that recognized the need for quality 

apparatus and equipment required to service their district. As a result, we believe that the District is in good 

shape from an equipment and apparatus standpoint. There are currently two apparatus purchases in progress 

for the District. The first is a new ambulance that will be purchased using funds from a grant that the department 

applied for. This grant is valued at $209,000. The second purchase is for a new brush unit to replace the existing 

(damaged) unit. The Richburg Fire Protection District will pay for this truck using funds from the district. Beyond 

these two purchases, we are not recommending any new purchases currently. However, we are recommending 

that the department maintain constant vigilance on procuring new equipment and apparatus. As such, we 

recommend the Chief of the Department create an Equipment and Apparatus Committee to monitor equipment 

and apparatus usage and develop long term plans for replacing the same on a continuous basis. This committee 

should recognize that the burnout of equipment and apparatus will occur more quickly than neighboring 

departments due to call volume. This should be obvious to county officials as well. 

Here is a list of current apparatus and where they are staged: 

Main Station

Designation Type Year Replacement Cost 

Engine810 Engine 2020 $650,000 

Engine814 Engine 1996 $600,000 

Tanker820 Tanker 1994 $320,000 

Tanker822 Tanker 2007 $320,000 

Brush830 Brush 2007 $100,000 

Brush831 Brush 2005 $125,000 

Rescue840 Rescue 2008 $400,000 

Tower841 Tower 2006 $1,400,000 

Command800 Command 2010 $45,000 



21 

Command801 Command 2011 $55,000 

Rescue805 Ambulance 2011 $212,000 

Sub Station

Designation Type Year Replacement Cost 

Engine811 Engine 1987 $650,000 

Engine812 Engine 1996 $625,000 

Tanker821 Tanker 1994 $320,000 

Brush832 Brush 1994 $250,000 

“Coming together is 
a beginning. 

Keeping together is 
progress. Working 

together is success.” 
Henry Ford



22 



23 

FACILITIES FOCUS 
Stations 
The Richburg Fire Protection District currently has two stations. The main station is located on North Main Street 

in Richburg. The substation is location on Knox Station Road. In reviewing the response times for the fire 

department, the travel times from the station to the emergency scene are relatively the same year-over-year.    

When determining the appropriate placement of facilities such as substations it is important to ascertain the 

relative benefit to the community from two points. The first point is the response time from the station. The 

second is to reduce the road distance from a station or substation to the emergency scene. The placement of 

both the main station in Richburg and the substation on Knox Station Road were well thought out and placed in 

optimum locations. The stations provide needed services, first to their assigned area and then throughout the 

remaining portions of the district and county. The size of apparatus and types of equipment in the fire stations 

has changed significantly over the years, particularly in the main station, placing increased demand on facilities, 

mechanical systems and space. Both stations are presently operating adequately and can house additional 

apparatus, personnel, offices or storage, if needed. 

As Richburg grows, the department should begin considering the placement of a second substation based on 

the same criteria as described above. A second substation does not appear to be a high priority item at this time. 

However, the department should begin mapping out potential locations for a second substation during the next 

few years. 

Richburg Fire Protection District 

Richburg Fire 

Protection District 

Town of Richburg 

(town limits) 

Main station 

Substation 



24 

FINANCIAL FOCUS 
2022 – 2023 PLANNED BUDGET 

Revenue 
Fire District Revenue $455,930 

Operations  267,681 

Rural Fire Allocation 40,625 

Capital Millage  147,624 

Ambulance Service Revenue $65,650 

Patient Revenue 46,250 

Indirect Revenue 19,400 

TOTAL REVENUE $521,580 

Fire District Expenses $333,416  +  $210,000 

USDA Loans 147,624 

Salaries 146,330 

3 NEW FF 24/48 210,000 *new request for 2022-2023 

Audit  700 

Office Supplies   1,500 

Communications 10,000 

Equipment 3,000 

Maintenance 3,000 

Training 3,000 

Fire Prevention   500 

Operations 5,000 

Wellness 500 

Contingency  12,262 

County Rural Fire Expenses $  40,625 

Fuel 16,014 

Electricity 11,663 

Water/Sewer 6,966 

Phone  2,849 

Heating Fuel 2,281 

Supplies 732 

Assoc Dues 120 



25 

Ambulance Expenses $65,650 

+Salaries 52,000  *new request for 2022-2023 

ESO Billing 4,100 

Medical Supplies 4,650 

Communication    500 

Fuel 2,300  

Maintenance 1,200 

Contingency 900 

TOTAL EXPENSES $439,691 

USDA Long-Term Notes 

Date Final Initial $ Int Rate  Monthly Pmt. Current Balance 

091112 2052 1,749,350 3.500% 6,788 1,556,181 

091112 2052 150,000 3.500% 582 133,436 

031919 2059 1,200,000 3.875% 4,932 1,177,238 

3,099,350 12,302 2,866,855 

The USDA loans are substantial and have higher-than-market interest rates. With rates anticipated to begin 

increasing in the second quarter of 2022 there is limited time to The Richburg should immediately investigate 

possibility of refinancing USDA Loans to current interest rates. This could be either via conventional means or 

through USDA repricing – perhaps even a reinvestment and new loan combined with other county needs. Due to 

the size and length of the current loans, the savings on even a small adjustment of interest rate could result in 

almost $750k in savings over the terms of the loans. This is marked as an immediate action item as the Federal 

Reserve is expected to raise interest rates beginning in March 2022.    

FUEL EXCISE TAX 

The Richburg Fire Protection District has been paying both federal and state excise taxes on fuel used for the 

Fire Protection district. Because the Fire Protection district is part of local government it is exempt from both 

federal and state fuel excise tax. For federal excise tax purposes this equates to approximately $1,650 per year. 

For state tax purposes this equates to about $350.00 a year. The Department has now applied for a tax-exempt 

qualifying status with their fuel purchaser Upon approval in that program, the department will no longer pay 

federal excise tax on diesel or gasoline for qualified apparatus. Additionally, an analysis of fuel usage and 



26 

potential for refund of excise taxes paid on fuel for the three previous years and all years going forward is being 

pursued by the Department for State fuel excise taxes. Currently, these benefits should equate to approximately 

$2,000 per year.   

EMS BILLING RATES 

Richburg Fire and EMS Ambulance User Fees (patient billing) are in place for the purpose of recouping costs. 

User Fees are set by the Department and based on federally established Medicare rates. EMS ambulance billing 

is determined by the service provided.  

Everyone transported to an Emergency Department (ED) receives at least BLS care. Some patients receive ALS 

I or ALS II care. Not all patients we see are transported to an ED. Some patients who are not transported may 

still receive BLS, ALS I, or ALS II level care. No Transport fees may be charged when BLS or ALS procedures 

are performed. ALS No Transport is a single rate, regardless of whether multiple ALS procedures are performed. 

Per Medicare standards, Richburg Fire and EMS does not itemize bills, but instead uses the Medicare flat rate 

structure. 

PROPOSED 2022 RATE CHART – TRANSPORTED TO EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 

SERVICE TYPE FEE LOADED MILES 

NO TRANSPORT $75 Not applicable 

BLS $447.17 + $10.00/mile

ALS I (SINGLE ALS) $476.16 + $10.00/mile

ALS II (MULTIPLE ALS) $689.17 + $10.00/mile

The following terms are used to describe service types: 

 Basic Life Support (BLS) – Medical evaluation, vital signs, bandaging, splinting, oxygen, etc.

 Advanced Life Support (ALS) – Medications, IVs, advanced airway procedures, heart monitoring, 12-lead

EKGs, heart pacing, etc.

 ALS I – ALS procedure

 ALS II – Multiple ALS procedures

 Loaded Miles – Distance of transport with patient on board



27 

STRATEGIC GOALS

Through the development of this Strategic Plan, we have created 5 Strategic Goals designed to address key 

issues identified during the strategic planning process and 37 Action Items that provide a method for achieving 

those goals.  

Goal 1 – Maintain Highly Skilled, Accountable and Resilient Workforce  

Firefighter safety, survivability and health are imperative for the Richburg Fire Department. The ability to 

protect human lives is greatly impacted by the knowledge, skills and training of our personnel. A well-

rounded and educated workforce is essential to Richburg Fire Department’s ability to perform. Richburg 

Fire Department also makes every effort to maintain and improve quality, value, efficiency and 

timeliness of services delivered while also planning for challenges including changes in population, 

demographics and budgetary constraints. This strategic goal will ensure that personnel are prepared to 

take on leadership positions, have a variety of technical and non-technical training, promote teamwork 

and enhance morale. This goal also emphasizes Richburg Fire Department’s commitment for 

continuous improvement through its management of priorities and objectives, and its evaluation of 

services, programs and projects.  

Goal 2 – Well-maintained equipment and apparatus 

Well-maintained equipment and apparatus are important for the Richburg Fire Department to continue 

providing high quality emergency response, well-trained employees, and a safe and healthy 

environment. This goal reinforces the importance of optimal maintenance, cleaning and routine 

performance checks.  

Goal 3 – Focus on facilities management  

Well-maintained and up-to-date facilities are important for the Richburg Fire Department to continue 

providing high quality and quick emergency response, well-trained employees, and a safe and healthy 

environment. This goal reinforces the importance of optimal use of physical and financial resources.  

Goal 4 – Fiduciary Stewards of our resources 

As a receiver of taxpayer funding, it is imperative that the Richburg Fire Department maintain the highest 

fiduciary care of resources provided. The department should make all financial decisions with the public 

in mind. Extreme care is taken in managing incoming and outgoing monies. The trust of the public is the 

basis of our operations.  



28 

Goal 5 – Promote Community Relations and Engagement  

The Richburg Fire Department is committed to maintaining its high value and support within the 

community. This goal will address the desire for increased opportunities to engage with the community 

and raise public awareness of available fire safety and prevention programs, services and special 

projects. Communication and engagement are essential to providing the best services to the residents of 

Richburg and surrounding communities.  



29 

CONCLUSION 
Strategic planning is an ongoing process that continues long after the information gathering 

phase and finalization of this document. This Strategic Plan has created a framework that will 

guide Richburg Fire Protection District policies and operations for the next five years and help 

ensure that the department continues to provide high quality and reliable service to the 

community while at the same time ensuring the effective use of District and County resources 

and funds. 

“The fire service has become too complex to proceed 

without a comprehensive Strategic Plan in place.  This 

plan is critical to the long-term success of the Richburg 

Fire Department and Chester County as a whole.”

Chief John Agee (retired) 



30 

Action Items
FOCUS #1 – PERSONNEL 

Action Items Lead Responsibility Timeframe Priority 

1.1 

Develop organizational structure that fits with the 

mission/vision of the department and implement 

such structure. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 Med 

1.2 

Create personnel committee to develop schedules, 

duties and responsibilities of full-time and volunteer 

professionals. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2023 Med 

1.3 
Provide quality first responders to public ahead of 

NFPA 1710 Standards 
All personnel Immediate High 

1.4 

Meet or exceed NFPA 1710 standards for response 

times.   See attached schedule for potential 

improvement measures. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2024 High 

1.5 

In support of 1.4 (above), increase paid personnel to 

cover permanent 24/48 shift 24/7.   1 person per shift. 

$42k/year 

Anticipated Funding Needs:  

Estimated Annual Cost = $168,000 (9.2 mills) 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 High 

1.6 

In support of 1.4 (above), increase full time personnel 

for ambulance service to two Firefighter/EMTs during 

peak hours of Monday – Friday (8am-5pm). 

Anticipated Funding Needs: 

Estimated Annual Cost = $52,000  (3.0 mills) 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 High 

1.7 

In support of 1.4 (above), increase paid personnel to 

cover permanent 24/48 shift 24/7.  To 2 people per 

shift. $15 

Anticipated Funding Needs:  

Estimated Annual Cost = $170,000   (9.2 mills) 

Chief Melton July 1, 2023 High 

1.8 

In support of 1.4 (above), increase paid personnel to 

cover permanent 24/48 shift 24/7.  To 3 people per 

shift. $15 

Anticipated Funding Needs: 

Chief Melton July 1, 2024 High 



31 

Estimated Annual Cost = $175,000   (9.4 mills) 

1.9 

Work closely with Fort Lawn Fire Department for 

mutual aid purposes as both districts grow and 

require more apparatus and personnel. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton Immediate Med 

1.10 

Create and maintain a revised yearly 

Training Calendar to be all inclusive and 

relevant. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Assistant Chief July 1, 2022 Med 

1.11 

Implement a recognition program with celebratory 

dinner or other recognition at completion of 

designated training milestones. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Personnel Committee Immediate High 

1.12 

Implement a “priority” schedule for volunteers to 

remain in area during certain time periods to allow 

other volunteers the freedom to leave the area 

without fear of abandonment. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Assistant Chief July 1, 2022 High 

1.13 

Hire part-time administrative person to complete 

required paperwork and reporting requirements.  

Anticipated Funding Needs:  

Estimated Annual Cost = $15,000   (0.9 mills) 

Chief Melton July 1, 2023 Low 

1.14 

Work with Sheriff/Law Enforcement to cross-train 

personnel on use of fire equipment/apparatus. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2023 Med 

1.15 

Implement a documented post-mortem critique 

program for significant calls. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Personnel Committee Immediate Med 



32 

FOCUS #2 – EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 

Action Items Lead Responsibility Timeframe Priority 

2.1 

Create Equipment & Apparatus Committee that will 

continuously evaluate equipment and apparatus 

needs and provide reports to Chief of Department. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 Med 

2.2 
Plan for replacement of Tower 841 by 2030. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $1,400,000. 

Equipment & 

Apparatus Committee 
July 1, 2025 Low 

2.3 
Plan for replacement of 1987 Engine by 2027. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $650,000. 

Equipment & 

Apparatus Committee 
July 1, 2023 Med 

2.4 
Develop plan for SCBA replacements by 2028. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $35,000. 

Equipment & 

Apparatus Committee 
July 1, 2024 Low 

FOCUS #3 – FACILITIES 

Action Items Lead Responsibility Timeframe Priority 

3.1 

Create facilities committee with charge to maintain 

Fire District Facilities. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 Low 

3.2 

Complete build out of upstairs “living quarters” in 

main station to accommodate 24-hour personnel. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $5,000. 

Facility Committee July 1, 2022 High 

3.3 

Covert office area of substation into “living quarters” 

to accommodate 24-hour personnel. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $5,000. 

Facility Committee July 1, 2024 Med 

3.4 

Investigate need for, plan for acquiring and 

placement of 2nd substation within the district (if 

needed). 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2026 Low 

FOCUS #4 – FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Action Items Lead Responsibility Timeframe Priority 

4.1 

Maintain clean financial audits for all periods.  Provide 

public with copy of audit results annually. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

John Agee Immediate High 



33 

absorbed within existing budget. 

4.2 

Investigate possibility of refinancing USDA Loans to 

current Interest Rates.  Either conventional or through 

USDA repricing. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

John Agee July 1, 2022 High 

4.3 

Work with QT Corporation to qualify as exempt 

organization for purposes of fuel excise tax (federal 

and state). 

Anticipated Funding Needs: NONE – revenue raiser. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 High 

4.4 

File for refund of SC State Excise Taxes 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

John Agee July 1, 2022 High 

4.5 

Update fees for ambulance service to mirror 

Medicare reimbursement tables provided by federal 

government.  Update table annually as published by 

federal government. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: NONE – revenue raiser. 

Chief Melton July 1, 2022 High 

4.6 

Aggressive grant campaign – including a fund setup 

for required matching contributions. Determine 

annual grants to consider.  Set aside “reserve fund” 

for matching needs. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Assistant Chief July 1, 2023 Med 

4.7 

Create Outreach Committee to target and solicit 

donations from Community. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Agee/ Chief Melton July 1, 2022 Med 

4.8 

Work more closely with the Gateway District to 

educate the Gateway leaders on the specific 

impacts proposed projects will have on the Fire 

District and determine ways to mitigate negative 

impacts. 

Agee/ Chief Melton Immediate High 

4.9 

Meet with leaders of local companies to implement 

matching gift contributions from employees.   

Consider time for potential matching contribution.  

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Outreach Committee July 1, 2022 Med 



34 

FOCUS #5 – COMMUNITY 

Action Items Lead Responsibility Timeframe Priority 

5.1 

Begin new working relationship with Town of Richburg. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton Immediate High 

5.2 

Make station(s) available for use for specific 

community events. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Asst Chief Immediate Low 

5.3 

Expand work with Chester County School System 

Xplorer® Program. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: $1,000, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Asst Chief July 1, 2022 Low 

5.4 

Work with Chester County School System on 

apprentice program to include training. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: Unknown, 

depends on needs. 

Asst Chief July 1, 2022 Med 

5.5 

Maintain/increase presence on Social Media 

Platforms for community knowledge and recruiting 

efforts.   This should be managed by a designated PIO 

Officer. 

Anticipated Funding Needs: minimal, 

absorbed within existing budget. 

Chief Melton Immediate Low 



35 

sean.nelson@emc2partners.com 

emc2partners.com 

Prepared for The Richburg Fire Department 

2022-2027 
Strategic Plan 



36 

Works Cited  

Bryson, J.M. (2011). Strategic Planning for Public and Nonprofit Organizations (4th Ed). San Francisco: Josey-

Bass 

Collins, J. (2009). Good to Great and the Social Sectors. Boulder: Jim Collins. 

Federal Benchmarking Consortium. (1997, February). Serving the American Public: Best practices in Customer-

Driven Strategic Planning. Retrieved October 2018. 

UL Converts Exclusive Fire Research into Online Training to Help Educate and Safeguard Fire Service 

Personnel”; 2012; UL.  



Application for Chester County Boards, Commissions and Councils 

Chester County Council selects citizens for service on Council Appointed Boards and Commissions
from individuals who have either volunteered, been recommended for appointment or shown interest in being 
appointed. The Clerk to Council uses this form to update the roster of volunteers and give Council basic information
about each volunteer.

Date: ?}- �- ¢-)-
0oard or Commission Appointment being sought: Gateway Steering Committee

Name: R. Alex Oliphant

Street Address: 197 Columbia Street, Chester, SC 2970�

Occupation: Warehousing

Mailing Address: (if different from above) _P_O_B_o_x_S_1_9
....:.
,_c_h_e_s_te_r

.:...
, _s_c_2_9_7_0_6 ___________ _

Telephone (Home), �-1--+---+--Cell: 

E-Mail:�

Date of Birth: lu I..:]_; .&sEX: M

If recommended by a Council Member, indicate name: ___________________ _

In which Council District do you reside? Please indicate (1-6) __ 6 ________________ _

Are you presently serving on a County Board or Commission? __ N_o __ If "yes" when does your term expire?
_)_)_ 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT· , ::...---+------_:__ ______ _J as a voting member of any 
Chester County board, commission r co qualify myself from voting on any issue(s) which may arise
and in which a conflict of interest exi s 
(Signaturel _________ ::,..,....+---1-----+--�=----------------
Board members shall serve at the wil I f the appointing Co1,.,..,,ni,H,,...
of the appointer. Please check the ap ropriate box below.

Uoards 
Accommodation Tax Board 
Board of Assessment of Appeals 

1 Cahnvh�1 Mental I -Jc�1lth Board 
1 1 Catawba Rcgioual Council Government
I· Catawba Rcgio11al Workforce Bo�rcJ 

( 'hc:;tc,· County Library 
lhv.cl Pittman Center
Solid Was1e Board 
Zoning Bo:ird of Appeals

Commissions/Committee 
0 Airport Commission 
lJ Chester County Parks & Recreation 
rJ Chester County Planning Commission 
[I Chester Rural Fire District Commission
i 1 .John Keziah Park Commission 

[J Lando Run1l Fire District Commission 

[I Fort LHwn Fire Protection Comrnissiou
LJ Olde English District Commission
D Richburg Fire District Commission 
0 Chester Metropolitan Dis1rict Commission 
® Gate·way Stce.-ing Committee 
U Ad Hoc Burnl House Cemetery Committee

Please Return to: Clerk to Council, P.O. Box 580, Chester SC 29706 or you may call at (803)-377-7852 or email to klee@cheslercounty.org


	1. 3-21-2022 Special Called  CCTC
	2. 1-20-2022 Special Called  CCTC  Minutes
	3. 1-4-2022 CTC minutes
	4. Road Dept Corrections
	5. Road Dept Reimbursement (2)
	6. 3-21-2022
	7. 3-7-2022 Council Minutes
	8. Proclamation for John Agee
	9. Proclamation for Aso
	10. 2022-5 Resolution To Gift Service Weapon to Shawn Campbell
	11. 2021-15 Approving Ordinance - Chester Co - Cheswick (FINAL) 3-7-2022
	12. 2022-3 Last Step Recycling Ordinance
	13. 2022-4 An Ordinance to Increase adoption Fees kl.
	14. EMA Request
	15. CCMA22-01 Alexander Ricks PPLC-Whitman and Thompson_Redacted
	16. Richburg Fire Protection District 2022-2027 Strategic Plan.DRAFT
	17. Alex Oliphant-Gateway Steering Committee_Redacted



